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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

 
ITEM 1. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - UNAUDITED

 
ATOSSA GENETICS INC.

(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE COMPANY)
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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  September 30,  December 31,  
  2013  2012  

  (Unaudited)  (Audited)  
Assets        

Current Assets        
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 7,693,561  $ 1,725,197  
Accounts receivable, net   299,338   141,665  
Prepaid expense   559,386   122,633  
Retainers (deposits)   43,160   -  

Total Current Assets   8,595,445   1,989,495  
        
Fixed Assets        

Furniture and equipment, net   443,272   159,967  
Total Fixed Assets   443,272   159,967  

        
Other Assets        

Security deposit   36,446   36,447  
Intangible assets, net   4,407,058   4,640,224  

Total Other Assets   4,443,504   4,676,671  
        

Total Assets  $ 13,482,221  $ 6,826,133  
        

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity        
        
Current Liabilities        

Accounts payable  $ 31,131  $ 68,217  
Accrued expenses   1,069,759   1,374,385  
Deferred rent   60,753   -  
Payroll liabilities   357,489   207,996  
Contingent liabilities   402,840   -  
Other current liabilities   20,300   -  

Total Current Liabilities   1,942,272   1,650,598  
        
Stockholders' Equity        
Preferred stock - $.001 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized, 0
    shares issued and outstanding   -   -  
Common stock - $.001 par value; 75,000,000 shares authorized, 17,444,824
    and 12,919,367 shares issued and outstanding   17,445   12,919  

Additional paid-in capital   29,281,396   14,894,522  
Accumulated deficit   (17,758,892)  (9,731,906) 
Total Stockholders' Equity   11,539,949   5,175,535  

        
Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity  $ 13,482,221  $ 6,826,133  



 
 

ATOSSA GENETICS INC.
(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE COMPANY)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(UNAUDITED)

 

 
  The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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For the Three Months Ended

September 30,  
For The Nine Months Ended

September 30,  

From April
30, 2009

(Inception)
Through

September 30,  
  2013  2012  2013  2012  2013  
                 
Revenue                 

Diagnostic testing service  $ 72,187  $ 104,011  $ 361,905  $ 376,696  $ 837,307  
Product sales   4,410   1,565   223,440   6,690   231,380  

Total Revenue   76,597   105,576   585,345   383,386   1,068,687  
                 
Cost of Revenue                 

Diagnostic testing service   25,938   9,000   75,893   29,985   111,638  
Product sales   -   -   238,669   -   243,833  

Total Cost of Revenue   25,938   9,000   314,562   29,985   355,471  
                 
Loss on reduction of inventory to LCM   -   6,077   -   29,884   121,910  
                 

Gross Profit   50,659   90,499   270,783   323,517   591,306  
                 

Selling expenses   373,418   87,704   965,383   281,971   1,605,259  
Research and development expenses   321,111   548,108   731,258   1,508,944   4,288,644  
General and administrative expenses   2,858,027   590,359   6,600,819   1,896,254   12,423,155  

Total operating expenses   3,552,556   1,226,171   8,297,460   3,687,169   18,317,058  
                 
Operating Loss   (3,501,897)  (1,135,672)  (8,026,677)  (3,363,652)  (17,725,752) 
                 
Interest income   53   46   53   1,219   6,641  
Interest expense   1   7,756   360   11,816   39,531  
                 
Net Loss before Income Taxes   (3,501,845)  (1,143,382)  (8,026,984)  (3,374,249)  (17,758,642) 
                 
Income Taxes   -   -   -   -   250  
                 
Net Loss  $ (3,501,845) $ (1,143,382) $ (8,026,984) $ (3,374,249) $ (17,758,892) 
                 
Loss per common share - basic and diluted  $ (0.22) $ (0.10) $ (0.55) $ (0.30) $ (1.95) 
Weighted average shares outstanding, basic & diluted   15,830,033   11,256,867   14,697,221   11,256,867   9,127,656  



 
ATOSSA GENETICS INC.

(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE COMPANY)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(UNAUDITED)
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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For the Nine Months 
Ended   

September 30,
 

For The Period
From April 30,

2009 (Inception) to
 

  2013  2012  September 
30, 2013  

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES           
Net loss  $ (8,026,984) $ (3,374,249) $ (17,758,892) 
Common shares issued for services   144,391   -   215,392  
Compensation cost for stock options granted   1,187,717   96,251   1,479,981  
Loss on reduction of inventory to LCM   -   29,884   121,910  
Loan initiation fee accrued for notes payable   -   -   2,000  
Depreciation and amortization   350,536   25,586   496,711  
Contingent loss   402,840   -   402,840  
Bad debt expense   228,841   -   228,841  
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:           

Increase in accounts receivable   (386,514)  (174,183)  (528,179) 
Increase in inventory   -   (29,884)  (121,910) 
Decrease (Increase) in prepaid expenses   71,439   (8,791)  (51,194) 
Increase in security deposits   (43,160)  (30,589)  (79,608) 
Decrease (Increase) in accounts payable   (37,086)  7,335   31,131  
Decrease in accrued payroll   149,493   -   149,493  
Increase in deferred rent   60,753   -   60,753  
Decrease (Increase) in accrued expenses   (304,626)  1,491,014   1,322,756  
Increase in other current liabilities   20,300   -   20,300  

Net cash used in operating activities   (6,182,060)  (1,967,626)  (14,007,675) 
           
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES           

Purchase of furniture & fixtures   (346,007)  -   (537,054) 
Purchase of software   (54,667)  -   (135,133) 

Net cash used in investing activities   (400,674)  -   (672,187) 
           
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES           

Net proceeds from issuance of common stocks and warrants   12,551,098   400,000   22,375,423  
Repayments of bank line of credit   -   (750,000)  -  
Proceeds from (repayments of) loans from related parties   -   75,375   (2,000) 
Cash released from commercial line of credit   -   750,000   -  

Net cash provided by financing activities   12,551,098   475,375   22,373,423  
           
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH & CASH EQUIVALENTS   5,968,364   (1,492,251)  7,693,561  
CASH & CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING BALANCE   1,725,197   1,910,821   -  
CASH & CASH EQUIVALENTS, ENDING BALANCE  $ 7,693,561  $ 418,570  $ 7,693,561  
           
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES:           

Interest paid  $ 359  $ 13,892  $ 33,067  
Income taxes paid  $ -  $ -  $ 250  

NONCASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:           
Common stock and warrants issued for asset purchase  $ -  $ 4,674,853  $ 4,674,853  
Options issued for previously accrued director compensation  $ -  $ 45,000  $ 45,000  
Commitment shares distributed for capital contribution  $ 2,387,250  $ -  $ 2,387,250  
Amortization of commitment shares issued for distributed shares  $ 1,879,058  $ -  $ 1,879,058  



 
 

ATOSSA GENETICS INC.
(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE COMPANY)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(UNAUDITED)

 
NOTE 1: NATURE OF OPERATIONS
 
The Company’s operations began in December 2008 with the negotiations for the acquisition of the Mammary Aspirate Specimen Cytology Test

System, or the MASCT System, patent rights and assignments and the FDA clearances for marketing, which acquisition was completed in January 2009.
Atossa Genetics Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated on April 30, 2009 in the State of Delaware. The Company was formed to develop and market the
MASCT System, which was cleared by the FDA in 2003 as a medical device that is intended for use in the collection of nipple aspirate fluid for laboratory
cytological testing.  The Company’s fiscal year ends on December 31st.

 
In December 2011, the Company established the National Reference Laboratory for Breast Health, or NRLBH, as a wholly-owned subsidiary.

NRLBH is the Company’s CLIA-certified laboratory where the ForeCYTE and ArgusCYTE test specimens are examined by cytopathology. 
 
In September 2012, the Company acquired the assets of Acueity Healthcare, Inc. (“Acueity”). The purchased assets included 35 issued patents (18

issued in the U.S. and 17 issued in foreign countries) and 41 patent applications (32 in the U.S. and 9 in foreign countries), six 510(k) FDA marketing
authorizations related to the manufacturing, use, and sale of the Viaduct Miniscope and accessories, the Manoa Breast Biopsy system, the Excisor Bioptome,
the Acueity Medical Light Source, the Viaduct Microendoscope and accessories, and cash in the amount of $400,000. The microendoscopes are less than 0.9
mm outside diameter and can be inserted into a milk duct. This permits a physician to pass a microendoscope into the milk duct system of the breast and view
the duct system via fiberoptic video images. Abnormalities that are visualized can then be biopsied from inside the duct with the biopsy tools that are inserted
adjacent to the microendoscope. The patents relate to intraductal diagnostic and therapeutic devices and methods of use. The Company did not, however,
acquire an inventory of these diagnostic tools, manufacturing capabilities or any personnel to market and sell the tools. The Company cannot provide any
assurance that it will be successful commercializing these tools.

 
On October 4, 2013 the Company commenced the voluntary recall of the ForeCYTE Breast Health Test (also known as the MASCT System or

ForeCYTE Test).  As a result of this recall, this product is currently not being marketed or distributed in the U.S.  The Company intends to obtain an
additional FDA 510(k) clearance from the FDA for the ForeCYTE Test and to re-launch the test upon receiving regulatory clearance.

 
Development Stage Risk
 
From April 30, 2009 (inception) through September 30, 2013, the Company earned $1,068,687 in revenue from the sale of its products and

laboratory services. The Company’s activities have been accounted for as those of a “Development Stage Enterprise” as set forth in Accounting Standards
Codification (“ASC”) 915 “Development Stage Entities”, which was previously Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 7 (“SFAS 7”). Among the
disclosures required by ASC 915 are that the Company’s financial statements be identified as those of a development stage company, and that the statements
of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows disclose activity since the date of the Company’s inception.

 
Since its inception, the Company has been dependent upon the receipt of capital investment to fund its continuing activities. In addition to the normal

risks associated with a new business venture, there can be no assurance that the Company’s business plan will be successfully executed. The Company’s
ability to execute its business plan will depend on its ability to obtain additional financing and achieve a profitable level of operations. There can be no
assurance that sufficient financing will be obtained. Further, the Company cannot give any assurance that it will generate substantial revenue or that its
business operations will prove to be profitable.
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NOTE 2: GOING CONCERN
 
The Company’s consolidated financial statements are prepared using generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America

applicable to a going concern, which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. The Company
has not yet established an ongoing source of revenue sufficient to cover its operating costs and allow it to continue as a going concern. The ability of the
Company to continue as a going concern is dependent on the Company obtaining adequate capital to fund operating losses until it becomes profitable. If the
Company is unable to obtain adequate capital, it could be forced to cease operations. The accompanying consolidated financial statements do not include any
adjustments that might be necessary if the Company is unable to continue as a going concern.

 
Management’s Plan to Continue as a Going Concern
 
In order to continue as a going concern, the Company will need, among other things, additional capital resources. Management’s plans to obtain such

resources for the Company include (1) obtaining capital from the sale of its equity securities, (2) sales of the ForeCYTE System and laboratory service
revenue (once cleared by the FDA and re-launched), and (3) short-term or long-term borrowings from banks, stockholders or other party(ies) when needed.
However, management cannot provide any assurance that the Company will be successful in accomplishing any of its plans.

 
The ability of the Company to continue as a going concern is dependent upon its ability to successfully accomplish the plans described in the

preceding paragraph and eventually to secure other sources of financing and attain profitable operations.

NOTE 3: SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 
Basis of Presentation:
 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Atossa Genetics Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiary

NRLBH. All significant intercompany account balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. These consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

 
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements:
 
The Company has adopted all recently issued accounting pronouncements that management believes to be applicable to the Company. The adoption

of these accounting pronouncements, including those not yet effective, is not anticipated to have a material effect on the financial position or results of
operations of the Company.

 
Revenue Recognition:
 
Overview
 
The Company recognizes product and service revenue in accordance with GAAP when the following overall fundamental criteria are met: (i)

persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, (ii) delivery has occurred or the service has been performed, (iii) the Company’s price to the customer is fixed
or determinable and (iv) collection of the resulting accounts receivable is reasonably assured.

 
Product Revenue
 
The Company recognizes revenue for sales of the MASCT kits and devices on an accrual basis for sales to distributors when the above four criteria

are met. For sales of MASCT kits and devices directly to physicians, the revenue is typically recognized upon receipt of cash as the Company has an
insufficient sales history on which to determine the collectability. Shipping documents and the completion of any customer acceptance requirements, when
applicable, will be used to verify product delivery. The Company will assess whether a price is fixed or determinable based upon the payment terms
associated with the transaction and whether the sales price is subject to refund or adjustment. For sales directly to physicians, once a history of sales and
collectability has been established, the Company will recognize revenue on an accrual basis with an offsetting reserve for doubtful accounts based on the
history during the initial sales period.
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Service Revenue
 
The Company records revenue for diagnostic testing on an accrual basis at the Medicare allowed and invoiced amount. Amounts invoiced above the

Medicare amount, namely non-Medicare, are not recognized on an accrual basis and instead are recognized on a cash basis as received. Diagnostic testing
revenue at the Medicare rate is recognized upon completion of the test, communication of results to the patient’s physician, and when collectability is
reasonably assured. Customer purchase orders and/or contracts will generally be used to determine the existence of an arrangement. Once the Company has
historical sales and can determine the proper amount to recognize as uncollectible, it will then begin to recognize the entire amount, both Medicare and non-
Medicare billing on an accrual basis, with an offsetting allowance for doubtful accounts recorded based on history. The Company estimates it will utilize the
diagnostic testing revenue history to determine a proper allowance for doubtful accounts beginning in 2014.

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents:
 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash and all highly liquid instruments with original maturities of three months or less.
 
Use of Estimates:
 
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America

requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Accordingly,
actual results could differ from those estimates.

 
Accounts Receivable:
 
Accounts receivable are recorded at net realizable value consisting of the carrying amount less allowance for doubtful accounts, as needed. The

Company assesses the collectability of accounts receivable based primarily upon the creditworthiness of the customer as determined by credit checks and
analysis, as well as the customer’s payment history. Management reviews the composition of accounts receivable and analyzes historical bad debts, customer
concentrations, customer credit worthiness, current economic trends, and changes in customer payment patterns to evaluate the adequacy of these reserves.
The Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts and bad debt expenses as of September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012 was $228,841 and $0,
respectively.    

 
Inventories:
 
The Company’s inventories are stated at lower of cost or market. Cost is determined on a moving-average basis. Costs of inventories include

purchase and related costs incurred in delivering the products to their present location and condition. Market value is determined by reference to selling prices
after the balance sheet date or to management’s estimates based on prevailing market conditions. Inherent in the lower of cost or market calculation are
several significant judgments based on a review of the aging of the inventory, inventory movement of products, economic conditions, and replacement costs.
Because the sales price of the MASCT System was substantially lower than its cost for the period ended September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012,
resulting in the net realizable value of the MASCT System being determined at zero as of September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, through taking the
average sales price subtracted by selling expenses per unit. The Company assessed and recorded $0 and $29,884 loss on reduction of inventory to the lower of
cost or market for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and for the year ended December 31, 2012, respectively. Additionally, management periodically
evaluates the composition of its inventories at least quarterly to identify slow-moving and obsolete inventories to determine if any valuation allowance is
required. As of September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, management had identified no slow moving or obsolete inventory. The Company outsources
product manufacturing to outside manufacturer contactors.  The ownership of the goods transfers from the manufacturer to the Company’s customer at the
time the products are shipped to the customers. As of September 30, 2013, there are no inventories on our books.
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The Company provides, either directly or through distributors, the ForeCYTE testing specimen collection kits to doctors with our MASCT System

for doctors to collect specimens that are returned to the NRLBH for diagnostic analysis. These collection kits are considered part of the MASCT System. The
Company’s direct sales personnel distributes the kits directly to physicians free of charge, or by offering a rebate to physicians. The Company has not
intended to deem the kits as a primary product line due to their nominal cost and value per unit. As a result, the kits are immediately expensed and recorded as
selling expense upon purchasing of the kits. 

 
Property, plant, and equipment:
 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to earnings as

incurred; additions, renewals and betterments are capitalized. When property, plant and equipment are retired or otherwise disposed of, the related cost and
accumulated depreciation are removed from the respective accounts, and any gain or loss is included in operations.

 
Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:
 

 
Intangible assets:
 
Intangible assets consist of intellectual property and software acquired in the Acueity asset purchase. At least annually, we evaluate purchased

intangibles for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss would be recognized when estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition are less than
its carrying amount. Estimating future cash flows related to an intangible asset involves significant estimates and assumptions. If our assumptions are not
correct, there could be an impairment loss or, in the case of a change in the estimated useful life of the asset, a change in amortization expense. There was no
impairment of intangible assets as of and for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and year ended December 31, 2012, respectively.

 
Amortization is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:
 

 
Research and Development Expenses:
 
Research and development costs are generally expensed as incurred. The Company’s research and development expenses consist of costs incurred

for internal and external research and development.
 
Share-Based Payments:
 
In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or the FASB, issued the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, or SFAS, No.

123(R), “Share-Based Payment”, which replaces SFAS No. 123 and supersedes APB Opinion No. 25. SFAS No. 123(R) is now included in the FASB’s ASC
Topic 718, “Compensation – Stock Compensation.” Under SFAS No. 123(R), companies are required to measure the compensation costs of share-based
compensation arrangements based on the grant-date fair value and recognize the costs in the financial statements over the period during which employees or
independent contractors are required to provide services. Share-based compensation arrangements include stock options and warrants, restricted share plans,
performance-based awards, share appreciation rights and employee share purchase plans. In March 2005, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107,
or SAB 107, which expresses views of the staff regarding the interaction between SFAS No. 123(R) and certain SEC rules and regulations and provides the
staff’s views regarding the valuation of share-based payment arrangements for public companies. SFAS No. 123(R) permits public companies to adopt its
requirements using one of two methods. On April 14, 2005, the SEC adopted a new rule amending the compliance dates for SFAS No. 123(R). Companies
may elect to apply this statement either prospectively, or on a modified version of retrospective application under which financial statements for prior periods
are adjusted on a basis consistent with the pro forma disclosures required for those periods under SFAS No. 123.
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Useful Life
(in years)  

Machinery and equipment   5  
Leasehold improvements   2.083  

  
Useful Life
(in years)  

Patents   9-14  
Software   3  



     
The Company has fully adopted the provisions of FASB ASC 718 and related interpretations as provided by SAB 107. As such, compensation cost is

measured on the date of grant as the fair value of the share-based payments. Such compensation amounts, if any, are amortized over the respective vesting
periods of the option grant.

NOTE 4: PREPAID EXPENSES
 
Prepaid expenses consisted of the following:
 

NOTE 5: PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT
 
Property, plant and equipment consisted of the following:
  

 
Depreciation expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 was $62,849 and $12,970, respectively.

NOTE 6: INTANGIBLE ASSETS
 
Intangible assets consisted of the following:
 

  
Intangible assets amounted to $4,407,058 and $4,640,224 as of September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively, and consisted of patents

and software acquired. The acquired software mainly consisted of $58,000 in laboratory software and $31,500 in the newly developed Company website. 
The amortization period for the purchased software is 3 years. Amortization expense related to software for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and
2012 was $15,322 and $12,616, respectively.
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September 30,

2013  
December 31,

2012  
Prepaid stock purchase agreement service fee  $ 508,442  $ -  
Prepaid insurance   27,445   62,551  
Prepaid hardware/software maintenance and support service fee   23,499   20,000  
Prepaid payroll taxes   -   40,082  
  $ 559,386  $ 122,633  

  September 30, 
2013  December 31, 

2012  

Machinery and equipment  $ 269,771  $ 97,383  
Leasehold improvements   93,665   93,665  
Capitalized new product development costs   173,766   -  
Less: Accumulated depreciation   (93,930)  (31,081) 
Property, plant, and equipment, net  $ 443,272  $ 159,967  

  September 30,  December 31,  
  2013  2012  
Patents  $ 4,704,853  $ 4,704,853  
Software   105,133   50,466  
Less: Accumulated amortization   (402,928)  (115,095) 
  $ 4,407,058  $ 4,640,224  



  
Patents amounted to $4,704,853 and $4,704,853 as of September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively, and mainly consisted of patents

acquired from Acueity on September 30, 2012 in an asset purchase transaction (see Note 13). Patent assets are amortized based on their determined useful
life, and tested annually for impairment. The amortization period was from 9 to 14 years. Amortization expense related to patents was $272,511 and $0 for the
nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

 
Future estimated amortization expenses as of September 30, 2013 for the five succeeding years is as follows:
  

NOTE 7: PAYROLL LIABILITIES:
 
Payroll liabilities consisted of the following:
 

NOTE 8: STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
 
The Company is authorized to issue a total of 85,000,000 shares of stock consisting of 75,000,000 shares of Common Stock, par value $0.001 per

share, and 10,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share.
 
Reverse Stock-Split
 
On September 28, 2010, the Board of Directors approved a 1-for-2.26332 reverse share split for all issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock,

with no change to the par value of the Common Stock.
 
Prior Issuances of Common Stock at Inception
 
On April 30, 2009 (inception), the Company issued 1,767,316 shares (or 4,000,000 shares prior to the reverse stock-split on September 28, 2010) to

Ensisheim Partners LLC, a related party to the Company through common ownership, for cash in the amount of $24,000, or $0.014 per share (or $0.006 per
share prior to the reverse stock-split on September 28, 2010); 1,325,487 shares (or 3,000,000 shares prior to the reverse stock-split on September 28, 2010) to
Manistee Ventures LLC, a related party to the Company through common ownership, for cash in the amount of $18,000, or $0.014 per share (or $0.006 per
share prior to the reverse stock-split on September 28, 2010); and 883,662 shares (or 2,000,000 shares prior to the reverse stock-split on September 28, 2010)
to the Chairman, CEO and President of the Company at that time for cash in the amount of $12,000, or $0.014 per share (or $0.006 per share prior to the
reverse stock-split on September 28, 2010). 

 
Private Placements and Warrants
 
On April 28, May 31, June 10, and June 23, 2011, pursuant to Securities Purchase Agreements with various investors (the “Investors”), the Company

issued 5,256,800 shares of the Company’s common stock and 5,256,800 warrants (the “Investor Warrants”), each of which entitles the investors to purchase
the Company’s common stock, exercisable for 1.60 per share, for aggregate gross proceeds of $6,571,000 (the “Private Placement”).
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As of September 30,  Amounts  
2014  $ 393,073  
2015   381,331  
2016   378,781  
2017   363,902  
2018   363,028  
Thereafter   2,526,943  
  $ 4,407,058  

  September 30, 
2013  December 31,

2012  

Accrued bonus payable  $ 297,290  $ 189,131  
Accrued payroll liabilities   40,318   -  
Accrued payroll tax liabilities   19,881   18,865  
  $ 357,489  $ 207,996  



  
Placement Agent Fees
 
In connection with the Private Placement, the Company paid Dawson James Securities, Inc. (the “Placement Agent”), a cash fee equal to 10% of the

gross proceeds from sale of the common stocks and warrants, plus a 3% non-accountable expense allowance, which resulted in a payment to the Placement
Agent of an aggregate of $857,230 (the “Placement Agent Fee”). In addition, the Company entered into Warrant Agreements with the Placement Agent
pursuant to which the Placement Agent received 788,520 warrants, each of which entitles the Placement Agent to purchase one share of the Company’s
common stock at $1.60 per share, plus an additional 788,520 warrants (collectively with the warrants exercisable at $1.25 per share, the “Placement Agent
Warrants”), each of which entitles the placement agent to purchase the Company’s common stock at $1.25 per share. The cash payment of the $857,230
Placement Agent Fee and the $495,876 aggregated initial fair value of the Placement Agent Warrants (see Fair Value Considerations below) were directly
attributable to an actual offering and were charged through additional paid-in capital in accordance with the SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) Topic 5A.

 
Warrants
 
The Warrants, including the Investor Warrants and the Placement Agent Warrants, are exercisable at any time commencing after June 23, 2011 which

is the date that the Company completed a “significant private financing” under the terms of the Warrants (the “Initial Exercise Date”). The Warrants shall
expire and no longer be exercisable on the fifth anniversary of the Initial Exercise Date (the “Expiration Date”). The Warrants may be exercised for cash or, at
the option of the holder, may be exercised on a cashless basis; however if a registration statement is in effect for the resale of the common stock issuable upon
exercise of the Warrants then the Warrants cannot be exercised on a cashless basis. As of September 30, 2013 such a registration statement was in effect and,
therefore, the Warrants cannot be exercised on a cashless basis.

 
As of September 30, 2013, 4,775,550 warrants are outstanding including 325,000 warrants issued in the Acueity transation described below and

substantially all of the Placement Agents Warrants have been exercised. There are no redemption features embodied in the Warrants and they have met the
conditions provided in current accounting standards for equity classification.
  

Fair Value Considerations
 
The Company’s accounting for the issuance of warrants to the Investors and the Placement Agent required the estimation of fair values of the

financial instruments. The development of fair values of financial instruments requires the selection of appropriate methodologies and the estimation of often
subjective assumptions. The Company selected the valuation techniques based upon consideration of the types of assumptions that market participants would
likely consider in exchanging the financial instruments in market transactions. The warrants were valued using a Black-Scholes-Merton Valuation Technique
because it embodies all of the requisite assumptions (including trading volatility, estimated terms and risk free rates) necessary to fair value these instruments.

 
The Investor Warrants and the Placement Agent Warrants were initially valued at $1,808,025 or $0.344 per warrant, $228,712 or $0.290 per warrant,

and $267,164 or $0.339 per warrant, respectively. The following tables reflect assumptions used to determine the fair value of the Warrants:
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 Fair  April-June2011  December 2011  

 

Value
Hierarchy 

Level
 

Investor Warrants  
Placement Agent 

Warrants  

Placement 
Agent

Warrants  
             
Indexed shares     5,256,800   788,520   788,520  
Exercise price    $ 1.60  $ 1.60  $ 1.25  
             
Significant assumptions:             
Stock price  3  $ 0.906  $ 0.906  $ 0.906  
Remaining term  3   6 years  6 years  6 years 
Risk free rate  2   2.49 % 1.12 % 1.12 %
Expected volatility  3   53.55 % 54.21 % 54.21 %



  
Fair value hierarchy of the above assumptions can be categorized as follows:
 

 (1) There were no Level 1 inputs.
 

 (2) Level 2 inputs include:
 

Risk-free rate- The risk-free rate of return reflects the interest rate for United States Treasury Note with similar time-to-maturity to that of
the warrants.
 

 (3) Level 3 inputs include:
 

Stock price- The Company’s common stock was not publicly traded at the time the Warrants were issued. Therefore, the stock price was
determined implicitly from an iterative process in order for the combined fair value of the common stock and the warrants to equal the amount of
proceeds received in the Private Placement, based upon the assumption that the Private Placement was the result of an arm’s length transaction.

 
Remaining term- The Company does not have a history to develop the expected term for its warrants. Accordingly, the Company expected

that the Initial Exercise Date would occur within one year from the date of issuance plus the contractual term in the calculations.
 
Expected volatility- We did not have a historical trading history sufficient to develop an internal volatility rate for use in the model. As a

result, as required by ASC 718-10-30, the Company has accounted for the warrants using the calculated value method. The Company identified
seven public entities in the similar industry for which share price information was available, and considered the historical volatilities of those public
entities’ share prices in calculating the expected volatility appropriate to the Company.

 
Asset Purchase and Warrants
 
On September 30, 2012, pursuant to the asset purchase agreement with Acueity, the Company issued 862,500 shares of common stock and 325,000

warrants (“Acueity Warrants”) to the shareholders of Acueity, each of which entitles the recipients to subscribe for and purchase from the Company one share
of the Company’s common stock at $5.00 per share (the “Exercise Price”), subject to a six-month lock up agreement.

 
Warrants
 
The Acueity Warrants are exercisable at any time commencing after September 30, 2012 (the “Issuance Date”) and shall expire and no longer be

exercisable on the fifth anniversary of the Issuance Date (the “Expiration Date”). The Company may at any time during the term of the Acueity Warrants
reduce the then current Exercise Price to any amount and for any period of time deemed appropriate by the Board of Directors of the Company. The Acueity
Warrants do not have a cashless exercise provision. There are no redemption features embodied in the Acueity Warrants and they have met the conditions
provided in current accounting standards for equity classification.

 
Fair Value Considerations
 
The Company’s accounting for the issuance of the Acueity Warrants required the estimation of fair values of the financial instruments. The

development of fair values of financial instruments requires the selection of appropriate methodologies and the estimation of often subjective assumptions.
The Company selected the valuation techniques based upon consideration of the types of assumptions that market participants would likely consider in
exchanging the financial instruments in market transactions. The warrants were valued using a Black-Scholes-Merton Valuation Technique because it
embodies all of the requisite assumptions (including trading volatility, estimated terms and risk free rates) necessary to fair value these instruments.
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The Acueity Warrants were valued at $762,353 or $2.3457 per warrant. The following tables reflect assumptions used to determine the fair value of

the Warrants:
 

 
Fair value hierarchy of the above assumptions can be categorized as follows:
 

 (1) There were no Level 1 inputs.
 
 (2) Level 2 inputs include:
 

Risk-free rate- The risk-free rate of return reflects the interest rate for United States Treasury Note with similar time-to-maturity to that of
the warrants.

 
 (3) Level 3 inputs include:
    

Stock price- The Company’s common stock was not publicly traded at the time the Acueity Warrants were issued. Therefore, the stock price
was determined at the offering price of the then contemplated initial public offering, for which the registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-
179500) was subsequently declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 7, 2012, and a prospectus was subsequently
filed pursuant to Rule 424(b)(4) on November 9, 2012 (see Note 14).

 
Remaining term- The Company does not have a history to develop the expected term for its warrants. Accordingly, the Company expected

that the Initial Exercise Date would occur within one year from the date of issuance plus the contractual term in the calculations.
 
Expected volatility- We did not have a historical trading history sufficient to develop an internal volatility rate for use in the model. As a

result, as required by ASC 718-10-30, the Company has accounted for the warrants using the calculated value method. The Company identified
seven public entities in the similar industry for which share price information was available, and considered the historical volatilities of those public
entities’ share prices in calculating the expected volatility appropriate to the Company.

 
As of September 30, 2013, the Company has granted warrants to purchase 58,500 shares of common stock to the placement agent in connection with

the financing facility with Aspire Capital. The warrants are exercisable at $5.80 or $5.70 per share and expire in 2017. An expense of $72,549 has been
recognized during 2013 for issuance of these warrants. 
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Fair
Value

Hierarchy
 

September 2012  
 

  Level  Acueity Warrants   
         
Indexed shares      325,000   
Exercise price     $ 5.00   
         
Significant assumptions:         
Stock price   3  $ 5.00   
Remaining term   3   5 years  
Risk free rate   2   0.62 %  
Expected volatility   3   56.54 %  



  
On September 28, 2010, the Board of Directors approved the adoption of the 2010 Stock Option and Incentive Plan, or the 2010 Plan, subject to

stockholder approval, to provide for the grant of equity-based awards to employees, officers, non-employee directors and other key persons providing services
to the Company. Awards of incentive options may be granted under the 2010 Plan until September 2020. No other awards may be granted under the 2010 Plan
after the date that is 10 years from the date of stockholder approval. An aggregate of 1,000,000 shares (or 2,263,320 shares prior to the reverse stock-split on
September 28, 2010) were initially reserved for issuance in connection with awards granted under the 2010 Plan, such number of shares to be subject to
adjustment as provided in the plan and in any award agreements entered into by the Company under the plan, and upon the exercise or conversion of any
awards granted under the plan. On January 1, 2012, 450,275 shares were added to the 2010 Plan and on January 1, 2013, 500,000 shares were added to the
2010 Plan, as provided under the terms of the 2010 Plan.

 
The Company granted options to purchase 122,740 and 857,394 shares of common stock to employees during the three months and nine months

ended September 30, 2013, respectively.  The Company issued zero and 5,546 shares of common stocks in connection with the exercise of employee’s stock
options during the three months and nine months ended September 30, 2013.  As of September 30, 2013, there are 471,624 options available for grant under
the 2010 Plan.

NOTE 9: INCOME TAXES
 
The Company accounts for income taxes as outlined in ASC 740, “Income Taxes”, which was previously Statement of Financial Accounting

Standards No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes” (“SFAS 109”). Under the asset and liability method of SFAS 109, deferred income tax assets and
liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and
liabilities and are measured using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. A
valuation allowance is provided for the amount of deferred tax assets that, based on available evidence, are not expected to be realized.

 
As a result of the Company’s cumulative losses, management has concluded that a full valuation allowance against the Company’s net deferred tax

assets is appropriate. No income tax liabilities existed as of September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012 due to the Company’s continuing operating losses.

NOTE 10: CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK
 
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk consist principally of cash deposits. Accounts at each

institution are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) up to $250,000. At September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, the Company
had $7,443,561 and $1,475,197 in excess of the FDIC insured limit, respectively.

NOTE 11: COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
 
Lease Commitments
 
On September 29, 2010, the Company entered into a commercial lease agreement with CompleGen, Inc. for laboratory space located in Seattle, WA.

The lease provides for monthly rent of $3,658 and a security deposit of $3,658. The lease terms are from September 29, 2010 through March 31, 2011, at
which time the lease has converted to month to month unless two months’ prior written notice of the intent to terminate the agreement is given. The monthly
rent for the lease increased to $4,267 commencing January 2012. For the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company incurred $46,529 of rent expense for
the lease. The lease was terminated in December 2012, and the rental deposit was applied to the rent of the final month.

 
On March 4, 2011, the Company entered into a commercial lease agreement with Sanders Properties, LLC for office space located in Seattle, WA.

The lease provides for monthly rent of $1,100 and a security deposit of $1,500. The lease terms are from April 1, 2011 through March 31, 2014. For the nine
months ended September 30, 2013, the Company incurred $8,800 of rent expense for the lease.

 
On December 9, 2011, the Company entered into another commercial lease agreement with Fred Hutchinson Research Center for lab and office

space located in Seattle, WA. The lease provides for monthly rent of $16,395 for the period from February 24, 2012 to August 31, 2012, $19,923 for the
period from September 1, 2012 to August 31, 2013, and $20,548 for the period from September 1, 2013 to November 29, 2014. The security deposit of
$32,789 was paid in March 2012 and recorded as Security Deposit on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2012. For the nine months ended
September 30, 2013, the Company incurred $233,260 of rent expense for the lease, which included leasing office management expenses.
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                In July 2013, the Company entered into an agreement with ARE LLC (Alexandria) to lease additional office spaces in our existing

building under a separate lease agreement. The lease is from August 2013 through November 2014, and the gross rent is $ 4,800 per month.
 
The future minimum lease payments due subsequent to September 30, 2013 under all non-cancelable operating leases for the next five years are as

follows:
  

 
Affymetrix Purchase Commitment
 
In September 2013, the Company entered into an “Ownership Program Agreement” with Affymetrix, Inc, a manufacturer of GeneChip Systems,

where Affymetrix has agreed to loan a GeneChip System 3000Dx v.2 (“instrument”) to us if we purchase and take delivery of a minimum thirty GeneChip
Human Genme U133 Plus 2.0 (30-pack) arrays at $21,590 per 30 pack for the next three years for a total purchase obligation of $647,700 with a minimum
purchase of ten 30-pack arrays per contract year.  At the end of the three year contract, upon fulfillment of the purchase commitment, the instrument title and
ownership transfer to Atossa at no additional cost.   In addition to the GeneChip Human Genme, we must purchase a two year service contract for $51,600 to
cover maintenance of the instrument during the contract period.   We placed an initial order for four 30-pack arrays in September 2013 for $94,723.  We are
obligated to purchase 26 additional arrays during the next three year contract term.
 

Contingencies
 
On June 30, 2011, Robert Kelly, the Company’s former President, filed a counterclaim against the Company in an arbitration proceeding, alleging

breach of contract in connection with the termination of a consulting agreement between Mr. Kelly (dba Pitslayer LLC) and the Company that was entered
into in July 2010 in connection with his resignation from the Company as President and a director. The consulting agreement was terminated by the Company
in September 2010. Mr. Kelly seeks $450,000 in compensatory damages, which is the amount he claims would have been earned had the consulting
agreement been fulfilled to completion.

 
On December 11, 2012, Mr. Kelly filed a complaint in the United States District Court, Western Division of Washington seeking compensatory

damages, interest and attorneys’ fees related to the termination of Mr. Kelly’s consulting contract and the rescission of shares issued to him in July 2010 in
connection with his resignation from the Company as President and a director. The specific amount of damages sought is to be proven at trial and is not
specified. On July 8, 2013, the court granted the Company’s motion to compel arbitration of these claims and therefore this action was dismissed.

 
On February 26, 2013, Mr. Victor Cononi filed a complaint in the United States District Court, Western Division of Washington seeking

compensatory damages, interest and attorneys’ fees related to the rescission of shares issued to him in July 2010 in connection with Mr. Kelly’s resignation
from the Company as President and a director. The specific amount of damages sought is to be proven at trial and is not specified. In August 2013, the court
granted the Company’s motion to compel arbitration of these claims and therefore this action has  been dismissed.

 
A hearing in the arbitration has been postponed pending certain procedures in the above Western Division action and may be delayed further to

accommodate other third party civil and federal criminal proceedings alleging securities and wire fraud that have been brought against Mr. Kelly with respect
to his prior employment and predating his service with the Company.
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As of September 30,  Amount  
2014  $ 380,767  
2015   62,451  
2016   -  
2017   -  
2018   -  
Thereafter   -  
Total minimum lease payments  $ 443,218  



    
The Company is reasonably confident in its defenses to Mr. Kelly’s and Mr. Cononi’s claims. Consequently, no provision or liability has been

recorded for these claims as of September 30, 2013. However, it is at least reasonably possible that the Company’s estimate of liability may change in the near
term. Any payments by reason of an adverse determination in this matter will be charged to earnings in the period of determination.

 
On October 10, 2013, a putative securities class action complaint was filed in the United States District Court for the Western District of Washington

against us, certain of our directors and officers and the underwriters of our November 2012 initial public offering.  The complaint alleges that all defendants
violated Sections 11 and 12(a)(2), and that we and certain of our directors and officers violated Section 15, of the Securities Act by making false and
misleading statements and omissions in the offering’s registration statement, and that we and certain of our directors and officers violated Sections 10(b) and
20A of the Exchange Act and SEC Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder by making false and misleading statements and omissions in the registration statement
and in certain of our subsequent press releases and SEC filings with respect to our NAF specimen collection process, our ForeCYTE Breast Health Test and
our MASCT device.   This action seeks, on behalf of persons who purchased our common stock between November 8, 2012 and October 4, 2013, inclusive,
damages of an unspecific amount. We believe this complaint is without merit and plan to defend ourselves vigorously.   Failure by us to obtain a favorable
resolution of the claims set forth in the complaint could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. 
Currently, the amount of such material adverse effect cannot be reasonably estimated, and no provision or liability has been recorded for these claims as of
September 30, 2013.  The costs associated with defending and resolving the complaint and ultimate outcome cannot be predicted.  These matters are subject
to inherent uncertainties and the actual cost, as well as the distraction from the conduct of our business, will depend upon many unknown factors and
management’s view of these may change in the future.
 

FDA Warning Letter
 
On February 21, 2013, the Company received a Warning Letter (“Letter”) from the FDA regarding its Mammary Aspirate Specimen Cytology Test

(MASCT) System and MASCT System Collection Test (together, the “System”).  The Letter arises from certain FDA findings during a July 2012 inspection,
to which the Company responded in August 2012, explaining why the Company believed it was in compliance with applicable regulations and/or was
implementing changes responsive to the findings of the FDA inspection.  The FDA alleges in the Letter that following 510(k) clearance of the MASCT
System, the Company changed the System in a manner that requires submission of an additional 510(k) notification to the FDA. Specifically, the FDA stated
that the Instructions For Use (IFU) in the original 510(k) submission stated that the user must “Wash the collection membrane with fixative solution into the
collection vial…” while the current IFU states “…apply one spray of Saccomanno’s Fixative to the collection membrane…” and that “this change fixes the
NAF specimen to the filter paper rather than washing it into a collection vial.” At the time that the changes were made the Company determined and
documented that the change could not significantly affect the safety or effectiveness of the MASCT System, and thus, that a new 510(k) was not required in
accordance with the FDA’s guidance document entitled, “Deciding When to Submit a 510(k) for a Change to an Existing Device.” The Letter also identified
certain issues with respect to the Company’s marketing of the System and the Company’s compliance with FDA Good Manufacturing Practices (cGMP)
regulations, among other matters. The Company responded to the Letter on March 13, 2013, and identified the corrective actions that had been made, or were
otherwise underway The Company also filed a new 510(k) application for the MASCT System which was withdrawn in August 2013 after receiving feedback
from the FDA.

 
On October 4, 2013, the Company initiated a voluntary recall of the system to address FDA’s concerns regarding the modifications identified in the

Letter. As a result of this recall, this product is currently not being marketed or distributed in the U.S.  The Company plans to prepare a new premarket
notification or 510(k) application for submission to the FDA that covers the collection, preparation, and processing of NAF specimens at our laboratory and
includes the spray method of fixing specimens to the collection membrane.

 
To ensure that the 510(k) includes the information that FDA feels is appropriate, we have requested a pre-submission meeting with the FDA. This

meeting is scheduled to be held on November 14, 2013. Once we understand what types of data FDA is seeking, we intend to submit the 510(k) shortly after
the meeting.  Once filed we hope that the FDA will complete their review of our submission within 90 days; but of course we cannot predict if they will ask
us for additional information or otherwise complete their review within the 90 days.
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The Company has recorded a loss contingency as of September 30, 2013 of $402,840 related to the estimated costs of the recall, including the

estimated costs of pursuing the additional 510(k) clearance.  The recall and 510(k) process may take longer than expected and we may incur costs that we
have not anticipated.  Accordingly, the actual amount of the loss contingency may be higher than we currently expect.

NOTE 12: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
 
Loans from Officer
 
On May 26, 2009, the Company borrowed $5,000 from its Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer as a short-term, unsecured loan via

verbal agreement and did not bear any interest. Commencing June 30, 2010, the loan was converted into a written Promissory Note bearing an annual interest
rate of 10%, with a maturity date of December 31, 2010. This note was repaid in full on May 16, 2011 including approximately $439 of accrued interest.

 
On June 30, 2010, the Company borrowed an additional $100,000 from its Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer pursuant to a

promissory note. The loan under the note was funded to the Company on July 12, 2010. The note bears a 10% interest rate per annum and carries a $4,000
loan origination fee which is accreted to the loan balance throughout the life of the loan. The $4,000 loan origination fee was fully accreted to the loan
balance as of March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, and recorded as interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2010. This note (including the
$4,000 origination fee) was repaid in full on May 19, 2011 including approximately $8,959 in accrued interest.

 
On November 3, 2010, the Company entered into a line of credit agreement for borrowing up to $500,000 from its Chairman of the Board and Chief

Executive Officer pursuant to a promissory note. The note bears a 10% interest rate per annum. An aggregate of $140,000 was funded to the Company under
the line of credit as of March 31, 2011 which was repaid on May 31, 2011, including approximately $6,093 in accrued interest. As of December 31, 2011, the
unpaid principal balance drawn from the line of credit was $5,078, which was fully repaid on March 31, 2012.

 
On July 30, 2012, the Company entered into a line of credit agreement for borrowing up to $500,000 from its Chairman of the Board and Chief

Executive Officer pursuant to a promissory note. The note bears a 12% interest rate per annum. An aggregate of $79,300 was funded to the Company under
the line of credit as of December 31, 2012. The principal balance of $79,300 and interest of $1,440 was fully repaid on October 11, 2012.

 
Exclusive License Agreement
 
On July 27, 2009, the Company entered into an exclusive license agreement with Ensisheim Partners LLC (“Ensisheim”), an entity solely owned by

the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company and the Chief Scientific Officer of the Company, who is also the wife of the Company’s Chairman
and CEO. Pursuant to that agreement, Ensisheim granted the Company an exclusive, worldwide, perpetual, irrevocable, royalty-bearing, license to the
MASCT System, with the right to grant and authorize sublicenses. The license agreement provided that the Company would pay Ensisheim a royalty equal to
2% of net sales revenue, with a minimum royalty of $12,500 per fiscal quarter during the term of the agreement, which would have increased to a minimum
royalty of $25,000 per fiscal quarter beginning in the quarter in which the first commercial sale of a licensed product would have taken place. From inception
through December 31, 2010, the Company had incurred $16,250 in patent-related expenses under the license agreement with Ensisheim, and $0 subsequent to
December 31, 2010.

 
On June 17, 2010, the Company and Ensisheim entered into an Assignment Agreement, whereby Ensisheim assigned to the Company all rights to

the patents and patent applications underlying the MASCT System. Pursuant to the assignment, the Company will have all responsibility for prosecution,
maintenance, and enforcement and will indemnify Ensisheim from any and all claims against the patent estate. Ensisheim retained no residual rights with
respect to the patents and patent applications. In conjunction with the assignment, the Company terminated the exclusive license agreement between the
Company and Ensisheim dated July 27, 2009. As a result of the termination, the Company has no further obligations with respect to royalty payments to
Ensisheim due under the old licensing agreement. As a result, the $12,500 of patent royalty payable to Ensisheim recorded as accrued royalty payable at
December 31, 2009 has been reversed through royalty expense during the second quarter of 2010.
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Commercial Lease Agreement
 
On December 24, 2009, the Company entered into a commercial lease agreement with Ensisheim for office space located in Seattle, Washington.

The lease provided for annual rent of $13,200, plus applicable sales tax. From inception through December 31, 2009, the Company incurred $248 of rent
expense for the lease with security deposit of $1,100. For the period of January 1, 2010 through June 30, 2010, the Company incurred $6,600 of rent expense
for the lease. On July 15, 2010 the Company and Ensisheim terminated the lease, effective July 1, 2010 and the Company commenced use of the facility rent
free until April 1, 2011 when the commercial lease agreement the Company entered into with Sanders Properties, LLC became effective (see Note 11). The
$1,100 security deposit paid to Ensisheim was received as of December 31, 2012.

 
Executive Compensation
 
On May 19, 2010, the Company entered into employment agreements with three executives, including its Chief Executive Officer, its former

President, and its Chief Scientific Officer. The annual base salaries under each agreement were calculated based on combined consideration of the success of
capital raise and the operating results of the Company, and capped at $360,000, $350,000, and $250,000, respectively for the three executives.

 
On July 22, 2010, in connection with the resignation and departure of Robert L. Kelly, the President and a director, the Company entered into a

consulting agreement with a limited liability company controlled by Mr. Kelly. Under the agreement, the Company was to receive consulting services relating
to capital raising and investor relations. The agreement was terminated by the Company in September 2010, through which time a total of $30,000 consulting
expense had been paid.

 
On July 22, 2010, the Company restated and amended the employment agreements with its CEO and CSO. The agreements modified the base annual

salary amounts to $250,000 and $200,000, respectively, effective retroactively to May 19, 2010. For the nine months ended September 30, 2012, salaries and
bonuses of CEO and CSO amounted to $269,438 and $200,550, of which $134,719 and $200,550 were recorded to research and development expense,
respectively. For the nine months ended September 30, 2013, salaries and bonuses of CEO and CSO amounted to $258,635 and $191,908, of which $129,316
and $191,908 were recorded to research and development expense, respectively. 

 
Share-Based Compensation
 
The amended employment agreement with the CEO, entered into on July 22, 2010, granted options to purchase 250,000 shares (or 565,830 shares

prior to the reverse stock-split on September 28, 2010) at a price of $5.00 per share, in consideration of his service to the Company. Of these options, 25% (or
62,500 shares) vested on December 31, 2010 with the remaining 75% (or 187,500 shares) to vest in equal quarterly installments over the next three years so
long as the executive remains employed with the company. These options have five-year contractual terms.

 
The amended employment agreement with the CSO, entered into on July 22, 2010, granted options to purchase 100,000 shares (or 226,332 shares

prior to the reverse stock-split on September 28, 2010) at a price of $5.00 per share in consideration of her service to the Company. Of these options, 25% (or
25,000 shares) vested on December 31, 2010 with the remaining 75% (or 75,000 shares) to vest in equal quarterly installments over the next three years so
long as the executive remains employed with the company. These options have five-year contractual terms.

 
On April 4, 2011, 45,000 non-qualified stock options were granted under the 2010 Plan to Dr. Tim Hunkapiller for being a member of the

Company’s Scientific Advisory Board and consulting services to be provided to the Company, at an exercise price of $1.25 per share. These options have a
ten-year contractual term and shall vest as follows:

 
 

(i) 11,250 option shares shall vest ninety (90) days after the date of grant;
   

(ii) 11,000 option shares shall vest one hundred and eighty (180) days after the date of grant;
   

(iii) 11,500 option shares shall vest two hundred and seventy (270) days after the date of grant;
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(

iv)
11,250 option shares shall vest three hundred and sixty (360) days after the date of grant.

 
On September 1, 2011, 219,000 incentive stock options were granted under the 2010 Plan to employees and officers as part of their employment

agreements, at an exercise price of $1.25 per share. These options have a ten-year contractual term and shall vest and become exercisable as follows:
 

(i) twenty-five percent (25%) of the underlying shares on the first anniversary of the date of grant; and
   

(ii) forty eighth (1/48) of the underlying shares monthly thereafter.
 

On September 1, 2011, 200,000 non-qualified stock options were granted under the 2010 Plan to non-employee directors for services to be provided
to the Company, at an exercise price of $1.25 per share. These options have a ten-year contractual term and shall vest and become exercisable as follows:

 
(i) 80,000 option shares shall vest on September 1, 2011;

   
(ii) 30,000 options shares shall vest on December 1, 2011;

   
(iii) 30,000 options shares shall vest on March 1, 2012;

   
(iv) 30,000 options shares shall vest on June 1, 2012;

   
(v) 30,000 options shares shall vest on September 1, 2012.

   
On April 30, 2012, 19,757 non-qualified stock options were granted under the 2010 Plan to non-employee directors for serving as directors of the

Company, at an exercise price of $6.00 per share. These options have a ten-year contractual term and shall vest and become exercisable in full immediately as
of the grant date.

 
On December 17, 2012, 228,000 non-qualified stock options were granted under the 2010 Plan to employees as part of their employment

agreements, at an exercise price of $4.24 per share. On December 20, 2012, 200,000 non-qualified stock options were granted outside of the 2010 Plan, but
governed in all respects by the 2010 Plan, to an employee as part of his employment agreement, at an exercise price of $4.11 per share. These options each
have a ten-year contractual term and shall vest and become exercisable as follows:

 
(i) twenty-five percent (25%) of the underlying shares on the first anniversary of the date employment commenced; and

   
(ii) one-sixteenth (1/16) of the underlying shares quarterly thereafter.

   
In accordance with the guidance provided in ASC Topic 718, Stock Compensation (formerly SFAS 123R), the compensation costs associated with

these options are recognized, based on the grant-date fair values of these options, over the requisite service period, or vesting period. Accordingly, the
Company recognized a compensation expense of $1,187,716 and $96,251 for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

 
The Company estimated the fair value of these options using the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model based on the following weighted-

average assumptions:
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 (A) The fair value of the Company's common stock was derived implicitly from the public offering filed in March 2010 at $3.00 per share and

from the terms of an underwritten offering contemplated in July 2010 at $6.00 per Unit that was filed in October 2010, with $2.756 per
share being allocated to common stock using an iterative approach in order for the combined fair value of the common stock and warrants
to equal the amount of consideration to be received for the offering.

 
 (B) The fair value of the Company's common stock was derived implicitly from the Private Placement during April through June 2011 at $1.25

per Unit, wherein one Unit was comprised of one share of common stock and one warrant to purchase one share of common stock at an
exercise price of $1.60 per share.

 
 (C) The fair value of the Company's common stock was derived implicitly from the public offering filed in February 2012 at $6.00 per share.
 
 (D) The fair values of the Company's common stock were derived from the closing prices on the NASDAQ Capital Market as of the dates of

grant.
 
In October 2010, the Company filed a Registration Statement on Form S-1 with the SEC. However, the market for early stage investments in medical

technology transactions had deteriorated between mid-2010 and early 2011. In addition, the Company’s ability to negotiate with potential investors was
limited. The Company’s cash position had also diminished since the summer of 2010 and the founders of the Company were unable to finance the Company
at the level needed for growth. The withdrawal of the Registration Statement in February 2011 further weakened the impression of the Company in the
market. The fair value of the Company’s common stock decreased from $2.756 in 2010 to $0.906 in 2011 primarily because the grants in 2011 relied on the
arm’s-length negotiation of the private placement financing (for illiquid stock) as opposed to relying on an anticipated initial public offering (of publicly-
traded stock), as was the case in 2010. The private placement transactions were between the company and over 200 accredited investors and ascribed a value
of $0.906 to the Company’s common stock.
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2010 through December 2012  Employee  
Employee &
Officers  Directors  

CEO &
CSO  

Date of Grant  December 2012  September 2011  April 2012 – September 2011  July 2010  
          
Fair value of common stock on date of grant  $4.11-$4.24(D)  $0.9060(B)  $0.9060 (B &C )  $2.7560(A)  
Exercise price of the options  $4.11 - $4.24  $1.25  $1.25-$6.00  $5.00  
Expected life of the options (years)  5.74 - 6.11  5.65  5.00 – 5.65  3.33  
Dividend yield  0.00%  0.00%  0.00%  0.00%  
Expected volatility  42.44 – 44.58%  53.90%  53.90-62.46%  58.59%  
          
Risk-free interest rate  0.91-0.99%  1.08%  0.89 – 1.08%  1.03%  
Expected forfeiture per year (%)  10.00%  10.00%  0.00%  0.00%  
Weighted average fair value of the options per unit  $1.7426-$1.7842  $0.3579  $0.3579-$3.0367  $0.6744  

Year To Date September 2013  Employee  
Employee &
Officers  Directors  

CEO &
CSO  

Date of Grant  January - August 2013  January - June 2013  May 2013  March 2013  
          
Fair value of common stock on date of grant(E)  $3.95 - $5.19(D )  $4.11 - $4.58(D)  $6.59 (D)  $6.57 (D )  
Exercise price of the options  $3.95 - $5.19  $4.11 - $4.58  $6.59  $6.57  
Expected life of the options (years)  6.09 - 6.11  5.00 – 6.11  5.00 – 5.31  5.00  
Dividend yield  0.00%  0.00%  0.00%  0.00%  
Expected volatility  40.73 - 40.92%  40.96 - 41.05%  41.06-41.09%  47.09%  
          
Risk-free interest rate  1.73 -1.97%  1.03-1.36%  0.73 - 0.84%  1.13%  
Expected forfeiture per year (%)  10.00%  10.00%  10.00%  0.00%  
Weighted average fair value of the options per unit  $1.35 - $2.18  $1.69 - $1.89  $2.41 - $2.49  $2.70  



   
 Fair value hierarchy of the above assumptions can be categorized as follows:
  
(1) There were no Level 1 inputs.

 
(2) Level 2 inputs include:

 
Risk-free rate- The risk-free rate of return reflects the interest rate for United States Treasury Note with similar time-to-maturity to that of

the options.
 

(3) Level 3 inputs include:
 

Expected lives- The expected lives of options granted were derived from the output of the option valuation model and represented the
period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding.

 
Expected forfeitures per year- The expected forfeitures are estimated at the dates of grant and will be revised in subsequent periods pursuant

to actual forfeitures, if significantly different from the previous estimates.
 

Expected volatility- We did not have a historical trading history sufficient to develop an internal volatility rate for use in the model. As a
result, as required by ASC 718-10-30, the Company has accounted for the options using the calculated value method. The Company identified five
to seven public entities in the similar industry for which share price information was available, and considered the historical volatilities of those
public entities’ share prices in calculating the expected volatility appropriate to the Company.

 
The estimates of fair value from the model are theoretical values of stock options and changes in the assumptions used in the model could result in

materially different fair value estimates. The actual value of the stock options will depend on the market value of the Company’s common stock when the
stock options are exercised.

 
Notwithstanding that the fair market value of the Company’s common stock in September 2011 was $0.906 per share, the Company filed a

Registration Statement on Form S-1 in February 2012 to offer shares of its common stock at $5.00 to $7.00 per share. This increase in share value is justified
by the accomplishments achieved by the Company between September 2011 and February 2012. Specifically, the MASCT System manufacturing had been
completed, supplies for the Field Experience Trial were completed and the Company had established an FDA-compliant inventory and warehousing facility.
Further, the National Reference Laboratory for Breast Health, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, was established as a Delaware corporation, was
equipped and staffed, and the protocols and procedures needed to be a CLIA-registered facility were put in place. Moreover, the ForeCYTE test, which
involves cytopathology and five biomarkers of hyperplasia and one biomarker of sample integrity, was completed, tested, and validated to CLIA standards.
Computer hardware and software was acquired, set up, made operational, and the ForeCYTE report template, with unique reporting information for the
requesting physician and a patient letter template, were created. The company explored and identified a technology for the ArgusCYTE test, negotiated a
supply agreement with the supplier, and tested and validated the test. An ArgusCYTE report template was also established and a new reporting scheme
invented and a patent application filed.

 
Further, the Company negotiated the acquisition of the FullCYTE Microcatheter System from Hologics, reestablished the supply chain and began

preparing for a commercial launch later in 2012 or early 2013. In doing so, the Company increased its U.S. patent portfolio from 5 to 31 and its total portfolio
of patents and applications to over 120. The Hologic patent estate also contains the key patents that permit microcatheter-based intraductal treatment of cancer
and pre-cancer. The Company also prepared marketing documents for the launch of the ForeCYTE and ArgusCYTE tests, which occurred in December 2011.
The Company launched a clinical trial of the FullCYTE microcatheter to establish the feasibility of performing Next Generation Sequencing on the samples
obtained with the microcatheter, negotiated the acquisition of the NextCYTE technology, and is conducting a study of the utility of the technology in
providing superior information in the setting of cancer diagnosis and treatment selection.
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The Company also established third-party relationships to perform the reimbursement billing in anticipation of the commercial launch and to permit

electronic remittance of testing revenue. The Company commenced a Field Test Experience limited launch of both the ForeCYTE and ArgusCYTE tests on
schedule in December 2011 and has seen significant market acceptance of both tests from the doctors and clinics using the tests. The Company passed a CLIA
inspection and became CLIA-certified, has obtained several state licenses and has pending applications in all remaining states where licensure is required.
Finally, the Board of Directors and scientific advisory board were each strengthened with the addition of key new executives and scientists.

 
The Board of Directors considered each of the foregoing achievements, and considered input from the Company’s investment bankers, in

determining that the value of the Company supports a valuation of $5.00 to $7.00 per share of the Company’s common stock.
 
Options issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2013 and their activities during the nine months then ended are as follows:
 

 
(1) vested shares and unvested shares after a forfeiture rate is applied.

 
As of September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, the aggregate intrinsic value of options outstanding was $3,604,669 and $1,150,416,

respectively. 

NOTE 13: ASSET PURCHASE
 
On September 30, 2012, the Company entered into an asset purchase agreement with Acueity Healthcare, Inc (“Acueity”) to acquire substantially all

of the assets of Acueity. Through the asset purchase, the Company acquired 35 issued patents (18 issued in the U.S. and 17 issued in foreign countries), 41
patent applications (32 in the U.S. and 9 in foreign countries), six 510(k) FDA marketing authorizations related to the manufacturing, use, and sale of the
Viaduct Miniscope and accessories, the Manoa Breast Biopsy system, the Excisor Bioptome, the Acueity Medical Light Source, the Viaduct Microendoscope
and accessories, and cash in the amount of $400,000; no liabilities were assumed in the transaction. In consideration for the assets, the Company issued
862,500 shares of common stock, valued at $5.00 per share, the offering price listed on the prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b)(4) on November 9, 2012,
and warrants to purchase up to 325,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $5.00 per share, to the shareholders of Acueity, subject to a six-month
lock up agreement which has since lapsed. The warrants, which have a five-year term, do not have a cashless exercise provision. The warrants were valued at
$2.3457 per warrant, using a Black-Scholes-Merton Valuation Technique because it embodies all of the requisite assumptions (including trading volatility,
estimated terms and risk-free rates) necessary to determine the fair value of the warrants (see Note 8). There are no future financial obligations from the
Company to Acueity from the commercialization of the acquired assets.
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Number of 
Underlying 

Shares

 
Weighted-
Average 
Exercise 
Price Per 

Share

 

Weighted-
Average 

Contractual 
Life 

Remaining 
in 

Years

 

Outstanding as of January 1, 2013   1,052,137  $ 3.79     
Granted   1,425,394   5.02     
Expired   (3,812)  4.99     
Forfeited   (221,522)  4.21     
Exercised   (5,546)  1.79     

Outstanding as of September 30, 2013   2,246,651   4.53   8.87  
Exercisable as of September 30, 2013   1,044,549   4.54   8.21  
Vested and expected to vest (1)   2,090,475   4.54   8.83  



 
NOTE 14: SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
 

Voluntary Product Recall
 

On October 4, 2013 we initiated a voluntary recall to remove the ForeCYTE Breast Health Test and the MASCT device from the market. This
voluntary recall includes the MASCT System Kit and Patient Sample Kit. The vast majority of these products (approximately ninety percent) are in
inventory with our distributors and the remaining quantities are at customer sites across the United States. Distributors and customers have been instructed
to stop using affected products and return them to Atossa immediately.

 
The purpose of this voluntary recall is to address concerns raised by the FDA in a Warning Letter received by Atossa in February 2013. In that

Warning Letter, the  FDA raised concerns about (1) the current instructions for use (IFU); (2) certain promotional claims used to market these devices; and
(3) the need for FDA clearance for certain changes made to the NAF specimen collection process identified in the current IFU. We are in the process of
removing existing product from the market.

 
We are working with the FDA on this matter and this voluntary recall. We have notified distributors and customers by certified mail and we are

arranging for the return of all recalled products.  We plan to prepare a new premarket notification or 510(k) application for submission to the FDA that
covers the collection, preparation, and processing of NAF specimens at our laboratory and includes the spray method of fixing specimens to the collection
membrane. However, we cannot market or distribute the modified product in the U.S. unless or until the new 510(k) is cleared by the FDA.

 
To ensure that the 510(k) includes the information that FDA feels is appropriate, we have requested a pre-submission meeting with the FDA.  This

meeting is scheduled to be held on November 14, 2013.   Once we understand what types of data FDA is seeking, we intend to submit the 510(k) shortly
after the meeting.   Once filed we hope that the FDA will complete their review of our submission within 90 days; but of course we cannot predict if they
will ask us for additional information or otherwise complete their review within the 90 days.
 

The Company has recorded a loss contingency as of September 30, 2013 of $402,840 related to the estimated costs of the recall, including the
estimated costs of pursuing the additional 510(k) clearance.  The recall and 510(k) process may take longer than expected and we may incur costs that we
have not anticipated.  Accordingly, the actual amount of the loss contingency may be higher than we currently expect.  

 
Aspire Common Stock Purchase Agreement
 

From the October 1, 2013 through November 7, 2013, the Company has sold 200,000 shares of common stock to Aspire Capital with gross proceeds to
the Company of $349,670, pursuant to the terms of the Common Stock Purchase Agreement with Aspire dated March 27, 2013.  The March 27, 2013
Common Stock Purchase Agreement with Aspire Capital was terminated on November 8, 2013 and on that date we entered into a new stock purchase
agreement with Aspire Capital Fund, LLC.  The new stock purchase agreement provides that, upon the terms and subject to the conditions and limitations set
forth therein, Aspire is committed to purchase up to an aggregate of $25 million of shares of our common stock over the 30 month term of the agreement. We
cannot, however, sell any shares to Aspire under the new agreement unless and until a new registration statement is filed with and declared effective by the
SEC.
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ITEM 2

.
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

 
The following discussion of the financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and the related

notes included elsewhere in this report. This discussion contains forward-looking statements, which are based on assumptions about the future of the
Company's business. The actual results could differ materially from those contained in the forward-looking statements. Please read “Forward-Looking
Statements” included below for additional information regarding forward-looking statements.

 
Forward-Looking Statements

 
This report contains, in addition to historical information, certain information, assumptions and discussions that may constitute forward-looking

statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). We have made these statements in reliance on the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995. These statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties, which could cause actual results to differ materially from those projected
or anticipated. Although we believe our assumptions underlying our forward-looking statements are reasonable as of the date of this report, we cannot assure
you that the forward-looking statements set out in this report will prove to be accurate. We typically identify these forward-looking statements by the use of
forward-looking words such as “expect,” “potential,” “continue,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “could,” “would,” “seek,” “intend,” “plan,” “estimate,”
“anticipate” or the negative version of those words or other comparable words. Forward-looking statements contained in this report include, but are not
limited to, statements about:

 
 · our ability to successfully sell our products and services at currently expected prices or otherwise at prices acceptable to us;
   
 · whether we will obtain in a timely manner clearance from the Food and Drug Administration to sell, market and distribute our

MASCT System and ForeCYTE Test;
   
 · our ability to successfully re-launch our MASCT System and ForeCYTE Test;
   
 · the estimated costs associated with our product recall;
   
 · our ability to successfully develop and commercialize new tests, tools and technologies currently in development and in the

time frames currently expected;
   
 · our ability to maintain our business relationships, including with our distributors, suppliers and customers, while we are

undergoing the recall we commenced October 4, 2013 and while we seek additional regulatory clearance to market, sell and
distribute our MASCT System and ForeCYTE Test;

   
 · our ability to engage third-party suppliers to manufacture the MASCT System, Microcatheter System, other devices under

development and their components at quantities and costs acceptable to us;
   
 · our ability to satisfy ongoing FDA requirements for the MASCT System, ForeCYTE Test and Microcatheter System and to

obtain regulatory approvals for our other products and services in development, including our ability to timely and adequately
respond to the warning letter we received from the FDA on February 21, 2013 and any issues resulting therefrom;

   
 · our ability to defend the securities class action law suit filed against us on October 10, 2013, and other similar complaints that

may be brought in the future, in a timely manner and within the coverage, scope and limits of our insurance policies;
   
 · the benefits and clinical accuracy of the ForeCYTE and ArgusCYTE tests and whether any product or service that we

commercialize is safer or more effective than competing products and services;
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 · our ability to establish and maintain intellectual property rights covering our products and services;
   
 · the willingness of health insurance companies, including those who are members of the MultiPlan, FedMed and HealthSmart

networks, and other third-party payors to approve our products and services for coverage and reimbursement;
   
 · our ability to establish and maintain an independent sales representative force, including with our current and future distributors

and their sub-distributors, to market our products and services that we may develop, both regionally and nationally;
   
 · our expectations regarding, and our ability to satisfy, federal, state and foreign regulatory requirements;
   
 · the accuracy of our estimates of the size and characteristics of the markets that our products and services may address;
   
 · our expectations as to future financial performance, expense levels and liquidity sources;
   
 · our ability to attract and retain key personnel; and
   
 · our ability to sell additional shares of our Common Stock to Aspire Capital under the terms of our Purchase Agreement with

Aspire.
 

These and other forward-looking statements made in this report are presented as of the date on which the statements are made. We have included
important factors in the cautionary statements included in this report, particularly in the section entitled “Risk Factors,” that we believe could cause actual
results or events to differ materially from the forward-looking statements that we make. Our forward-looking statements do not reflect the potential impact of
any new information, future events or circumstances that may affect our business after the date of this report. Except as required by law, we do not intend to
update any forward-looking statements after the date on which the statement is made, whether as a result of new information, future events or circumstances
or otherwise.

 
Company Overview
 
      We are a healthcare company focused on breast health.  We are developing a suite of tests and therapeutic medical devices, laboratory developed tests and
services (LDT and/or invitro diagnostics) that address each of the four stages of the breast health care path: the cytological analysis of cells in nipple aspirate
fluid (NAF),  the cytological analysis of cells in ductal lavage fluid collected from each individual breast duct with manual breast duct microcatheters; the
profiling of newly diagnosed breast cancers through the determination of gene expression profiles in formalin-fixed paraffin embedded breast cancer biopsy
tissue; and the monitoring of breast cancer survivors for pre-clinical recurrence through a blood test for circulating tumor cells.  We also have a  therapeutic
program to provide targeted, localized treatment of cancerous and pre-cancerous conditions through our patented microcatheters.  All of our products and
services are currently under development and are awaiting additional regulatory clearances prior to marketing and commercialization.  Our products and
services under development include:
 
 · ForeCYTE Breast Health Test System: a test system comprised of a medical device for the collection and preparation of NAF

specimens that are then processed using cytological testing procedures in our wholly-owned CLIA-certified laboratory, the NRLBH.
The ForeCYTE Breast Health Test is not intended to be used to diagnose breast cancer or to serve as a replacement for
mammography. We are currently seeking 510(k) clearances from the FDA for this test, which we anticipate receiving in the first
quarter of 2014. Upon receiving the 510(k) clearances, we intend to re-launch the ForeCYTE Test.

   
 · FullCYTE Breast Health Test: a test system for women identified by their physician as being at high risk for breast cancer. The test

is designed for a surgeon to use our patented Class II microcatheter medical devices to collect NAF specimens from individual
breast ducts which are then analyzed using cytological testing procedures at the NRLBH. We plan to complete additional validation
studies and regulatory clearance of our manufacturing precedures and processes for this test in 2014 and to launch the test in the
second half of 2014.
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· NextCYTE Breast Cancer Test: a test for women newly diagnosed by their physician as having breast cancer that is a qualitative in
vitro diagnostic test service, performed in a single laboratory, using the gene expression profile of formalin-fixed, paraffin
embedded breast cancer tissue samples to assess a patient’s risk for distant metastasis. It uses advanced microarray expression
technologies to quantify and analyze the entire tumor genetic transcriptome, which represents all genes that are being actively
expressed within the tumor. This test is in the validation phase and after receiving FDA regulatory clearance we anticipate
launching it in the second half of 2014.

  
· ArgusCYTE Breast Health Test: a blood sample test for breast cancer survivors which provides information on the presence of

circulating tumor cells. We completed the development of this test and conducted a limited trial launch in 2012. We are completing
enhancements to this test and after receiving any necessary additional FDA clearances we plan to re-launch it in mid-2014.

  
· Therapeutic Program: We are also developing our patented microcatheters for the delivery of pharmaceutical formulations directly into

the milk ducts. We plan to initially target pre-cancerous lesions and ductal carcinoma in situ, or DCIS, a condition diagnosed
in more than 65,000 patients each year. By using this localized delivery method, patients are expected to receive high local
concentrations of these drugs at the site of the pre-cancerous lesions or DCIS potentially promoting efficacy of the treatment while
limiting systemic exposure, which has the potential to lower the overall toxicity of these treatments. This program has not been
approved by the FDA. We plan to identify a partner for the clinical development of the pharmaceutical to be used with our device
in the first half of 2014.

 
Our leading test, the ForeCYTE Breast Health Test, was launched in a “field experience” trial in 2012 and nationally in the beginning of 2013.  In

October 2013, we voluntarily recalled the ForeCYTE Breast Health Test (also known as the MASCT System or ForeCYTE Test).  As a result of this recall,
we are not currently marketing this product in the U.S. We intend to obtain an additional FDA 510(k) clearance for the ForeCYTE Test and to re-launch the
test upon receiving regulatory clearance.  However, the regulatory pathway to obtaining a 510(k) clearance can be lengthy, expensive and unpredictable; we
therefore cannot provide any assurances that we will receive a new 510(k) clearance for ForeCYTE or any of our other tests under development in a timely
fashion or at all.

 
Our laboratory, the NRLBH, was established in part to receive and process NAF samples collected with our ForeCYTE Test device.  The NRLBH has

been certified pursuant to the Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments, or CLIA. CLIA certification is legally required to receive reimbursement from
federal or state medical benefit programs, like Medicare and Medicaid, and is a practical requirement for most third-party insurance benefit programs. Our
CLIA-certified laboratory, which is permitted to accept samples from all 50 states under its CLIA certification, its state licenses, or, in New York under
recognized exemption provisions while its license application is pending, examines the specimens by cytological analysis.
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Current Operations
 

We launched our commercial operations in late 2011. In 2012 we initiated and completed the field experience trial of our first two tests, the ForeCYTE
test and the ArgusCYTE test. In January 2013, we announced the national launch of the ForeCYTE Test. On April 30, 2013, we entered into a Distribution
and Marketing Services Agreement with Millennium Medical Devices LLC, pursuant to which Millennium will market and distribute the ForeCYTE breast
health test kits in New York City and Northern New Jersey. In May 2013, we entered into a distribution agreement with Fisher Healthcare, a division of
Fisher Scientific Company, LLC, and in September 2013 we entered into a distribution agreement with McKesson Medical Surgical.
 
Our Voluntary Product Recall
 

On October 4, 2013 we initiated a voluntary recall to remove the ForeCYTE Breast Health Test and the MASCT device from the market. This voluntary
recall includes the MASCT System Kit and Patient Sample Kit. The vast majority of these products (approximately ninety percent) are in inventory with our
distributors and the remaining quantities are at customer sites across the United States. Distributors and customers have been instructed to stop using affected
products and return them to Atossa immediately.

 
The purpose of this voluntary recall is to address concerns raised by the FDA in a Warning Letter received by Atossa in February 2013. In that Warning

Letter, the FDA raised concerns about (1) the current instructions for use (IFU); (2) certain promotional claims used to market these devices; and (3) the need
for FDA clearance for certain changes made to the NAF specimen collection process identified in the current IFU. We are in the process of removing existing
product from the market.

 
 The MASCT device was originally cleared by the FDA for use as a sample collection device, with the provision that the fluid collected using this device

can be used to determine and/or differentiate between normal, pre-cancerous, and cancerous cells. The MASCT device has not been cleared by the FDA for
the screening or diagnosis of breast cancer. In addition, the ForeCYTE Breast Health Test has not been cleared or approved by the FDA for any indication as
the company considered this to be a Laboratory Developed Test – or within a class of tests that has historically not required 510(k)s for. The ForeCYTE
Breast Health Test and the MASCT device are not intended to serve a replacement for screening mammograms, diagnostic imaging tests, or biopsies. Patients
are instructed to follow the recommendations and instructions of their physician with respect to breast cancer screening and diagnosis.

 
To date, we are unaware of any adverse incidents or injuries associated with the use of the ForeCYTE Breast Health test and the MASCT device or the

processing method identified in the latest version of the IFU. Additionally, we are unaware of any risk to health or injury for clinicians or the patient
population that have used these devices. However, there is a risk that these devices may produce false positive or false negative results. Although not cleared
or intended for this use, if these devices are used as a substitute for recommended screening or diagnosis of breast cancer, FDA is concerned that patients may
choose to forgo recommended mammograms and necessary biopsies.

 
We are working with the FDA on this matter and this voluntary recall. We have notified distributors and customers by certified mail and we are arranging

for the return of all recalled products.  As of the date of this report, approximately 8% of the MASCT pumps and 84% of the MASCT patient collection kits
have been returned to our processing center. We also plan to prepare a new premarket notification or 510(k) application for submission to the FDA that covers
the collection, preparation, and processing of NAF specimens at our laboratory and includes the spray method of fixing specimens to the collection
membrane. However, we cannot market or distribute the modified product in the U.S. unless or until the new 510(k) is cleared by the FDA.
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To ensure that the 510(k) includes the information that FDA feels is appropriate, we have requested a pre-submission meeting with the FDA.  This

meeting is scheduled to be held on November 14, 2013.   Once we understand what types of data the FDA is seeking, we intend to submit the 510(k) shortly
after the meeting.   Once filed we hope that the FDA will complete their review of our submission within 90 days; but of course we cannot predict if they will
ask us for additional information or otherwise complete their review within the 90 days.

 
We have recorded a loss contingency as of September 30, 2013 of $402,840 related to the estimated costs of the recall, including the estimated costs of

pursuing the additional 510(k) clearance.  The recall and 510(k) process may take longer than expected and we may incur costs that we have not anticipated. 
Accordingly, the actual amount of the loss contingency may be higher than we currently expect.

 
When we re-launch our ForeCYTE Test, we will incur additional sales and marketing expenses. We will need to revise our sales and marketing tools and

continue hiring direct sales employees in an effort to build a regional, and ultimately national, sales force.  We also expect to continue to hire clinical
consultants to help healthcare providers begin to use our ForeCYTE Test.

 
From our inception (April 30, 2009) through September 30, 2013,  357 physicians have enrolled to provide the ForeCYTE Test and as of that date we

have received, processed, and reported the results to physicians from 2,744 NAF samples processed and reported with our ForeCYTE Test (representing
1,372 patients) and 41 ArgusCYTE samples. From inception through September 30, 2013, we have generated $1,068,687 in product and service revenue. We
incurred net losses of $3,501,845 and $8,026,984 for the three months and nine months ended September 30, 2013 and $17,758,892 since inception. As of
September 30, 2013, we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $17,758,892. We have not yet established an ongoing source of revenue sufficient to
cover our operating costs and allow us to continue as a going concern. Our ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on obtaining adequate capital
to fund operating losses until we become profitable. We plan to obtain additional capital resources by selling our equity securities, selling the ForeCYTE test
kits and generating laboratory service revenue from our tests, and borrowing from stockholders or others when needed. However, we cannot assure you that
we will be successful in accomplishing any of these plans and, if we are unable to obtain adequate capital, we could be forced to cease operations.

 
Finally, the acquisition of the Acueity assets may become a complement to our current business at some point in the future. We are not currently

allocating human or financial resources to these assets and do not expect to do so until after the launch of our other diagnostic tests in the United States. We
intend to complete the steps necessary to begin marketing and selling these tools, such as re-establishment of the supply chain of component parts, securing
manufacturers, performing test builds and commercial scale manufacturing, in the first half of 2014. This asset purchase is not expected to have an impact on
the development and commercialization timetables of our existing product lines. We cannot, however, provide any assurances that delays related to the launch
of our four diagnostic tests, independent of this asset purchase, would not delay the expected development of these diagnostic tools or that we will ultimately
be successful selling these tools.

 
Our Common Stock Purchase Agreements with Aspire Capital Fund, LLC
 

On March 27, 2013 we entered into a stock purchase agreement with Aspire Capital Fund, LLC, and pursuant to that agreement we have sold common
stock to Aspire with aggregate gross proceeds to us of approximately $11.3 million.  On November 8, 2013 we terminated that agreement and entered into a
new stock purchase agreement with Aspire.

 
The November 8, 2013 stock purchase agreement with Aspire provides that, upon the terms and subject to the conditions and limitations set forth therein,

Aspire is committed to purchase up to an aggregate of $25 million of shares of our common stock (this amount is in additional to the proceeds we received
from sales to Aspire under the March 27, 2013 agreement with them) over the 30-month term of the agreement. Before we can sell any shares under the
agreement, we must register the shares and have the registration statement declared effective by the SEC. Other terms and conditions of the agreement are
described below.

 
Concurrently with entering into the purchase agreement, we also entered into a registration rights agreement with Aspire. The registration rights

agreement provides that the Company will file one or more registration statements, as necessary, to register under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, the
sale of the shares of common stock that have been and may be issued to Aspire under the purchase agreement. The Company agreed to file an initial
registration statement registering the sale of the shares by Aspire with the SEC within 10 days of entering into the purchase agreement with Aspire. We
further agreed to keep the registration statement effective and to indemnify Aspire for liabilities in connection with the sale of the shares under the terms of
the registration rights agreement.
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As described in more detail below, generally under the purchase agreement we have two ways we can elect to sell shares of common stock to Aspire on

any business day we select: (1) through a regular purchase of up to 150,000 shares (but not to exceed $500,000) at a known price based on the market price of
our common stock prior to the time of each sale, and (2) through a volume-weighted average price (“VWAP”) purchase of a number of shares up to 30% of
the volume traded on the purchase date at a price equal to the lesser of the closing sale price or 95% of the VWAP for such purchase date.  Additionally, there
are two milestone stock sales to Aspire described below.

 
Under the purchase agreement we issued 375,000 shares of our common stock to Aspire in consideration for entering into the purchase agreement (the

“Commitment Shares”). After the SEC declares the initial registration statement effective, on any business day on which the closing sale price of our common
stock equals or exceeds $0.25 per share, over the 30-month term of the purchase agreement, we have the right, in our sole discretion, to present Aspire with a
purchase notice directing Aspire to purchase up to 150,000 shares of our common stock per business day; however, no sale pursuant to such purchase notice
may exceed $500,000 per business day. The purchase price per share, which we call the “Regular Purchase Price,” is the lower of (i) the lowest sale price for
our common stock on the purchase date or (ii) the arithmetic average of the three lowest closing sale prices for our common stock during the 12 consecutive
business days ending on the business day immediately preceding the purchase date. The applicable purchase price will be determined prior to delivery of any
purchase notice.

 
In addition, on any date on which we have submitted a purchase notice to Aspire in the amount of 150,000 shares, we also have the right, in our sole

discretion, to present Aspire with a volume-weighted average price purchase notice, or a “VWAP Purchase Notice” directing Aspire to purchase an amount of
our common stock equal to a percentage (not to exceed 30%) of the aggregate shares of common stock traded on the next business day subject to a maximum
number of shares determined by us. The purchase price per share pursuant to such VWAP Purchase Notice shall be generally the lower of (i) the closing sale
price on the purchase date, and (ii) 95% of the VWAP of our common stock traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market on the purchase day.

 
In addition to the regular purchase and VWAP purchase describe above, we are also obligated to sell, and Aspire is obligated to purchase, $1 million of

our common stock upon the occurrence each of two milestone events, for total potential proceeds to us of $2 million.  The first event is the filing by us with
the FDA of a premarket notification (510k) covering the collection, preparation, and processing of nipple aspirate fluid specimens in regard to the ForeCYTE
Breast Health Test and the Mammary Aspiration Specimen Cytology Test device.  The purchase price for this milestone event will be equal to the lower of
$2.00 per share or the Regular Purchase Price on the date of the event.  The second milestone event is the clearance by the FDA of the foregoing 510(k)
application and the purchase price for the shares sold upon the occurrence of this milestone event is the lower of $4.00 per share or the Regular Purchase
Price on the date of the event.

 
We have the right to sell up to $25 million of our shares of Common Stock to Aspire Capital. We are obligated to register these shares with the SEC.

Also, we have agreed to initially register the Commitment Shares issued to Aspire Capital plus an additional 3,825,000 shares which we may sell to Aspire
Capital in the future. Under the rules of the NASDAQ Capital Market, in no event may we issue more than 19.99% of our shares outstanding (which is
approximately 3,528,199 shares based on 17,649,824 shares outstanding prior to the signing of the purchase agreement and is referred to as the “Exchange
Cap” ) under the purchase agreement unless we obtain stockholder approval or an exception pursuant to the rules of the NASDAQ Capital Market is obtained
to issue more than 19.99%. This limitation shall not apply if, at any time the Exchange Cap is reached and at all times thereafter, the average price paid for all
shares issued and sold under the purchase agreement is equal to or greater than $1.99, which was the closing sale price of our Common Stock on November 7,
2013. We are not required or permitted to issue any shares of Common Stock under the purchase agreement if such issuance would breach our obligations
under the rules or regulations of the NASDAQ Capital Market.

 
The number of Purchase Shares covered by, and the timing of, each purchase are determined by us, at our sole discretion. Provided, however, that the

milestone sales described above are mandatory.  We may deliver multiple purchase notices to Aspire from time to time during the term of the purchase
agreement, so long as the most recent purchase has been completed. There are no trading volume requirements or other restrictions under the purchase
agreement. Aspire has no right to require any sales from us, but is obligated to make purchases as directed in accordance with the purchase agreement.

 
The purchase agreement contains customary representations, warranties, covenants, closing conditions and indemnification and termination

provisions. The purchase agreement may be terminated by us at any time, at our discretion, without any cost or penalty. Aspire has covenanted not to cause or
engage in any manner whatsoever, any direct or indirect short selling or hedging of our common stock. We did not pay any additional amounts to reimburse or
otherwise compensate Aspire in connection with the transaction other than the commitment shares. There are no limitations on use of proceeds, financial or
business covenants, restrictions on future financings, rights of first refusal, participation rights, penalties or liquidated damages in the purchase agreement.

 
Our gross proceeds will depend on the purchase prices and the frequency of sales of shares to Aspire; provided, however, that the maximum aggregate

proceeds from sales of shares is $25 million. The actual maximum proceeds we receive from sales of stock to Aspire will depend on the price of our stock at
the time of sales to Aspire. Our delivery of purchase notices will be made subject to market conditions, in light of our anticipated capital needs from time to
time and under the limitations contained in the purchase agreement. We expect to use proceeds from sales of shares for general corporate purposes and
working capital requirements.

 
The issuance of the all shares to Aspire under the purchase agreement is exempt from registration under the Securities Act, pursuant to the exemption for

transactions by an issuer not involving any public offering under Section 4(2) of the Securities Act and Rule 506 of Regulation D promulgated thereunder.
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Revenue Sources

 
The commercialization of the ForeCYTE Test has provided us with two revenue sources: (i) sales-based revenue from the sale of the MASCT System

device and patient kits to distributors, physicians, breast health clinics, and mammography clinics and (ii) service, or use-based, revenue from the preparation
and interpretation of the NAF samples sent to our laboratory for analysis. The commercialization of the ArgusCYTE test provides only laboratory service
revenue.

 
Commencing in December 2011, we began to market the ForeCYTE Test to physicians, primarily obstetric-gynecologists, as well as breast health and

mammography clinics, for use in conjunction with other health screening examinations, including annual physical examinations and regularly scheduled
cervical Pap smears and mammograms. We plan to initially use regional specialty product distributors, with independent sales representatives specializing in
Women’s Health, to commercialize the ForeCYTE and ArgusCYTE Tests.

 
Commercial Lease Agreements

 
On September 29, 2010, the Company entered into a commercial lease agreement with CompleGen, Inc. for laboratory space located in Seattle, WA. The

lease provided for monthly rent of $3,658 and a security deposit of $3,658. The lease terms were from September 29, 2010 through March 31, 2011, at which
time the lease has converted to month to month. The monthly rent for the lease increased to $4,267 commencing January 2012. The lease was terminated in
December 2012, and the rental deposit was applied to the rent of the final month.

 
On March 4, 2011, the Company entered into a commercial lease agreement with Sanders Properties, LLC for office space located in Seattle, WA. The

lease provides for monthly rent of $1,100 and a security deposit of $1,500. The lease terms are from April 1, 2011 through March 31, 2014. For the nine
months and three months ended September 30, 2013, the Company incurred $8,800 and $3,300 of rent expense, respectively, for the lease.

 
On December 9, 2011, the Company entered into another commercial lease agreement with Fred Hutchinson Research Center for lab and office space

located in Seattle, WA. The lease provides for monthly rent of $16,395 for the period from February 24, 2012 to August 31, 2012, $19,923 for the period from
September 1, 2012 to August 31, 2013, and $20,548 for the period from September 1, 2013 to November 29, 2014. The security deposit of $32,789 was paid
in March 2012 and recorded as Security Deposit on the consolidated balance sheet. For the three months and nine months ended September 30, 2013, the
Company incurred $87,521 and $251,659 of rent expense, respectively, which included leasing office management expenses.

 
In July 2013, the Company entered into an agreement with ARE LLC (Alexandria) to lease additional office spaces in our existing building under a

separate lease agreement. The lease is from August 2013 through November 2014, and the gross rent is $ 4,800 per month.
 
We expect that these new laboratory facilities will be sufficient to meet our needs for the foreseeable future and we do not expect to need additional

laboratory space for at least the next 24 months. We may need to secure additional office space as we grow our sales and marketing force and add to our
administrative staff. Additional office space is readily available in our local market and we believe we can rent when necessary additional office space on
acceptable terms.

 
Legal Proceedings
 
On June 30, 2011, Robert Kelly, the Company’s former President, filed a counterclaim against the Company in an arbitration proceeding, alleging breach

of contract in connection with the termination of a consulting agreement between Mr. Kelly (dba Pitslayer LLC) and the Company that was entered into in
July 2010 in connection with his resignation from the Company as President and a director. The consulting agreement was terminated by the Company in
September 2010. Mr. Kelly seeks $450,000 in compensatory damages, which is the amount he claims would have been earned had the consulting agreement
been fulfilled to completion.

 
On December 11, 2012, Mr. Kelly filed a complaint in the United States District Court, Western Division of Washington seeking compensatory damages,

interest and attorneys’ fees related to the termination of Mr. Kelly’s consulting contract and the rescission of shares issued to him in July 2010 in connection
with his resignation from the Company as President and a director. The specific amount of damages sought is to be proven at trial and is not specified. On
July 8, 2013, the court granted the Company’s motion to compel arbitration of these claims and therefore this action was dismissed.
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On February 26, 2013, Mr. Victor Cononi filed a complaint in the United States District Court, Western Division of Washington seeking compensatory

damages, interest and attorneys’ fees related to the rescission of shares issued to him in July 2010 in connection with Mr. Kelly’s resignation from the
Company as President and a director. The specific amount of damages sought is to be proven at trial and is not specified. In August 2013, the court granted
the Company’s motion to compel arbitration of these claims and therefore this action was dismissed.

  
A hearing in the arbitration has been postponed pending certain procedures in the above Western Division action and may be delayed further to

accommodate other third party civil and federal criminal proceedings alleging securities and wire fraud that have been brought against Mr. Kelly with respect
to his prior employment and predating his service with the Company.

 
The Company is reasonably confident in its defenses to Mr. Kelly’s and Mr. Cononi’s claims. Consequently, no provision or liability has been recorded

for these claims as of June 30, 2013. However, it is at least reasonably possible that the Company’s estimate of liability may change in the near term. Any
payments by reason of an adverse determination in this matter will be charged to earnings in the period of determination.

 
On October 10, 2013, a putative securities class action complaint was filed in the United States District Court for the Western District of Washington

against us, certain of our directors and officers and the underwriters of our November 2012 initial public offering.  The complaint alleges that all defendants
violated Sections 11 and 12(a)(2), and that we and certain of our directors and officers violated Section 15, of the Securities Act by making false and
misleading statements and omissions in the offering’s registration statement, and that we and certain of our directors and officers violated Sections 10(b) and
20A of the Exchange Act and SEC Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder by making false and misleading statements and omissions in the registration statement
and in certain of our subsequent press releases and SEC filings with respect to our NAF specimen collection process, our ForeCYTE Breast Health Test and
our MASCT device.   This action seeks, on behalf of persons who purchased our common stock between November 8, 2012 and October 4, 2013, inclusive,
damages of an unspecific amount. 

 
We believe this complaint is without merit and plan to defend ourselves vigorously.   Failure by us to obtain a favorable resolution of the claims set forth

in the complaint could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.  Currently, the amount of such material
adverse effect cannot be reasonably estimated, and no provision or liability has been recorded for these claims as of September 30, 2013.  The costs
associated with defending and resolving the complaint and ultimate outcome cannot be predicted.  These matters are subject to inherent uncertainties and the
actual cost, as well as the distraction from the conduct of our business, will depend upon many unknown factors and management’s view of these may change
in the future.

 
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

 
Our management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our financial statements, which have been

prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, or GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires us
to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and expenses. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate these estimates and
judgments, including those described below. We base our estimates on our historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be
reasonable under the circumstances. These estimates and assumptions form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results and experiences may differ materially from these estimates.

 
While our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note 3 to our financial statements, we believe that the following accounting policies

are the most critical to aid you in fully understanding and evaluating our reported financial results and affect the more significant judgments and estimates
that we use in the preparation of our financial statements.
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Revenue Recognition
 
Overview
 
We will recognize product and service revenue in accordance with GAAP when the following overall fundamental criteria are met: (i) persuasive

evidence of an arrangement exists, (ii) delivery has occurred or the service has been performed, (iii) our price to the customer is fixed or determinable, and
(iv) collection is reasonably assured.

 
Product Revenue
 
We recognize revenue for sales of the MASCT kits and devices on an accrual basis for sales to distributors when the above four criteria are met. For sales

of MASCT kits and devices directly to physicians, the revenue is typically recognized upon receipt of cash as we have an insufficient sales history on which
to determine the collectability. Shipping documents and the completion of any customer acceptance requirements, when applicable, will be used to verify
product delivery. We will assess whether a price is fixed or determinable based upon the payment terms associated with the transaction and whether the sales
price is subject to refund or adjustment. For sales directly to physicians, once a history of sales and collectability has been established, we will recognize
revenue on an accrual basis with an offsetting reserve for doubtful accounts based on the history during the initial sales period.

 
Service Revenue
 
We record revenue for diagnostic testing on an accrual basis at the Medicare allowed and invoiced amount. Amounts invoiced above the Medicare

amount, namely non-Medicare, are not recognized on an accrual basis and instead are recognized on a cash basis as received. Diagnostic testing revenue at
the Medicare rate is recognized upon completion of the test, communication of results to the patient’s physician, and when collectability is reasonably
assured. Customer purchase orders and/or contracts will generally be used to determine the existence of an arrangement. Once the Company has historical
sales and can determine the proper amount to recognize as uncollectible, it will then begin to recognize the entire amount, both Medicare and non-Medicare
billing on an accrual basis, with an offsetting allowance for doubtful accounts recorded based on history. We estimate we will utilize the diagnostic testing
revenue history to determine a proper allowance for doubtful accounts beginning in 2014.

 
Accounts Receivable
 
Accounts receivable are recorded at net realizable value consisting of the carrying amount less allowance for doubtful accounts, as needed. The Company

assesses the collectability of accounts receivable based primarily upon the creditworthiness of the customer as determined by credit checks and analysis, as
well as the customer’s payment history. Management reviews the composition of accounts receivable and analyzes historical bad debts, customer
concentrations, customer credit worthiness, current economic trends, and changes in customer payment patterns to evaluate the adequacy of these reserves.
The Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts and bad debt expenses as of September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012 was $228,841 and $0,
respectively.   

 
Inventory
 
The Company’s inventories are stated at lower of cost or market. Cost is determined on a moving-average basis. Costs of inventories include purchase

and related costs incurred in delivering the products to their present location and condition. Market value is determined by reference to selling prices after the
balance sheet date or to management’s estimates based on prevailing market conditions. Inherent in the lower of cost or market calculation are several
significant judgments based on a review of the aging of the inventory, inventory movement of products, economic conditions, and replacement costs. Because
the sales price of the MASCT System was substantially lower than its cost for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and since inception through
September 30, 2013, resulting in the net realizable value of the MASCT System being determined at zero as of the balance sheet dates through taking the
average sales price subtracted by selling expenses per unit, $0 and $121,910 of loss on reduction of inventory to the lower of cost or market was assessed and
recorded as of September 30, 2013 and since inception through September 30, 2013, respectively. Additionally, management periodically evaluates the
composition of its inventories at least quarterly to identify slow-moving and obsolete inventories to determine if valuation allowance is required. As of
September 30, 2013, we had no inventory.
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The Company provides, either directly or through distributors, the ForeCYTE testing specimen collection kits to doctors with our MASCT System for

doctors to collect specimens that are returned to the Company for diagnostic analysis. These collection kits are considered part of the MASCT System. During
the initial marketing phase in 2012, the Company distributed the kits to customers at no cost and bundled them with the MASCT System, and has not
intended to deem the kits as a primary product line due to their nominal cost and value per unit. As a result, the kits are immediately expensed and recorded as
selling expense upon purchasing of the kits. 

 
Use of Estimates
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported

amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue
and expenses during the reporting period. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates.

 
Intangible Assets
 
Intangible assets consist of intellectual property and software acquired. At least annually, we evaluate purchased intangibles for impairment whenever

events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. An impairment loss would be recognized when
estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition are less than its carrying amount. Estimating
future cash flows related to an intangible asset involves significant estimates and assumptions. If our assumptions are not correct, there could be an
impairment loss or, in the case of a change in the estimated useful life of the asset, a change in amortization expense.

 
Share-Based Payments
 
In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or the FASB, issued the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, or SFAS, No.

123(R), “Share-Based Payment,” which replaces SFAS No. 123 and supersedes APB Opinion No. 25. SFAS No. 123(R) is now included in the FASB’s ASC
Topic 718, “Compensation — Stock Compensation.” Under SFAS No. 123(R), companies are required to measure the compensation costs of share-based
compensation arrangements based on the grant-date fair value and recognize the costs in the financial statements over the period during which employees or
independent contractors are required to provide services. Share-based compensation arrangements include stock options and warrants, restricted share plans,
performance-based awards, share appreciation rights and employee share purchase plans. In March 2005, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107,
or SAB 107, which expresses views of the staff regarding the interaction between SFAS No. 123(R) and certain SEC rules and regulations and provides the
staff’s views regarding the valuation of share-based payment arrangements for public companies. SFAS No. 123(R) permits public companies to adopt its
requirements using one of two methods. On April 14, 2005, the SEC adopted a new rule amending the compliance dates for SFAS No. 123(R). Companies
may elect to apply this statement either prospectively, or on a modified version of retrospective application under which financial statements for prior periods
are adjusted on a basis consistent with the pro forma disclosures required for those periods under SFAS No. 123.

 
We have fully adopted the provisions of FASB ASC 718 and related interpretations as provided by SAB 107. As such, compensation cost is measured on

the date of grant as the fair value of the share-based payments. Such compensation amounts, if any, are amortized over the respective vesting periods of the
option grant.

 
The amended employment agreement with the Chief Executive Officer, entered into on July 22, 2010, granted options to purchase 250,000 shares (or

565,830 shares prior to the reverse stock-split on September 28, 2010) at a price of $5.00 per share, in consideration of his service to the Company. Of these
options, 25% (or 62,500 shares) vested on December 31, 2010 with the remaining 75% (or 187,500 shares) to vest in equal quarterly installments over the
next three years so long as the executive remains employed with the company. These options have five-year contractual terms.

 
The amended employment agreement with the Chief Scientific Officer, entered into on July 22, 2010, granted options to purchase 100,000 shares (or

226,332 shares prior to the reverse stock-split on September 28, 2010) at a price of $5.00 per share in consideration of her service to the Company. Of these
options, 25% (or 25,000 shares) vested on December 31, 2010 with the remaining 75% (or 75,000 shares) to vest in equal quarterly installments over the next
three years so long as the executive remains employed with the company. These options have five-year contractual terms. 
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On April 4, 2011, 45,000 non-qualified stock options were granted under the 2010 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) to Dr. Tim Hunkapiller

for being a member of the Company’s Scientific Advisory Board and consulting services to be provided to the Company, at an exercise price of $1.25 per
share. These options have a ten-year contractual term and shall vest as follows:

 
(

i)
11,250 option shares shall vest ninety (90) days after the date of grant;

 
(ii) 11,250 option shares shall vest one hundred and eighty (180) days after the date of grant;
 
(iii) 11,250 option shares shall vest two hundred and seventy (270) days after the date of grant; and
 
(iv) 11,250 option shares shall vest three hundred and sixty (360) days after the date of grant.
 

On September 1, 2011, 219,000 incentive stock options were granted under the Plan to employees and officers as part of their employment agreements, at
an exercise price of $1.25 per share. These options have a ten-year contractual term and shall vest and become exercisable as follows:

 
(

i)
twenty-five percent (25%) of the underlying shares on the first anniversary of the date of grant; and

 
(ii) one-forty eighth (1/48) of the underlying shares monthly thereafter.
  

On September 1, 2011, 200,000 non-qualified stock options were granted under the Plan to non-employee directors for services to be provided to the
Company, at an exercise price of $1.25 per share. These options have a ten-year contractual term and shall vest and become exercisable as follows:

 
(

i)
80,000 option shares shall vest on September 1, 2011;

 
(ii) 30,000 option shares shall vest on December 1, 2011;
 
(iii) 30,000 option shares shall vest on March 1, 2012;
 
(iv) 30,000 option shares shall vest on June 1, 2012; and
 
(v) 30,000 option shares shall vest on September 1, 2012.
     

On April 30, 2012, 19,757 non-qualified stock options were granted under the Plan to non-employee directors for serving as directors of the Company, at
an exercise price of $6.00 per share. These options have a ten-year contractual term and shall vest and become exercisable in full immediately as of the grant
date.

 
Results of Operations

 
Three Months and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2013 and 2012

 
Revenue and Cost of Goods Sold.  For the three months ended September 30, 2013, revenue totaled $76,597, consisting of $72,187 diagnostic testing

service revenue from our ForeCYTE testing services and $4,410 in product sales revenue from sales of ForeCYTE kits and MASCT Systems. This represents
a decrease of $28, 979, or 27 %, from the total revenue of $105,576 for the three months ended September 30, 2012. Revenue for the nine months ended
September 30, 2013 totaled $585,345, consisting of $361,905 in diagnostic testing and $223,440 in product sales, an increase of $201,959, or 53%, from the
total revenue of $383,386 in the same period in 2012. The growth in revenue is mainly due to $205,590 in product sales to Millennium for the initial purchase
of 10,000 ForeCYTE kits.

 
Cost of revenue totaled $25,938 and $314,562 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, compared to $9,000 and $29,985 in the same

periods in 2012. The increase in cost of revenue is primarily attributable to cost of product sales to Millennium. Since the inventory of MASCT System was
recorded at zero net realizable value as a result of the lower of cost or market analysis performed at December 31, 2012, no corresponding cost of goods sold
was recorded for the sales of MASCT System during 2013.
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For the three months ended September 30, 2013, gross profit totaled $50,659, compared to $90,499 profit in the same period in 2012. For the nine months

ended September 30, 2013, gross profit totaled $270,783 ($286,012 gross profit on diagnostic testing and $15,229 loss on product sales), compared to
$323,517 in the same period in 2012. Loss on reduction of inventory to lower of cost or market was $0 for the nine months ended September 30, 2013. Our
MASCT System is sometimes sold at a price substantially lower than its cost as is customary for laboratories that supply specimen collection kits. For these
reasons, the manufacturing cost allocated to each inventory unit is high.

 
Operating Expenses. For the three months ended September 30, 2013, total operating expenses were $3, 552,556 consisting of G&A expenses of $2,

858,027, research and development expenses of $321,111, and selling expenses of $373,418, representing an increase of $2, 326,385, or 190% from
$1,226,171 in the same period in 2012, consisting of G&A expenses of $548,108, research and development expenses of $590,359, and selling expenses of
$87,704. For the nine months ended September 30, 2013, total operating expenses were $8,297,460, consisting of G&A expenses of $6,600,819, research and
development expenses of $731,258, and selling expenses of $965,383, an increase of $4,610,291,or 125% , from total operating expenses of $3,687,169 in
nine months ended September 30, 2012.

 
The Company distributes the kits to customers at no cost and bundles them with the MASCT System and has not intended to deem the kits as a primary

product line due to their nominal cost and value per unit. We expect that our G&A and selling expenses continue to increase in the foreseeable future, and that
if we successfully launch the MASCT System and our related laboratory service offerings, we would also begin to incur additional sales and marketing
expenses as we continue building a regional, and ultimately national, sales force.  The Company also expected to incur additional sales and marketing
expenses when if and when it receives additional FDA 510(k) clearance for its ForeCYTE Test and re-launches the test.

 
General and Administrative Expenses. G&A expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2013 were $2,858,027, an increase of $2, 267,668, or

384%, from $590,359 in the same period in 2012. The G&A expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2013 consisted primarily of $581,591 in
salaries and bonus expense, $155,558 in legal and regulatory expense, $193,671 in consulting expense, $435,243 in estimated recall expenses ($402,840 in
contingent liabilities and $32,403 in actual expenses), $228,841 in bad debt expenses, $67,141 in travel expense, $88,263 in insurance expense, and $248,759
in marketing expenses.  G&A expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 were $6,600,819, an increase of $4,704,565, or 248%, from
$1,896,254 for the nine months ended 2012. The G&A expenses for the nine months ended September 2013 consisted of $1,548,899 in salaries and bonus
expense, $428,872 in capital raising fees, $622,581 in legal and regulatory expenses, $646,548 in consulting expense, $435,243 in estimated recall expenses
($402,840 in contingent liabilities and $32,403 in actual expenses), $228,841 in bad debt expenses, $135,686 in travel expense, $247,774 in insurance
expense, $250,109 in marketing expenses, and $462,029 in Board of Directors annual fees primarily related to expenses associated with stock option grants
for service on the Board in 2012 and 2013.

 
G&A expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2012 were $590,359 which  primarily consisted of $23,357 in salaries and bonus expense,

$310,301 in legal expenses, $49,579 in consulting expense,  and $19,494 in insurance expense, G&A expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2012
were $1,896,254 and primarily consisted of $224,521 in salaries and bonus expense, $883,399 in legal expenses, $151,245 in consulting expense, $25,541 in
travel expense, $53,584 in insurance expense, and $38,500 in Board of Directors annual fees.

 
The increase in 2013 G&A expenses over 2012 was primarily attributable to an increase in administrative staff, an increase in consulting and professional

fees related to regulatory matters and investor relations, an increased cost of insurance, estimated product recall expenses, bad debt expenses and an increased
cost of fees to our non-employee directors resulting from the estimated value of options granted in 2013 for service in 2012 and 2013. We expect our G&A
expenses will continue to grow as we hire additional administrative and manufacturing personnel to continue our launch of the MASCT System, and in
particular when we re-launch our ForeCYTE Test after receiving additional FDA clearance, and our other products under development and as we incur
additional costs associated with being a publicly traded company.
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Research and Development Expenses. Research and Development expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2013 were $321,111, a decrease of

$226,997, or 41%, from $548,108 for the three months ended September 30, 2012. R&D expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 were
$731,258, a decrease of $777,686, or 52%, $1,508,944 from the same period in 2012.  The decrease in R&D expenses over the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2012 is attributed to the completion of the development of the MASCT System for the national launch in 2013. We expect that our R&D
expenses will increase as we add additional full time employees and incur additional costs to continue the development of our products and services under
development.

  
Selling Expenses. Selling expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2013 were $373,418, an increase of $285,714, or 326%, from $87,704 for

the three months ended September 30, 2012. Selling expense for the three months ended September 30, 2013 consisted primarily of $52,237 in selling and
marketing professional fees, $205,875 in salaries, $22,500 in advertising, and $92,349 in patient collection kits provided to physicians without charge. Selling
expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 were $965,383, an increase of $683,412, or 242%, from $281,971 for the same period in 2012.
Selling expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 consisted primarily of $384,893 in selling and marketing professional fees, $405,474 in
salaries, $81,587 in advertising, and $92,349 in patient collection kits provided to physicians without charge. Selling expenses increased as a result of
increased sales and marketing expenses paid to one of our distributors, and increased salaries and other selling and marketing expenses related to the national
launch of ForeCYTE.

 
Liquidity and Capital Resources

 
We have a history of operating losses as we have focused our efforts on raising capital and building the MASCT System. The report of our independent

auditors issued on our consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 expresses substantial doubt about our
ability to continue as a going concern. In 2011, we were successful in raising net proceeds of $5.7 million through a private placement in order to fund the
growth of our operations and product development. In November 2012 we were successful in our initial public offering and raising net proceeds of
approximately $3.5 million.

 
On March 27, 2013 we entered into a stock purchase agreement with Aspire Capital Fund, LLC, which provides that, upon the terms and subject to the

conditions and limitations set forth therein, Aspire is committed to purchase up to an aggregate of $30 million of shares of our common stock over the three-
year term of the agreement. Under the agreement, Aspire purchased $1,000,000 of our common stock on March 27, 2013 for $12 per share and since that date
through November 7, 2013 Aspire has purchased an additional 2,150,000 shares of our common stock for a total aggregate purchase price of $10,303,745. 
On November 8, 2013, we terminated this stock purchase agreement and entered into a new agreement with Aspire which provides that we may sell common
stock to Aspire under the terms and subject to the conditions and limitations set forth therein.  Under the new agreement, Aspire is committed to purchase up
to an aggregate of $25 million of shares of our common stock over the 30 month term of the new agreement.  One condition to utilizing the new agreement
and selling stock to Aspire is that we file a registration statement with the SEC covering the resale of the shares to be sold to Aspire and that the registration
statement be declared and remain effective.

 
Our ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on our obtaining additional adequate capital to fund additional operating losses until we become

profitable. If we are unable to obtain adequate capital, we could be forced to cease operations.
 

Cash Flows
 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2013, we incurred a net loss of $8,026,984. Net cash used in operating activities was $6,182,060, net cash used

in investing activities was $400,674 and net cash provided by financing activities was $12,551,098. For the for the nine months ended September 30, 2012,
we incurred a net loss of $3,374,249, net cash used in operating activities was $1,967,626, net cash used in investing actives was $0 and net cash used by
financing activities was $475,375.

 
Funding Requirements

 
We expect to incur substantial expenses and generate ongoing operating losses for the foreseeable future as we prepare for the scale-up manufacturing and

ongoing launch of the MASCT System, complete the development of and launch the FullCYTE and NextCYTE Tests, and build and operate our planned
diagnostics laboratory in the Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center. We expect our existing capital resources as of the date of this report to be sufficient to
fund our planned operations for at least the next six to ten months. To fund our operations for at least the next 12 months under our current business plan, we
estimate that we would need between $2 million and $5 million of additional capital. If we are unable to raise this amount of capital, however, we could be
forced to curtail or cease operations. Our future capital uses and requirements depend on numerous forward-looking factors. These factors include the
following:
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 · the time and funds needed to complete our recall, receive an additional 510(k) clearance from the FDA and to re-launch our ForeCYTE

Test;
   
 · the time and funds needed to complete the development and manufacturing of the ForeCYTE Test devices and Microcatheter Systems

and any necessary regulatory clearances;
  

 · the expense associated with building a network of  sales representatives to market the ForeCYTE System and ArgusCYTE Test; and
 

 · the degree and speed of patient and physician acceptance of our products and the degree to which third-party payors approve the
ForeCYTE and ArgusCYTE Tests for reimbursement.

 
Since inception (April 30, 2009) through September 30, 2013, we have generated $1,068,687 in revenue. We do not expect to generate significant revenue

until we are able to manufacture and launch the MASCT System more broadly. We expect our continuing operating losses to result in increases in cash used
in operations over at least the next year. Although we expect our existing resources as of the date of this report, to be sufficient to fund our planned operations
for at least the next six to ten months, we may require additional funds earlier than we currently expect to successfully commercialize the ForeCYTE System.
Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with the development and commercialization of the ForeCYTE Test and our services, we are
unable to estimate the amounts of increased capital outlays and operating expenditures associated with our current and anticipated research and development
activities and commercialization efforts.

 
Additional funding may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. In addition, the terms of any financing may adversely affect the holdings or

the rights of our stockholders. For example, if we raise additional funds by issuing equity securities or by selling debt securities, if convertible, further
dilution to our existing stockholders would result. To the extent our capital resources are insufficient to meet our future capital requirements, we will need to
finance our future cash needs through public or private equity offerings, collaboration agreements, debt financings or licensing arrangements.

 
If adequate funds are not available, we may be required to terminate, significantly modify or delay our development programs, reduce our planned

commercialization efforts, or obtain funds through collaborators that may require us to relinquish rights to our technologies or product candidates that we
might otherwise seek to develop or commercialize independently. Further, we may elect to raise additional funds even before we need them if we believe the
conditions for raising capital are favorable.

 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

 
We do not currently have, nor have we ever had, any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as entities often referred to

as structured finance or special purpose entities, established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or
limited purposes. In addition, we do not engage in trading activities involving non-exchange traded contracts.

 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements

 
The Company has adopted all recently issued accounting pronouncements that management believes to be applicable to the Company. The adoption of

these accounting pronouncements, including those not yet effective, is not anticipated to have a material effect on the financial position or results of
operations of the Company.

 
 

38



 
ITEM 3. QUANTATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

 
Not applicable.
 

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
 
Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure

controls and procedures as of September 30, 2013. The term “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (“Exchange Act”), means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported, within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without
limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the
Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the company’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed
and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-
benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of September 30, 2013, our
principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that, as of such date, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective at
the reasonable assurance level.

 
No change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) occurred during the

quarter ended September 30, 2013 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
 

PART II OTHER INFORMATION
 

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
 

On June 30, 2011, Robert Kelly, the Company’s former President, filed a counterclaim against the Company in an arbitration proceeding, alleging breach
of contract in connection with the termination of a consulting agreement between Mr. Kelly (dba Pitslayer LLC) and the Company that was entered into in
July 2010 in connection with his resignation from the Company as President and a director. The consulting agreement was terminated by the Company in
September 2010. Mr. Kelly seeks $450,000 in compensatory damages, which is the amount he claims would have been earned had the consulting agreement
been fulfilled to completion.

 
On December 11, 2012, Mr. Kelly filed a complaint in the United States District Court, Western Division of Washington seeking compensatory damages,

interest and attorneys’ fees related to the termination of Mr. Kelly’s consulting contract and the rescission of shares issued to him in July 2010 in connection
with his resignation from the Company as President and a director. The specific amount of damages sought is to be proven at trial and is not specified. On
July 8, 2013 the court granted the Company’s motion to compel arbitration of these claims and therefore this action was dismissed.

 
On February 26, 2013, Mr. Victor Cononi filed a complaint in the United States District Court, Western Division of Washington seeking compensatory

damages, interest and attorneys’ fees related to the rescission of shares issued to him in July 2010 in connection with Mr. Kelly’s resignation from the
Company as President and a director. The specific amount of damages sought is to be proven at trial and is not specified.  In August 2013, the court granted
the Company’s motion to compel arbitration of these claims and therefore this action was dismissed.

 
A hearing in the arbitration has been postponed pending certain procedures in the above Western Division action and may be delayed further to

accommodate other third party civil and federal criminal proceedings alleging securities and wire fraud that have been brought against Mr. Kelly with respect
to his prior employment and predating his service with the Company.

 
The Company is reasonably confident in its defenses to Mr. Kelly’s and Mr. Cononi’s claims. Consequently, no provision or liability has been recorded

for these claims as of September 30, 2013. However, it is at least reasonably possible that the Company’s estimate of liability may change in the near term.
Any payments by reason of an adverse determination in this matter will be charged to earnings in the period of determination.
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On October 10, 2013, a putative securities class action complaint was filed in the United States District Court for the Western District of Washington

against us, certain of our directors and officers and the underwriters of our November 2012 initial public offering.  The complaint alleges that all defendants
violated Sections 11 and 12(a)(2), and that we and certain of our directors and officers violated Section 15, of the Securities Act by making false and
misleading statements and omissions in the offering’s registration statement, and that we and certain of our directors and officers violated Sections 10(b) and
20A of the Exchange Act and SEC Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder by making false and misleading statements and omissions in the registration statement
and in certain of our subsequent press releases and SEC filings with respect to our NAF specimen collection process, our ForeCYTE Breast Health Test and
our MASCT device.   This action seeks, on behalf of persons who purchased our common stock between November 8, 2012 and October 4, 2013, inclusive,
damages of an unspecific amount. 

 
We believe this complaint is without merit and plan to defend ourselves vigorously.   Failure by us to obtain a favorable resolution of the claims set

forth in the complaint could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.  Currently, the amount of such
material adverse effect cannot be reasonably estimated, and no provision or liability has been recorded for these claims as of September 30, 2013. The costs
associated with defending and resolving the complaint and ultimate outcome cannot be predicted.  These matters are subject to inherent uncertainties and the
actual cost, as well as the distraction from the conduct of our business, will depend upon many unknown factors and management’s view of these may change
in the future.
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ITEM 1A.  RISK FACTORS 

 
RISK FACTORS
 
A purchase of our shares of Common Stock is an investment in our securities and involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the

following information about these risks, together with the other information contained in this report, before purchasing our securities. If any of the following
risks actually occur, our business, financial condition and results of operations would likely suffer. In that case, the market price of the Common Stock could
decline, and you may lose part or all of your investment in our company. Additional risks of which we are not presently aware or that we currently believe are
immaterial may also harm our business and results of operations.

 
Risks Relating to our Business
 
We have only a limited operating history, and, as such, an investor cannot assess our profitability or performance based on past results.
 
We are a development stage company, with operations beginning in December 2008 around acquiring the MASCT System patent rights and assignments

and the FDA clearance for marketing, which was completed in January 2009. We were incorporated in Delaware in April 2009 and our operations to date
have consisted primarily of securing manufacturing for the MASCT and the Duct Microcatheter Systems, establishing our CLIA-certified laboratory,
validating the laboratory developed tests we use in the ForeCYTE and ArgusCYTE tests, conducting research and development on the FullCYTE and
NextCYTE tests, securing distribution partners and beginning the commercialization of our products. We did not begin the national launch of the ForeCYTE
test until January 2013 and we subsequently recalled that product in October 2013. We will require significant additional capital to achieve our business
objectives, and the inability to obtain such financing on acceptable terms or at all could lead to closure of the business.

 
Our revenue and income potential is uncertain. Any evaluation of our business and prospects must be considered in light of these factors and the risks and

uncertainties often encountered by companies in the development stage. Some of these risks and uncertainties include our ability to:
 

 · execute our business plan and commercialization strategy, including with respect to the assets we acquired from
Acueity Healthcare, Inc.;

 · work with contract manufacturers to produce the MASCT and Microcatheter Systems in commercial quantities;
 · create brand recognition;
 · respond effectively to competition;
 · manage growth in operations;
 · respond to changes in applicable government regulations and legislation;
 · access additional capital when required;
 · obtain regulatory clearances in a timely manner and maintain those clearances, including for our lead product the

ForeCYTE Breast Health Test which was recalled in October 2013 and for which we plan to seek an additional regulatory
clearance;

 · sell our products and service at the prices currently expected; and
 · attract and retain key personnel.

 
Our independent auditors have issued a report questioning our ability to continue as a going concern.
 
The report of our independent auditors contained in our consolidated financial statements explains that we have not yet established an ongoing source of

revenue sufficient to cover operating costs and allow us to continue as a going concern. Our ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on obtaining
adequate capital to fund operating losses until we become profitable. If we are unable to obtain adequate capital, we may be unable to expand our product
offerings or geographic reach and we could be forced to cease operations.
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Anticipated liquidity issues in the next six to ten months.
 
For the year ended December 31, 2012, we generated $483,342 in revenue from the sale of our products and services and we incurred a net loss of

$5,079,851.  For the nine months ended September 30, 2013, we generated $585,345 in revenue from the sale of our products and services and incurred a net
loss of $8,026,984.  Through September 30, 2013, we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $17,758,642. As of the date of this report, we expect that
our existing resources will be sufficient to fund our planned operations for at least the next six to ten months. We have not yet established an ongoing source
of revenue sufficient to cover our operating costs and allow us to continue as a going concern. Our only source of revenue has historically been from our
ForeCYTE Test, which was recalled commencing in October 2013 and will not be re-launched without an additional regulatory clearance. Our ability to
continue as a going concern is dependent on obtaining adequate capital to fund operating losses until we become profitable. We may not achieve profitability
from the sale of our products and services in the next six to ten months and other sources of capital may not be available when we need them or on acceptable
terms. For example, we may not be able to raise capital by selling Common Stock to Aspire because our stock price may not be at the minimum $0.25 price
per share required under our agreement with Aspire, or the Aspire registration statement may not become and remain effective. If we are unable to raise in a
timely fashion the amount of capital we anticipate needing, from Aspire or otherwise, we would be forced to curtail or cease operations.

 
If we are not successful in obtaining, or are delayed in obtaining, a new 510(k) clearance from the FDA for our ForeCYTE Test, our operations

will be significantly and adversely affected.
 
On October 4, 2013, we announced that we commenced a voluntary recall of our ForeCYTE Breast Health Test devices (also known as the Mammary

Aspiration Specimen Cytology Test (MASCT)) and that we are planning to pursue an additional 510(k) clearance from the FDA before we market, sell or
distribute this test.  We do not expect to generate revenue unless and until we obtain this clearance from the FDA.  We may not obtain clearance from the
FDA in a timely manner or at all for a number of reasons, including:

 
 · we may be required to submit additional clinical data that we do not have and cannot obtain in a timely manner;
   
 · the FDA may not agree with the scope or content of our proposed protocol and study design, including our

identification and analysis of the devices and processes we are using as predicates;
   
 · the FDA may request that we submit additional information, data and studies, either prospectively or

retrospectively, related to the collection and preparation of NAF samples, or the processing and analysis of NAF samples at
our laboratory or at other laboratories, which we may not be able to obtain in a timely manner or at all.  For example, in
connection with a previous 510(k) that we submitted the FDA requested that we provide data on NAF processing by multiple
third party laboratories and we were not able to provide that information;

   
 · although we plan to have a meeting with the FDA before submitting our 510(k) to them, any input from the FDA at

that meeting is not binding on the FDA and the FDA can raise objections to our 510(k) submission that were not raised at the
pre-submission meeting;

   
 · review by the FDA of our proposed 510(k) submission could be delayed because the FDA has up to 90 days to

review the application, which time period is extended while we are responding to any FDA questions;
   
 · if we conclude that the FDA is likely not to clear our 510(k) submission for any reason we may decide to withdraw

the submission and file a new 510(k) notification.  For example, we previously filed a 510(k) for the MASCT System which
we withdrew on the 89th day of its pendency because the FDA requested information that we could not provide in a timely
fashion;

   
 · the FDA might conclude that we need to submit a pre-market application, or PMA, rather than a 510(k), which

would require significantly more time and expense;
   
 · our responses to the warning letter we received by the FDA in February 2013 could raise questions by the FDA that

could impact their review of our 510(k) submission;
   
 · the FDA has indicated that the processing of NAF samples by our laboratory constitutes an in-vitro diagnostic

testing service rather than a laboratory developed test and is subject to their regulatory authority.  We have therefore included
our laboratory processing within the scope of our 510(k) submission; however, the FDA could require additional
information, data and studies related to this processing by our laboratory or other laboratories which we may not be able to
provide in a timely or cost effective manner;
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 · we anticipate that the FDA will again inspect our facilities in connection with the warning letter we received in

February 2013 and they could make observations resulting from that inspection that could adversely impact our 510(k)
submission.

 
If we don’t obtain the additional 510(k) clearance for the ForeCYTE test in a timely manner for the above or any other reasons, our operations will be

significantly and adversely affected. 
 
The scope of any 510(k) clearance that we might receive from the FDA covering our ForeCYTE Test could be more limited than expected,

potentially limiting our ability to market the test.
 
Even if we are successful in obtaining the 510(k) clearance in a timely manner, the scope of the clearance for our device could be more limited than

expected and could limit our ability to market our ForeCYTE Test.  For example, the indication for use for our MASCT System that was cleared in 2003
states that the “MASCT device is intended for use in the collection of nipple aspirate fluid for laboratory cytological testing.  The collected fluid can be used
in the determination and/or differentiation of normal versus premalignant versus malignant cells.”  The new indication for use that we intend to clear with the
FDA is potentially more limited in that it provides that the “ForeCYTE  Breast Health Test is intended for use in the collection, preparation, and processing of
nipple aspirate fluid (NAF) specimens for cytological testing.  The processing of specimens and the cytological testing are performed in a single laboratory. 
This indication for use could be further limited while we pursue our additional 510(k) clearances.

 
Our business may be adversely affected if the manner in which our ForeCYTE Test may ultimately be marketed is narrower than the manner in which the

MASCT System was cleared and marketed.
 
The voluntary recall and market withdrawal of the ForeCYTE Test, and any future recalls and/or product withdrawals, will significantly and

adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.
 
The manufacturing of medical devices involves an inherent risk that our products may prove to be defective and cause a health risk even after regulatory

clearances have been obtained.  Medical devices may also be modified after regulatory clearance is obtained to such an extent that additional regulatory
clearance is necessary before the device can be further marketed.  In these events, we may voluntarily implement a recall or market withdrawal or may be
required to do so by a regulatory authority. 

 
On October 4, 2013 we announced a nation-wide voluntary recall of the ForeCYTE Test and MASCT device to address concerns raised by the FDA in a

warning letter we received in February 2013 in which the FDA raised concerns about (1) the current instructions for use (IFU); (2) certain promotional claims
used to market these devices; and (3) the need for FDA clearance for certain changes made to the Nipple Aspirate Fluid (NAF) specimen collection process
identified in the current IFU. These devices are being removed from the market and will not be re-introduced unless or until a new 510(k) is obtained.

 
The October 2013 recall has significantly and adversely impacted our business and will continue to significantly and adversely impact our business in a

number of ways, including:
 

 · the recall could damage our reputation with consumers, healthcare providers, distributors and other business
partners;

   
 · we have estimated that the direct costs associated with the recall will be approximately $435,243.  However, the

direct and indirect costs could be higher than expected;
       
 · virtually all of our revenues were generated from the ForeCYTE products and services.  We do not expect to

generate any significant revenue during the recall and while we are seeking additional regulatory clearance for the
ForeCYTE Test;

       
 · on October 10, 2013 a securities class action suit was filed against us, certain of our officers and directors and

others in U.S. and Federal District Court for the Western District of Washington.  Additional complaints could be filed
against us.  We believe these suits are without merit and we will vigorously defend them; however, the defense will be costly
and could consume significant management time and resources and the ultimate outcome cannot be predicted;
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For the above and other reasons, we will also face risks and uncertainties if and when we re-launch ForeCYTE and our other products and services in the

pipeline.  We will need to incur additional expenses re-building our brand and awareness, developing new marketing strategies and materials, and re-engaging
our partners and customers.

 
The ForeCYTE recall, and any future recall, could also harm our ability to market our other products and services in the pipeline, because of confusion

over the scope of the recall, perceived risks or other concerns. A product recall also could lead to legal claims against us, regulatory agency inspections or
other regulatory actions.

 
Failure to raise additional capital as needed could adversely affect us and our ability to grow.
 
We expect to spend substantial amounts of capital to:
 

 · complete the recall of the ForeCYTE Test and pursue an additional 510(k) clearance for the device;
   
 · launch and commercialize the ForeCYTE and ArgusCYTE Tests, including the manufacture of the device in commercial

quantities and building a direct sales force and an independent distributor sales force to address certain markets;
 

 · maintain laboratory facilities for our testing and analytical services, including necessary testing equipment;
 

 · continue our research and development activities to advance our product pipeline, including our intraductal treatment
program; and

 
 · develop and commercialize the assets we recently acquired from Acueity Healthcare, Inc.

  
We also expect that we may need to raise additional funds if we encounter delays or problems in the production of the ForeCYTE device in commercial

quantities, or the establishment of a larger sales force. As of September 30, 2013, we had cash and cash equivalents of $7,693,561. We will need substantial
additional capital to continue to operate our business.

 
Our November 8, 2013 purchase agreement with Aspire has a number of limitations on our ability to sell shares to them; for example, we must first have

a registration statement covering the shares declared effective by the SEC and the registration statement must remain effective. Any sales of shares to Aspire
will be limited by market conditions and the number of shares that we may be able to sell will be reduced if the volume of our Common Stock declines. We
have not identified other sources for additional funding and cannot be certain that additional funding will be available on acceptable terms, or at all. If we are
unable to raise additional capital in sufficient amounts or on acceptable terms, we may have to significantly delay, scale back or discontinue the
commercialization of our products and services or our research and development activities. Furthermore, such lack of funds may inhibit our ability to respond
to competitive pressures or unanticipated capital needs, or may force us to reduce operating expenses, which could significantly harm the business and
development of operations. Because our independent auditors have expressed doubt as to our ability to continue as a “going concern,” as reported in their
report on our financial statements, our ability to raise capital may be severely hampered. Similarly, our ability to borrow any such capital may be more
expensive and difficult to obtain until this “going concern” issue is eliminated.  

 
We have a history of operating losses and we expect to continue to incur losses in the future.
 
We have a limited operating history and have incurred total net losses of approximately $17,758,892  from our incorporation in April 2009 through

September 30, 2013. We have received $483,342 in revenue as of December 31, 2012 and $585,345 in revenues for the nine months ended September 30,
2013.  We do not expect to generate any revenues until we can obtain an additional regulatory clearance for our lead product, the ForeCYTE Test.
Additionally, we will continue to incur further losses in connection with inventory costs for our medical test products, marketing and sales expenses in
launching our products and services, research and development costs for additional tests, and the maintenance of our CLIA-certified laboratory. For example,
the sales price of our MASCT System has historically been substantially lower than its cost because the MASCT System is currently manufactured only in
small quantities and because our current marketing strategy is to attempt to quickly penetrate the market of the products and services offered by the Company
by offering the MASCT System at a price substantially lower than its cost and to offer rebates of the purchase price to attract market awareness. This practice
of selling our MASCT System substantially below its cost and offering rebates negatively impacts our profitability. Although we expect that the cost to
manufacture our MASCT System will be substantially lower when we increase the volume of production for post-trial commercial launch and once we have
been more successful in penetrating the market, if our expectation is not realized we may not be able to generate significant revenue nor achieve profitability.
Accordingly, we may never achieve profitability.
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Our business may be affected by legal proceedings.
 
We have been in the past, and may become in the future, involved in legal proceedings.  For example, on October 10, 2013 a securities class action

complaint was filed against us, certain of our directors and officers and the underwriters from our initial public offering.  This action was purportedly brought
on behalf of a class of persons and entities who purchased our common stock between November 8, 2012 and October 4, 2013, inclusive. Lead plaintiff has
not been identified as of the date of this report.  The complaint alleges that the defendants made false or misleading statements.  Although we believe this
complaint is without merit and plan to defend it vigorously, the costs associated with defending and resolving the complaint and ultimate outcome cannot be
predicted.

 
You should carefully review and consider the various disclosures we make in our reports filed with the SEC regarding legal matters that may affect our

business. Civil and criminal litigation is inherently unpredictable and outcomes can result in excessive verdicts, fines, penalties and/or injunctive relief that
affect how we operate our business. Monitoring and defending against legal actions, whether or not meritorious, and considering stockholder demands, is
time-consuming for our management and detracts from our ability to fully focus our internal resources on our business activities. In addition, legal fees and
costs incurred in connection with such activities may be significant. We cannot predict with certainty the outcome of any legal proceedings in which we
become involved and it is difficult to estimate the possible costs to us stemming from these matters. Settlements and decisions adverse to our interests in legal
actions could result in the payment of substantial amounts and could have a material adverse effect on our cash flow, results of operations and financial
position.

 
Raising funds by issuing equity or debt securities could dilute the value of the common stock and impose restrictions on our working capital. 
 
If we were to raise additional capital by issuing equity securities, including sales of shares of Common Stock to Aspire, the value of the then outstanding

common stock would be reduced, unless the additional equity securities were issued at a price equal to or greater than the market value of the common stock
at the time of issuance of the new securities. If the additional equity securities were issued at a per share price less than the per share value of the outstanding
shares, then all of the outstanding shares would suffer a dilution in value with the issuance of such additional shares. Further, the issuance of debt securities in
order to obtain additional funds may impose restrictions on our operations and may impair our working capital as we service any such debt obligations.

 
The products and services that we have developed or may develop may never achieve significant commercial market acceptance.
 
We may not succeed in achieving commercial market acceptance of any of our products and services. In order to market the MASCT System and to gain

market acceptance for the MASCT System and our ForeCYTE and ArgusCYTE Tests, we will need to demonstrate to physicians and other healthcare
professionals the benefits of the MASCT System and its practical and economic application for their particular practice. Even if we obtain FDA clearance for
the MASCT System, many physicians and healthcare professionals may be hesitant to introduce new services, or techniques, into their practice for many
reasons, including the learning curve associated with the adoption of such new services or techniques into already established procedures and the uncertainty
of the applicability or reliability of the results of a new product. In addition, the availability of full or even partial payment for our products and tests, whether
by third-party payors (e.g., insurance companies), or the patients themselves, will likely heavily influence physicians’ decisions to recommend or use our
products and services. 
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We will likely be increasingly required to offer discounted pricing arrangements and rebates to managed care payors and physicians and other

referral services in response to competitive pressures and to promote early adoption.
 
There are other companies within the medical device product industry that have products used in NAF collection and there are laboratories other than

ours that can process NAF samples. Because of this existing competition, as well as potential future competition from additional companies and laboratories
and to promote early adoption, we will likely be increasingly required to offer discounted pricing arrangements and rebates to managed care payors,
physicians and other referral services so that our products and services are selected over the products and services of others. If we offer such discounted
pricing arrangements and rebates, our revenue will decrease and we may not generate sufficient revenue to cover our operating costs, which could materially
adversely affect our business.

 
Additionally, such discounts and rebates could raise issues under the federal Anti-Kickback Statute and Medicare’s discriminatory billing prohibition. If

we were found to be in violation of such statute or prohibition, we could be subject to significant fines, and these fines would likely materially adversely
affect our business and results of operations.

 
We may encounter difficulties in operating or maintaining our laboratory facility, which could cause delays and unexpected problems.
 
We have established the CLIA-certified National Reference Laboratory for Breast Health as a wholly-owned subsidiary and we rely on this physical

facility in Seattle, Washington for the testing of patient samples. Our facility has received California, Florida, Maryland, Rhode Island, and Washington state
laboratory licenses, and federal CLIA laboratory certification. However, our management team does not have significant prior experience with establishing
and managing this type of laboratory facility. In addition, certain pieces of laboratory equipment required for the performance of our testing and analytical
services may be difficult and costly to replace, and may require significant replacement lead-time. In the event that we are unable to maintain the laboratory
facility in good working order, or if such laboratory or equipment is adversely affected by periodic malfunctions or man-made or natural disasters, then we
may be unable to conduct business and meet potential customer demands for a significant period of time, which could negatively affect revenue and our long-
term prospects.

 
The loss of the services of our Chief Executive Officer could adversely affect our business.
  
Our success is dependent in large part upon the ability to execute our business plan, manufacture the MASCT System, maintain our clinical and

diagnostic laboratory, and attract and retain highly skilled professional, sales and marketing personnel. In particular, due to the relatively early stage of our
business, our future success is highly dependent on the services of Steven C. Quay, our Chief Executive Officer and founder, who provides much of the
necessary experience to execute our business plan. The loss of his services for any reason could impede our ability to achieve our objectives, such as the
commercialization of the MASCT System and the development of a core of healthcare professionals who use the MASCT System, particularly initially, as we
seek to build a reputation among physicians and clinicians.

 
We may experience difficulty in locating, attracting, and retaining experienced and qualified personnel, which could adversely affect our

business.
 
We will need to attract, retain, and motivate experienced anatomic pathologists, cytologists, histotechnologists, skilled laboratory and information

technology staff, experienced sales representatives, and other personnel, particularly in the greater Seattle area as we expand our commercialization activities.
These employees may not be available in this geographic region. In addition, competition for these employees is intense and recruiting and retaining skilled
employees is difficult, particularly for a development-stage organization such as ours. If we are unable to attract and retain qualified personnel, revenue and
earnings may be adversely affected.

 
We have limited prior experience with commercializing any products or services, and will need to establish a sophisticated sales and marketing

effort in order to be successful.
 
We intend to build a network of national, regional, and specialty distributors, each with a staff of independent sales representatives with experience in

women’s health products to target physicians and mammography clinics in the United States. Marketing our products to physicians and healthcare
professionals will require us to educate such professionals on the comparative advantages of our products over other methods currently used. Experienced
independent sales representatives may be difficult to locate and all sales representatives will need to undergo extensive training. We will need to incur
significant costs to build, train, supervise and effectively deploy this independent sales force as well as our own direct sales force. We cannot be certain that
we will be able to recruit sufficiently skilled sales representatives or that any new sales representatives will ultimately become productive. Independent sales
representatives may carry competing products or products that provide a better financial return to them and therefore may not emphasize our products. If we
are unable to recruit, train and retain qualified and productive independent sales personnel, our ability to successfully commercialize our products and
services will be impaired.
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Although we entered into distribution agreements with Clarity, Fisher Healthcare, Millennium Healthcare and PSS Medical Surgical, they may not be

successful in selling our products and we may not achieve any level of commercial success from their efforts.  The current recall of the ForeCYTE Test may
cause our distributors to terminate our agreements with them or otherwise cause them not to sell our ForeCYTE devices or other products.

 
We use third-party suppliers for the production of the MASCT and Microcatheter Systems, which are currently manufactured in small

quantities. If such suppliers are not capable of producing quantities of these systems sufficient for commercial sale when we are ready, we may not
generate significant revenue or become profitable.

 
We rely on third-party suppliers for the continued manufacture and supply of the MASCT and Microcatheter Systems, including the NAF collection

device and patient collection kits and for the laboratory instruments, equipment, consumable supplies, and other materials necessary to perform the
specialized diagnostic tests. If our third-party suppliers cannot produce the MASCT or Microcatheter Systems in quantities sufficient for our commercial
needs on acceptable terms when needed, we may be unable to commercialize the MASCT System and Microcatheter System and generate revenue from their
sales as planned. In addition, if at any time after commercialization of our products, we are unable to secure essential equipment or supplies in a timely,
reliable and cost-effective manner, we could experience disruptions in our services that could adversely affect anticipated results.

 
Currently Medicare and certain insurance carriers will not reimburse for the NAF collection procedure, which could slow or limit adoption of

the MASCT System or prevent us from pricing the MASCT System at desired levels.
    
The Halo Breast Pap Test, an NAF collection device similar to the MASCT System, is being marketed by Halo Healthcare, Inc. (formerly Neomatrix,

LLC), or Halo, of Irvine, California. Certain insurance carriers do not currently reimburse for the HALO System procedures.  For example, in September
2010, United Healthcare published a policy statement indicating that it would not cover the costs of these procedures because it believes there is insufficient
clinical evidence to support medical efficacy, based on its conclusion that there is inadequate clinical evidence that automated nipple aspiration either allows
for better clinical decision-making or reduces breast cancer mortality. United Healthcare also recommended further studies to determine the efficacy of
cytological examination of ductal fluid in detecting atypical cells to identify women at increased risk of breast cancer, as well as comparisons of the results to
established methods of detecting and diagnosing breast cancer.  We believe that insurance carriers are not generally reimbursing healthcare providers for the
NAF collection procedure using our ForeCYTE device.  Similarly, Medicare does not currently reimburse for the NAF collection procedure. Lack of
Medicare or insurance coverage will require patients to bear the full costs of the NAF sample acquisition process used with the MASCT System. As a result,
and particularly in light of healthcare reform and cost-containment initiatives being undertaken widely across the United States, physicians and other
healthcare professionals may be slow to adopt the MASCT System and may not recommend its use in patients. We may be forced to reduce the price of the
MASCT System components in response to low demand or to provide discounted pricing arrangements in order to secure sales, or may not be able to sell the
product and services components of the MASCT System at acceptable margins, which would severely limit our ability to generate revenue.

 
We cannot ensure that we will have sufficient resources to develop and commercialize the medical devices we acquired from Acueity Healthcare,

Inc.
 
In September 2012, we acquired the assets of Acueity Healthcare, Inc. The purchased assets included 35 issued patents (18 issued in the U.S. and 17

issued in foreign countries) and 41 patent applications (32 in the U.S. and 9 in foreign countries), six 510(k) FDA marketing authorizations related to the
manufacturing, use, and sale of the Viaduct Miniscope and accessories, the Manoa Breast Biopsy system, the Excisor Bioptome, the Acueity Medical Light
Source, the Viaduct Microendoscope and accessories, and cash in the amount of $400,000. The patents relate to intraductal diagnostic and therapeutic devices
and methods of use. We did not, however, acquire an inventory of these diagnostic tools, manufacturing capabilities or any personnel to market and sell the
tools. We do not intend to begin to allocate human and financial resources to further develop and ultimately commercialize these medical devices until
completion of the launch of our four diagnostic tests in the United States. We intend to complete the steps necessary to begin marketing and selling these
tools, such as re-establishing the supply chain of component parts, securing manufacturers, performing test builds and commercial scale manufacturing in
2014. We cannot, however, provide any assurances that delays related to the launch of our four diagnostic tests, independent of the asset purchase, would not
delay the expected development of these diagnostic tools or that, even if we devote resources to the development of these medical devices that we will
ultimately be successful selling these tools.
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Our intended  products and services may expose us to possible litigation and product liability claims.
 
Our business may expose us to potential product liability risks inherent in the testing, marketing and processing  personalized medical products. Product

liability risks may arise from, but are not limited to:
 

 · the inability of the MASCT System or microcatheters to extract a sufficient NAF sample from the breast, which may lead to a
NAF sample size that is inadequate for proper processing at our laboratory and insufficient, which could lead to an inaccurate test
results;

 
 · failure by healthcare professionals to properly safeguard NAF samples collected using the MASCT System or microcatheters;

 
 · the potential loss, mislabeling or misplacement of NAF sample shipments and test kits;

 
 · the MASCT System and our microcatheters are manually operated devices, and, as a result, human error may result in improper

collection of NAF or application of the device;
 

 · inadequate cleaning of the collection pump between patients resulting in mixing of NAF samples from two patients or NAF
samples attributed to the wrong patient;

 
 · improper fitting of the MASCT System device to the breast; and

 
 · cleaning of the breast prior to applying the MASCT System.

 
Additionally, the ArgusCYTE Test must be run on fresh blood and improper storage conditions following drawing from the patient could lead to a missed

diagnosis.
 
A successful product liability claim, or the costs and time commitment involved in defending against a product liability claim, could have a material

adverse effect on our business. Any successful product liability claim may prevent us from obtaining adequate product liability insurance in the future on
commercially desirable or reasonable terms. An inability to obtain sufficient insurance coverage at an acceptable cost, or otherwise, to protect against
potential product liability claims could prevent or inhibit the commercialization of our products.

 
Our laboratory activities, including the analysis and reading of the NAF tests could expose us to possible litigation based on malpractice, data

aggregation errors, or misdiagnoses.
 
Through a wholly-owned subsidiary, we operate a CLIA-certified laboratory to analyze patient samples and to report the results to referring healthcare

professionals, researchers and potential collaborators. We or our subsidiary may be subject to claims by an affected patient, healthcare provider, researcher or
collaborator if laboratory personnel make mistakes, including by way of example:

 
 · errors in the analysis of the tests;

 
 · incorrect aggregation, categorization or labeling of data;

 
 · improper, incorrect or inaccurate development of a computer database which categorizes, analyzes, or compares test data; or
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 · misinterpretation of the results of the test or collected data.

 
We maintain insurance to protect against such suits, but we cannot be certain that the insurance will be sufficient to cover potential damages, or that it

will be cost-effective for us to maintain such a policy. Any adverse outcome against us could involve significant monetary judgments and could severely
impact our financial resources and would be expected to impair our ability in the future to obtain malpractice, or other insurance, for our laboratory services.

 
If our patents do not adequately protect our products, others could compete with us more directly, which would adversely affect our business.
 
Our commercial success will depend in part on our ability to obtain new patents and enforce existing patents, as well as our ability to maintain adequate

protection of other intellectual property for our technologies and products in the United States and abroad. If we do not adequately protect our intellectual
property, competitors may be able to use our technologies and erode or negate any competitive advantage we may otherwise have, which could adversely
affect our business, negatively affect our position in the marketplace and limit our ability to commercialize our products. The laws of some foreign countries
do not protect our proprietary rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States, and we may encounter significant problems in protecting our
proprietary rights in these countries.

 
The patent positions of diagnostic, medical device, and pharmaceutical companies, including ours, involve complex legal and factual questions, and,

therefore, validity and enforceability cannot be predicted with certainty, nor can we be certain that we are not infringing the patents of others. Our patents may
be challenged, deemed unenforceable, invalidated or circumvented. In particular, on March 20, 2012, the U.S. Supreme Court issued a decision in Mayo
Collaborative Services, DBA Mayo Medical Laboratories, et al. v. Prometheus Laboratories, Inc ., No. 10-1150, holding that several claims drawn to
measuring drug metabolite levels from patient samples were not patentable subject matter. Although the Court’s decision seems to impact diagnostics patents
that merely apply a law of nature via a series of routine steps, the full impact of the Prometheus decision is not yet known. We will thus be able to protect our
proprietary rights from unauthorized use by third parties only to the extent that our proprietary technologies, existing products and any future products are
covered by valid and enforceable patents or are effectively maintained as trade secrets, and we are willing and have the necessary resources to take
enforcement action against such unauthorized use by third parties.

 
The degree of future protection for our proprietary rights is uncertain, and we cannot ensure that:
 

 · we were the first to make the inventions covered by each of our patents and pending patent applications;
 

 · we were the first to file patent applications for these inventions;
 

 · others will not independently develop similar, or alternative technologies, or duplicate any of our technologies;
 

 · any of our pending patent applications will result in issued patents;
 

 · any of our issued patents will be valid or enforceable;
 

 · any patents issued to us will provide a basis for commercially viable products, will provide us with any competitive advantages or
will not be challenged by third parties;

 
 · we will develop additional proprietary technologies or products that are patentable; or

 
 · the patents of others will not have an adverse effect on our business;
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We may be unable to adequately prevent disclosure of trade secrets and other proprietary information.
 
We rely on trade secrets to protect our proprietary know-how and technological advances, particularly where we do not believe patent protection is

appropriate or obtainable. However, trade secrets are difficult to protect. We rely in part on confidentiality agreements with our employees, consultants,
outside scientific collaborators and other advisors to protect our trade secrets and other proprietary information. These agreements may not effectively prevent
disclosure of confidential information and may not provide an adequate remedy in the event of unauthorized disclosure of confidential information. In
addition, others may independently discover our trade secrets and proprietary information. Costly and time-consuming litigation could be necessary to enforce
and determine the scope of our proprietary rights. Failure to obtain, or maintain, trade secret protection could enable competitors to use our proprietary
information to develop products that compete with our products or cause additional, material adverse effects upon our competitive business position.

  
Our current patent portfolio may not include all patent rights needed for the full development and commercialization of our products. We

cannot be sure that patent rights we may need in the future will be available for license on commercially reasonable terms, or at all.
 
Although our patents may prevent others from making, using or selling similar products, they do not ensure that we will not infringe the patent rights of

third parties. We may not be aware of all patents or patent applications that may impact our ability to make, use or sell our products or services. Furthermore,
we may not be aware of published or granted conflicting patent rights. Any conflicts resulting from patent applications and patents of others could
significantly reduce the coverage of our patents and limit our ability to obtain meaningful patent protection. If others obtain patents with conflicting claims,
we may need to obtain licenses to these patents or to develop or obtain alternative technology.

 
We may be unable to obtain any licenses or other rights to patents, technology or know-how from third parties necessary to conduct our business as

described in this prospectus and such licenses, if available at all, may not be available on commercially reasonable terms.  Others may seek licenses from us
for other technology we use or intend to use. Any failure to obtain such licenses could delay or prevent us from developing or commercializing our proposed
products and services, which would harm our business. For example, we may seek to develop our intra-ductal treatment program by licensing a
pharmaceutical from a third party. We may not be able to secure such a license on acceptable terms. Litigation or patent interference proceedings need to be
brought against third parties, as discussed below, to enforce any of our patents or other proprietary rights, or to determine the scope and validity or
enforceability of the proprietary rights of such third parties.

 
Litigation regarding patents, patent applications and other proprietary rights may be expensive and time consuming. If we are involved in such

litigation, we could be delayed in bringing product or service candidates to market and our ability to operate could be harmed.
 
Our commercial success will depend in part on our ability to manufacture, use and sell products and services without infringing patents or other

proprietary rights of third parties. Third parties may challenge or infringe upon our, or our licensors’, existing or future patents. Although we are not currently
aware of any pending or actual litigation, or other proceedings, or third-party claims of intellectual property infringement related to the MASCT System, the
Mammary Ductal Microcatheter System or other product candidates, the medical device and diagnostic industry is characterized by extensive litigation
regarding patents and other intellectual property rights. Other parties may obtain patents in the future and allege that the use of our technologies infringes
these patent claims or that it is employing their proprietary technology without authorization.

 
Legal proceedings involving our patents or patent applications, or those of others, could result in adverse decisions regarding the patentability of

our inventions relating to our products or the enforceability, validity or scope of protection offered by our patents.
 
Even if we are successful in proceedings involving our intellectual property rights or those of others, we may incur substantial costs and divert

management time and attention in pursuing these proceedings. If we are unable to avoid infringing the patent rights of others, we may be required to seek a
license, defend an infringement action, or challenge the validity of the patents in court. Patent litigation is costly and time consuming and we may not have
sufficient resources to bring enforcement actions to a successful conclusion. In addition, if we do not obtain a license, develop or obtain non-infringing
technology, fail to defend an infringement action successfully or have infringed patents declared invalid, we may incur substantial monetary damages,
encounter significant delays in bringing our product candidates to market, or be precluded from participating in the manufacture, use or sale of our products
or product candidates or methods of treatment requiring licenses.
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Risks Related to our Industry
 
Failure to adequately and timely address the FDA’s warning letter received February 21, 2013, or other matters raised by the FDA, could

adversely affect our business.
 
We received a Warning Letter (“Letter”) from the FDA on February 21, 2013, regarding our MASCT System and MASCT System Collection Test

(together, the “System”). The Letter arose from certain FDA findings during a July 2012 inspection, to which we responded in August 2012, explaining why
we believed we are in compliance with applicable regulations and/or were implementing changes responsive to the findings of the FDA inspection. The FDA
alleges in the Letter that following 510(k) clearance we changed the System in a manner that requires submission of an additional 510(k) notification to the
FDA. Specifically, the FDA observes that the Instructions For Use (IFU) in the original 510(k) submission stated that the user must “Wash the collection
membrane with fixative solution into the collection vial…” and the current IFU states “…apply one spray of Saccomanno’s Fixative to the collection
membrane…” and that “this change fixes the NAF specimen to the filter paper rather than washing it into a collection vial.” At the time that the changes were
made we determined and documented that the changes could not significantly affect the safety or effectiveness of the System and this determined that a new
510(k) was not required in accordance with the FDA’s guidance document entitled “Deciding When to Submit a 510(k) for a Change to an Existing Device.”

 
The Letter also raises certain issues with respect to our marketing of the System and our compliance with FDA Good Manufacturing Practices (cGMP)

regulations, among other matters. If the FDA does not agree with our position concerning clearance of the System, we may be required to submit and receive
clearance of a new 510(k) notice for the current form of the System or revert to marketing the System using the prior NAF processing method.

 
We responded to the Letter on March 13, 2013, indicating the current actions taken and the timing of commitments we have made for future actions. The

FDA could direct other compliance-verification activities or take other enforecement actions in connection with matters raised in the Letter, related to our
response, and in connection with other matters that the FDA could identify in the future. Until these issues are resolved we may be subject to additional
regulatory action by the FDA, and any such actions could disrupt our ongoing business and operations. For example, on October 4, 2013, we initiated a
voluntary recall of the System and we plan to seek an additional 510(k) clearance prior to re-launching the System.  Our business will be adversely affected if
we cannot timely resolve the matters raised in the Letter, or other matters raised by the FDA, to the FDA’s satisfaction or if we are not successful in obtaining
an additional 510(k) clearance in a timely and cost-effective manner.

 
The manufacturing, marketing and sale of our products are subject to regulatory clearances or approvals and our business is subject to

extensive regulatory requirements. If we fail to maintain regulatory clearances, or are unable to obtain, or experience significant delays in obtaining,
FDA approvals or clearances for our future products or product enhancements, our ability to commercially manufacture, market and sell these
products could suffer.

 
Our medical device products and operations are subject to extensive regulation by the FDA and various other federal and state governmental authorities.

Government regulation of medical devices is meant to assure their safety and effectiveness, and includes regulation of, among other things: design,
development, manufacture, testing, labeling, storage, marketing, distribution, promotion, record keeping, and approval or clearance.

 
Before a new medical device, or a new use of or claim for an existing device, can be marketed in the United States, it must first receive either a premarket

clearance under Section 510(k) of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (FDCA) or a PMA from the FDA, unless an exemption applies. Our devices
generally require a 510(k) clearance before they can be marketed, which can be a lengthy and expensive process and we may not be able to obtain these
approvals on a timely basis, if at all. A PMA generally requires extensive pre-clinical and clinical trials and can take two or more years to obtain.  For
example, we may partner with a third party to pursue a PMA for our intraductal treatment program. However, if we cannot contract with a third party in a
timely and efficient manner or if we cannot obtain a PMA for this program our operations would be adversely affected.  We are also pursing an additional
510(k) clearance for our MASCT System, and failure to obtain this clearance would adversely affect our business.  To help ensure that the 510(k) includes the
information that FDA feels is appropriate, we have requested a pre-submission meeting with the FDA.  This meeting is scheduled to be held on November 14,
2013.   Once we understand what types of data FDA is seeking, we intend to submit the 510(k) shortly after the meeting.   Once filed we hope that the FDA
will complete their review of our submission within 90 days; but of course we cannot predict if they will ask us for additional information or otherwise
complete their review within the 90 days.
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The FDA requires us and certain of our third-party suppliers to adhere to Quality System Regulations ("QSR"), which include production design controls,

testing, quality control, and labeling, packaging, sterilization, and storage and documentation procedures. The FDA may at any time inspect our facilities to
determine whether we have adequate compliance with the FDA's QSR and other regulatory requirements. Compliance with QSR for medical devices is
difficult and costly. If our facilities or those of our suppliers fail to take satisfactory corrective action in response to an adverse QSR inspection, the FDA
could take enforcement action. For example, the FDA has issued and could in the future issue warning letters or other communications to us. If we fail to
satisfy or remediate the matters discussed in any such warning letters, including the warning letter we received on February 21, 2013, or communications, the
FDA could take further enforcement action, including prohibiting the sale or marketing of the affected product. The FDA also strictly regulates labeling,
advertising, promotion, and other types of information on products that are placed on the market and in the February warning letter to us has raised concerns
about our promotional statements related to the ForeCYTE Test. Medical devices may be promoted only for their intended use and in accordance with the
provisions of the approved label. It is possible that federal or state enforcement authorities might take action if they consider our promotional or training
materials to constitute promotion of an unapproved use, which could result in significant fines or penalties under a variety of statutory authorities, including
under the FDCA as well as laws prohibiting false claims for reimbursement. In addition, we may not be found compliant as a result of future changes in, or
interpretations of, regulations by the FDA or other regulatory agencies.

 
Sales of our products outside the U.S. are subject to foreign regulatory requirements that vary from country to country. The time required to obtain

approvals from foreign countries may be longer or shorter than that required for FDA approval or clearance, and requirements for foreign licensing may differ
from FDA requirements. In any event, if we fail to obtain the necessary approvals to sell any of our products in a foreign country, or if any obtained approval
is revoked or suspended, we will not be able to sell those products there.

 
The federal, state and foreign laws and regulations regarding the manufacture and sale of our products are subject to future changes, as are administrative

interpretations and policies of regulatory agencies. If we fail to comply with applicable federal, state or foreign laws or regulations, we could be subject to
enforcement actions. Enforcement actions could include product seizures, recalls, withdrawal of clearances or approvals, and civil and criminal penalties,
which in each case would harm our business.

 
Our inadvertent or unintentional failure to comply with the complex government regulations concerning privacy of medical records could

subject us to fines and adversely affect our reputation.
 
The federal privacy regulations, among other things, restrict our ability to use or disclose protected health information in the form of patient-identifiable

laboratory data, without written patient authorization, for purposes other than payment, treatment, or healthcare operations (as defined under the Health
Insurance Portability and Accountability Act, or HIPAA) except for disclosures for various public policy purposes and other permitted purposes outlined in
the privacy regulations. The privacy regulations provide for significant fines and other penalties for wrongful use or disclosure of protected health
information, including potential civil and criminal fines and penalties. Although the HIPAA statute and regulations do not expressly provide for a private right
of damages, we could incur damages under state laws to private parties for the wrongful use or disclosure of confidential health information or other private
personal information.

 
We intend to implement policies and practices that we believe will make us compliant with the privacy regulations. However, the documentation and

process requirements of the privacy regulations are complex and subject to interpretation. Failure to comply with the privacy regulations could subject us to
sanctions or penalties, loss of business, and negative publicity.

 
The HIPAA privacy regulations establish a “floor” of minimum protection for patients as to their medical information and do not supersede state laws

that are more stringent. Therefore, we are required to comply with both HIPAA privacy regulations and various state privacy laws. The failure to do so could
subject us to regulatory actions, including significant fines or penalties, and to private actions by patients, as well as to adverse publicity and possible loss of
business. In addition, federal and state laws and judicial decisions provide individuals with various rights for violation of the privacy of their medical
information by healthcare providers such as us.
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If we fail to comply with CLIA and other complex federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations that apply to our business, we could suffer
severe consequences that could materially and adversely affect our operating results and financial condition.

 
We are subject to the CLIA, a federal law that regulates clinical laboratories that perform testing on specimens derived from humans for the purpose of

providing information for the diagnosis, prevention, or treatment of disease. CLIA regulations mandate specific standards in the areas of personnel
qualifications, administration, and participation in proficiency testing, patient test management, quality control, quality assurance, and inspections. Moreover,
we expect a CLIA inspection of our laboratory in 2014 and inspectors may make random inspections of our laboratory.  Failure to pass an inspection or to
otherwise maintain our CLIA license would have a material adverse effect on our operations.

 
We are also required to maintain a license to conduct testing in Washington. Washington laws establish standards for day-to-day operation of our clinical

reference laboratory, including the training and skills required of personnel and quality control. In addition, our clinical reference laboratory is required to be
licensed by a number of states, including New York State. New York law mandates proficiency testing for laboratories licensed under New York state law,
regardless of whether or not such laboratories are located in New York. Our application for such a license from New York State is currently pending and we
operate based on a waiver by New York State of the obligations to have the license. If we are unable to obtain the necessary approvals or if New York State
does not extend our waiver, our business could suffer. Moreover, several other states require that we hold licenses to test specimens from patients in those
states and failure to maintain those licenses would adversely affect our business. Other states may have similar requirements or may adopt similar
requirements in the future. Finally, we may be subject to regulation in foreign jurisdictions as we seek to expand international distribution of our products,
which may require review of our products in order to offer our services or may have other limitations such as prohibitions on the export of tissue necessary
for us to perform our tests that may limit our ability to distribute outside of the United States.
 

Any sanction imposed under CLIA, its implementing regulations, or state or foreign laws or regulations governing licensure, or our failure to renew a
CLIA certificate, a state or foreign license, or accreditation, could have a material adverse effect on our business. Most CLIA deficiencies are not classified as
“condition-level” deficiencies, and there are no adverse effects upon the laboratory operations as long as the deficiencies are corrected. Remediation of these
deficiencies are routine matters, with corrections occurring within several hours or weeks. More serious CLIA deficiencies could rise to the level of
“condition-level” deficiencies, and CMS has the authority to impose a wide range of sanctions, including revocation of the CLIA certification along with a
bar on the ownership or operation of a CLIA certified laboratory by any owners or operators of the deficient laboratory. There is an administrative hearing
procedure that can be pursued by the laboratory in the event of imposition of such sanctions, during which the sanctions are stayed, but the process can take a
number of years to complete. If we were to lose our CLIA certification or CAP accreditation, we would not be able to operate our clinical reference
laboratory and conduct our molecular tests, which would result in material harm to our business and results of operations.

 
Our operations are subject to other extensive federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations, all of which are subject to change. These laws and

regulations currently include, among others:
 

·      · HIPAA, which established comprehensive federal standards with respect to the privacy and security of protected health information and
requirements for the use of certain standardized electronic transactions, particularly with respect to our online portal, Interactive Cancer
Explorer;

 
 ·      · amendments to HIPAA under the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act, which strengthen and expand

HIPAA privacy and security compliance requirements, increase penalties for violators, extend enforcement authority to state attorneys
general, and impose requirements for breach notification;

 
 ·      · the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits knowingly and willfully offering, paying, soliciting, or receiving remuneration, directly or

indirectly, in exchange for or to induce either the referral of an individual, or the furnishing, arranging for, or recommending of an item or
service that is reimbursable, in whole or in part, by a federal health care program;
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 ·      · the federal Stark physician self-referral law, which prohibits a physician from making a referral for certain designated health services covered

by the Medicare program, including laboratory and pathology services, if the physician or an immediate family member has a financial
relationship with the entity providing the designated health services, unless the financial relationship falls within an applicable exception to
the prohibition;

 
·      · the federal False Claims Act, which imposes liability on any person or entity that, among other things, knowingly presents, or causes to be

presented, a false or fraudulent claim for payment to the federal government;
 

 ·      · the federal Civil Monetary Penalties Law, which prohibits, among other things, the offering or transfer of remuneration to a Medicare or state
health care program beneficiary if the person knows or should know it is likely to influence the beneficiary’s selection of a particular
provider, practitioner, or supplier of services reimbursable by Medicare or a state health care program, unless an exception applies;

 
·      · other federal and state fraud and abuse laws, such as anti-kickback laws, prohibitions on self-referral, fee-splitting restrictions, prohibitions

on the provision of products at no or discounted cost to induce physician or patient adoption, and false claims acts, which may extend to
services reimbursable by any third-party payor, including private insurers;

 
 ·      · the prohibition on reassignment of Medicare claims, which, subject to certain exceptions, precludes the reassignment of Medicare claims to

any other party;
 

 ·      · the rules regarding billing for diagnostic tests reimbursable by the Medicare program, which prohibit a physician or other supplier from
marking up the price of the technical component or professional component of a diagnostic test ordered by the physician or other supplier
and supervised or performed by a physician who does not “share a practice” with the billing physician or supplier;

 
·      · state laws that prohibit other specified practices, such as billing physicians for testing that they order; waiving coinsurance, copayments,

deductibles, and other amounts owed by patients; billing a state Medicaid program at a price that is higher than what is charged to one or
more other payors; and

 
 ·      · similar foreign laws and regulations that apply to us in the countries in which we operate.

 
Our failure to comply could lead to civil or criminal penalties, exclusion from participation in government health care programs, or prohibitions or

restrictions on our laboratory’s ability to conduct commercial activities. We believe that we are in material compliance with all statutory and regulatory
requirements, but there is a risk that one or more government agencies could take a contrary position. These laws and regulations are complex and are subject
to interpretation by the courts and by government agencies. If one or more such agencies alleges that we may be in violation of any of these requirements,
regardless of the outcome, it could damage our reputation and adversely affect important business relationships with third parties, including managed care
organizations and other commercial third-party payors.
 

Changes in regulations, policies, or payor mix may adversely affect reimbursement for laboratory services and could have a material adverse
impact on our revenue and profitability.

 
Most of our services will be billed to a party other than the physician who ordered the test. Reimbursement levels for healthcare services are subject to

continuous and often unexpected changes in policies. Changes in governmental and third-party reimbursement rates and policies may result from statutory
and regulatory changes, retroactive rate adjustments, administrative rulings, competitive bidding initiatives, and other policy changes. Uncertainty also exists
as to the coverage and reimbursement status of new services. Government payors and insurance companies have increased their efforts to control the cost,
utilization, and delivery of healthcare services. For example, at least yearly, Congress has considered and enacted changes in the Medicare fee schedule in
conjunction with budgetary legislation. Further reductions of reimbursement for Medicare services or changes in policy regarding coverage of tests may be
implemented from time to time. The payment amounts under the Medicare fee schedules are often used as a reference for the payment amounts set by other
third-party payors. As a result, a reduction in Medicare reimbursement rates could result in a corresponding reduction in the reimbursements we may receive
from such third-party payors. Changes in test coverage policies of other third-party payors may also occur. Such reimbursement and coverage changes in the
past have resulted in reduced prices, added costs and reduced accession volume, and have imposed more complex regulatory and administrative burdens.
Further changes in federal, state, and local third-party payor laws, regulations, or policies may have a material adverse impact on our business.
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Failure to participate as a provider with payors, or operating as a non-contracting provider, could have a material adverse effect on revenue.
 
The healthcare industry has experienced a trend of consolidation among healthcare insurers, resulting in fewer but larger insurers with significant

bargaining power in negotiating fee arrangements with healthcare providers, including laboratories. Managed care providers often restrict their contracts to a
small number of laboratories that may be used for tests ordered by physicians in the managed care provider’s network. As of the date of this prospectus we do
not have any managed care provider contracts and there can be no assurance any contracts will be established. If we do not have a contract with a managed
care provider, we may be unable to gain those physicians as clients. In cases in which we will contract with a specified insurance company as a participating
provider, we will be considered “in-network,” and the reimbursement of third-party payments is governed by contractual relationships. Our in-network
services will be primarily negotiated on a fee-for-service basis at a discount from our patient fee schedule, which could result in price erosion that would
adversely affect revenue. Our failure to obtain managed care contracts, or participate in new managed care networks, could adversely affect revenue and
profitability. In cases in which we do not have a contractual relationship with an insurance company, or are not an approved provider for a government
program, we will have no contractual right to collect for services and such payors may refuse to reimburse us for services, which could lead to a decrease in
accession volume and a corresponding decrease in revenue. As an out-of-network provider, reductions in reimbursement rates for non-participating providers
could also adversely affect us. Third-party payors, with whom we do not participate as a contracted provider, may also require that we enter into contracts,
which may have pricing and other terms that are materially less favorable than the terms under which we intend to operate. While accession volume may
increase as a result of these contracts, revenue per accession may decrease.

 
Use of our laboratory services as a non-participating provider is also expected to result in greater co-payments for the patient, unless we elect to treat

patients as if we were a participating provider in accordance with applicable law. Treating such patients as if we were a participating provider may adversely
impact results of operations because we may be unable to collect patient co-payments and deductibles. In some states, applicable law prohibits us from
treating these patients as if we were a participating provider. As a result, referring physicians may avoid use of our services, which could result in a decrease
in accession volume and adversely affect revenue.

 
Changes in FDA policies regarding the “home brew” exception from FDA review for laboratory-developed tests and reagents could adversely

affect our business and results of operations.
 
Laboratory diagnostic tests developed and validated by a laboratory for its own use, also known as laboratory developed tests, which are referred to as

LDTs or “home brew” tests, are subject to regulation under the federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, or FDCA. To date, the FDA has decided, as a matter of
enforcement discretion, not to exercise its authority with respect to most “home brew” tests performed by high complexity laboratories certified under CLIA,
which is the type of laboratory that we have established. In addition, manufacturers and suppliers of analyte specific reagents, or ASRs, which we may utilize
in our LDTs, are required to register with the FDA, conform manufacturing operations to the FDA’s Quality System Regulation, or QSR, and comply with
certain reporting and other record keeping requirements.

 
The FDA regularly considers the application of additional regulatory controls over the development and use of LDTs by laboratories. It is possible that

the FDA will require premarket notification or approval for LDT diagnostic tests that we may develop and perform in the future.  For example, the FDA has
indicated to us that our laboratory processing of NAF samples constitutes an in-vitro diagnostic test service that is subject to their regulatory authority and we
therefore plan to include our laboratory processing in the 510(k) we are submitting to the FDA for our ForeCYTE Test. The FDA held public hearings in the
third quarter of 2010 to discuss how it will oversee LDTs. No definitive recommendations or findings have yet come from these hearings, but it is likely that
the FDA will impose additional or new regulations affecting LDTs, including requiring premarket notification or approval for these tests. Any premarket
notification or approval requirements could restrict or delay our ability to provide specialized diagnostic services and may adversely affect our business. FDA
regulation of LDTs, or increased regulation of the various medical devices used in laboratory-developed testing, could increase the regulatory burden and
generate additional costs and delays in introducing new tests.
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The failure to comply with complex federal and state laws and regulations related to submission of claims for services could result in significant

monetary damages and penalties and exclusion from the Medicare and Medicaid programs.
 
We are subject to extensive federal and state laws and regulations relating to the submission of claims for payment for services, including those that relate

to coverage of services under Medicare, Medicaid, and other governmental healthcare programs, the amounts that may be billed for services, and to whom
claims for services may be submitted, such as billing Medicare as the secondary, rather than the primary, payor. The failure to comply with applicable laws
and regulations, for example, enrollment in PECOS, the Medicare Provider Enrollment, Chain and Ownership System, could result in our inability to receive
payment for our services or attempts by third-party payors, such as Medicare and Medicaid, to recover payments from us that we have already received.
Submission of claims in violation of certain statutory or regulatory requirements can result in penalties, including civil money penalties of up to $10,000 for
each item or service billed to Medicare in violation of the legal requirement, and exclusion from participation in Medicare and Medicaid. Government
authorities may also assert that violations of laws and regulations related to submission of claims violate the federal False Claims Act or other laws related to
fraud and abuse, including submission of claims for services that were not medically necessary. The Company will be generally dependent on independent
physicians to determine when its services are medically necessary for a particular patient. Nevertheless, we could be adversely affected if it was determined
that the services we provided were not medically necessary and not reimbursable, particularly if it were asserted that we contributed to the physician’s
referrals of unnecessary services. It is also possible that the government could attempt to hold us liable under fraud and abuse laws for improper claims
submitted by us if it were found that we knowingly participated in the arrangement that resulted in submission of the improper claims.

 
Healthcare policy changes, including recently enacted legislation reforming the United States healthcare system, may have a material adverse

effect on our financial condition and results of operations.
 
The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Affordability Reconciliation Act, collectively, the

PPACA, enacted in March 2010, makes changes that are expected to significantly impact the pharmaceutical and medical device industries and clinical
laboratories. Beginning in 2013, each medical device manufacturer will have to pay an excise tax in an amount equal to 2.3% of the price for which such
manufacturer sells its medical devices.  We expect that the new tax may apply to some or all of our diagnostic products. The PPACA also mandates a
reduction in payments for clinical laboratory services paid under the Medicare Clinical Laboratory Fee Schedule of 1.75% for the years 2011 through 2015
and a productivity adjustment to the Clinical Laboratory Fee Schedule. These or any future proposed or mandated reductions in payments may apply to some
or all of the clinical laboratory tests that our diagnostics customers use our technology to deliver to Medicare beneficiaries, and may indirectly reduce demand
for our diagnostic products.

 
Other significant measures contained in the PPACA include coordination and promotion of research on comparative clinical effectiveness of different

technologies and procedures, initiatives to revise Medicare payment methodologies, such as bundling of payments across the continuum of care by providers
and physicians, and initiatives to promote quality indicators in payment methodologies. The PPACA also includes significant new fraud and abuse measures,
including required disclosures of financial arrangements with physician customers, lower thresholds for violations and increasing potential penalties for such
violations. In addition, the PPACA establishes an Independent Payment Advisory Board, or IPAB, to reduce the per capita rate of growth in Medicare
spending. The IPAB has broad discretion to propose policies to reduce health care expenditures, which may have a negative impact on payment rates for
services, including our tests. The IPAB proposals may impact payments for clinical laboratory services that our future diagnostics customers use our
technology to deliver beginning in 2016 and for hospital services beginning in 2020, and may indirectly reduce demand for our diagnostic products.

 
In addition to the PPACA, the effect of which cannot presently be quantified, various healthcare reform proposals have also emerged from federal and

state governments. Changes in healthcare policy, such as the creation of broad test utilization limits for diagnostic products in general or requirements that
Medicare patients pay for portions of clinical laboratory tests or services received, could substantially impact the sales of our tests, increase costs and divert
management’s attention from our business. Such co-payments by Medicare beneficiaries for laboratory services were discussed as possible cost savings for
the Medicare program as part of the debt ceiling budget discussions in mid-2011 and may be enacted in the future. In addition, sales of our tests outside of the
United States will subject us to foreign regulatory requirements, which may also change over time.
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We cannot predict whether future healthcare initiatives will be implemented at the federal or state level or in countries outside of the United States in

which we may do business, or the effect any future legislation or regulation will have on us. The taxes imposed by the new federal legislation and the
expansion in government’s effect on the United States healthcare industry may result in decreased profits to us, lower reimbursements by payors for our
products or reduced medical procedure volumes, all of which may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

 
Our business is subject to rapid technological innovation, and the development by third parties of new or improved diagnostic testing

technologies or information technology systems could have a material adverse effect on our business.
 
The anatomic pathology industry is characterized by rapid changes in technology, frequent introductions of new diagnostic tests, and evolving industry

standards and client demands for new diagnostic technologies. Advances in technology may result in the development of more point-of-care testing
equipment that can be operated by physicians or other healthcare providers in their offices, or by patients themselves, without the services of freestanding
laboratories and pathologists, thereby reducing demand for our services. In addition, advances in technology may result in the creation of enhanced diagnostic
tools that enable other laboratories, hospitals, physicians, patients, or third parties to provide specialized laboratory services superior to ours, or that are more
patient-friendly, efficient, or cost-effective. Our success depends in part upon our ability to acquire or license on favorable terms or develop new and
improved technologies for early diagnosis before its competitors and to obtain appropriate reimbursement for diagnostic tests using these technologies.
Introduction of prophylactic treatments or cures for breast cancer could substantially reduce or eliminate demand for our services.

 
Risks Related to the Securities Markets and Investment in our Securities
 
Our shares of common stock are listed on the NASDAQ Capital Market, but we cannot guarantee that we will be able to satisfy the continued

listing standards going forward.
 
Although our shares of common stock are listed on the NASDAQ Capital Market, we cannot ensure that we will be able to satisfy the continued listing

standards of the NASDAQ Capital Market going forward. If we cannot satisfy the continued listing standards going forward, NASDAQ may commence
delisting procedures against us, which could result in our stock being removed from listing on the NASDAQ Capital Market. If our stock were to be delisted,
the market liquidity of our stock could be adversely affected and the market price of our stock could decrease. Delisting could also adversely affect our
stockholders’ ability to trade or obtain quotations on our shares because of lower trading volumes and transaction delays. These factors could contribute to
lower prices and larger spreads in the bid and ask price for our common stock. You may also not be able to resell your shares at or above the price you paid
for such shares or at all. In addition, class action litigation has often been instituted against companies whose securities have experienced periods of volatility
in market price. Any such litigation brought against us could result in substantial costs and a diversion of management’s attention and resources, which could
hurt our business, operating results and financial condition.

  
The sale of our common stock to Aspire may cause substantial dilution to our existing stockholders and the sale, actual or anticipated, of the

shares of common stock acquired by Aspire could cause the price of our common stock to decline.
 
We have the right to sell up to $25 million of our shares of common stock to Aspire,  We are obligated to register these shares with the SEC.   It is

anticipated that these shares will be sold by Aspire over a period of up to approximately 30 months from the date of this report. Under the rules of the Nasdaq
Capital Market, in no event may we issue more than 19.99% of our shares outstanding on November 8, 2013 under the purchase agreement (which is
approximately 3,528,199 shares based on 17,649,824 shares of common stock outstanding on November 8, 2013), unless we obtain stockholder approval.

 
Any actual or anticipated sales of shares by Aspire may cause the trading price of our common stock to decline. Additional issuances of shares to Aspire

may result in dilution to the interests of other holders of our common stock. The sale of a substantial number of shares of our common stock by Aspire, or
anticipation of such sales, could make it more difficult for us to sell equity or equity-related securities in the future at a time and at a price that we might
otherwise wish to effect sales. However, we have the right to control the timing and amount of sales of our shares to Aspire Capital, and the purchase
agreement may be terminated by us at any time at our discretion without any penalty or cost to us.
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The trading price of our common stock has been, and is likely to continue to be, volatile.
 
Since shares of our common stock were sold in our IPO in November 2012 at a price of $5.00 per share, our stock price has ranged from $1.74 to $12.40

through November 8, 2013. In addition to the factors discussed in this prospectus, the trading price of our common stock may fluctuate significantly in
response to numerous factors, many of which are beyond our control, including:

 
 · actual or anticipated growth rates and fluctuations in our revenue and other operating results;

 
 · regulatory and FDA actions, including their response to our 510(k) notification we plan to file for the ForeCYTE Test, the warning letter we

received from the FDA on February 21, 2013, and our responses to those actions;
 

 · actions of securities analysts who initiate or maintain coverage of us, and changes in financial estimates by any securities analysts who follow
our company, or our failure to meet these estimates or the expectations of investors;

 
 · additional shares of our common stock being sold into the market by us or our existing stockholders or the anticipation of such sales; and

 
 · media coverage of our business and financial performance.

 
In addition, the stock markets have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have affected and continue to affect the market prices of

equity securities of many healthcare companies. Stock prices of many healthcare companies have fluctuated in a manner unrelated or disproportionate to the
operating performance of those companies. As a result, an investment in our common stock may decrease in value.

 
Substantial shares of our common stock may be sold into the market by which could cause the price of our common stock to decline.
 
The price of our common stock could decline if there are substantial sales of our common stock, either by us or our stockholders. For example,

substantial sales could result from:
 

 · Sales by Aspire of up to $25 million of shares that we may sell to them from time to time under our stock purchase agreement with
them.

   
 · Sales of common stock by the investors in our 2011 private placement, including shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of

warrants that were issued to them in 2011.
 
These and any other substantial sales of our common stock into the market could cause the price of our common stock to decline.
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The ownership of our common stock is concentrated among a small number of stockholders, and if our principal stockholders, directors and

officers choose to act together, they may be able to significantly influence management and operations, which may prevent us from taking actions
that may be favorable to you. 

 
Our ownership is concentrated among a small number of stockholders, including our founders, directors, officers and entities related to these persons.

Our directors, officers and entities affiliated with them beneficially own approximately 28.5% of our outstanding voting securities. Accordingly, these
stockholders, acting together, will have the ability to exert substantial influence over all matters requiring approval by our stockholders, including the election
and removal of directors and any proposed merger, consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of our assets. This concentration of ownership could have
the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of the Company or impeding a merger or consolidation, takeover or other business
combination that could be favorable to you.

 
If we are unable to implement and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in the future, investors may lose confidence in the

accuracy and completeness of our financial reports and the trading price of our common stock may be negatively affected.
 
We are required to maintain internal controls over financial reporting and to report any material weaknesses in such internal controls. If we identify

material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, if we are unable to comply with the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act in a timely
manner or assert that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, or if our independent registered public accounting firm is unable to express, if
required, an opinion as to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of
our financial reports and the trading price of our common stock could be negatively affected, and we could become subject to investigations by the stock
exchange on which our securities is listed, the Securities and Exchange Commission, or other regulatory authorities, which could require additional financial
and management resources.

 
The requirements of being a public company may strain our resources and divert management’s attention.
 
We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Dodd-Frank Act, the listing requirements of the

NASDAQ Capital Market, and other applicable securities rules and regulations. Compliance with these rules and regulations will increase our legal and
financial compliance costs, make some activities more difficult, time-consuming, or costly, and increase demand on our systems and resources. As a result,
management’s attention may be diverted from other business concerns, which could harm our business and operating results. Although we have hired
additional employees to comply with these requirements, we may need to hire more employees in the future, which will increase our costs and expenses.

 
In addition, complying with public disclosure rules makes our business more visible, which we believe may result in threatened or actual litigation,

including by competitors and other third parties. If such claims are successful, our business and operating results could be harmed, and even if the claims do
not result in litigation or are resolved in our favor, these claims, and the time and resources necessary to resolve them, could divert the resources of our
management and harm our business and operating results.

 
Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and Delaware law could delay or prevent a change in control which could limit the market

price of the our common stock and could prevent or frustrate attempts by the our stockholders to replace or remove current management and the
current Board of Directors.

 
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that could delay or prevent a change in control

or changes in our Board of Directors that our stockholders might consider favorable. These provisions include the establishment of a staggered Board of
Directors, which divides the board into three classes, with directors in each class serving staggered three-year terms. The existence of a staggered board can
make it more difficult for a third party to effect a takeover of our company if the incumbent board does not support the transaction. These and other provisions
in our corporate documents and Delaware law might discourage, delay or prevent a change in control or changes in the Board of Directors of the Company.
These provisions could also discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for an investor and other stockholders to elect directors not nominated by
our Board. Furthermore, the existence of these provisions, together with certain provisions of Delaware law, might hinder or delay an attempted takeover
other than through negotiations with the Board of Directors.
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We do not expect to pay dividends in the future, which means that investors may not be able to realize the value of their shares except through a

sale. 
 

We have never, and do not anticipate that we will, declare or pay a cash dividend. We expect to retain future earnings, if any, for our business and do not
anticipate paying dividends on common stock at any time in the foreseeable future. Because we do not anticipate paying dividends in the future, the only
opportunity for our stockholders to realize the creation of value in our common stock will likely be through a sale of those shares.

 
We are an “emerging growth company” and we cannot be certain if we will be able to maintain such status or if the reduced disclosure

requirements applicable to emerging growth companies will make our common stock less attractive to investors.
 
We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the Jumpstart our Business Startups Act of 2012, or JOBS Act, and we intend to adopt certain

exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not “emerging growth companies” including, but not
limited to, not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations
regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote
on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. We may remain as an “emerging growth
company” for up to five full fiscal years following our initial public offering. We would cease to be an emerging growth company, and therefore not be able to
rely upon the above exemptions, if we have more than $1 billion in annual revenue in a fiscal year, we issue more than $1 billion of non-convertible debt over
a three-year period, or we have more than $700 million in market value of our common stock held by non-affiliates as of any June 30 before the end of the
five full fiscal years. Additionally, we cannot predict if investors will find our common stock less attractive because we will rely on these exemptions. If some
investors find our common stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our common stock and our stock price may be more
volatile. 

 
ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
 

 None
 

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES
 

Not applicable.
 

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
 

Not applicable.
 

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION
 

The March 27, 2013 Common Stock Purchase Agreement with Aspire Capital was terminated on November 8, 2013 and on that date we entered into a
new stock purchase agreement with Aspire Capital Fund, LLC.  The new stock purchase agreement provides that, upon the terms and subject to the conditions
and limitations set forth therein, Aspire is committed to purchase up to an aggregate of $25 million of shares of our common stock over the 30 month term of
the agreement. We cannot, however, sell any shares to Aspire under the new agreement unless and until a new registration statement is filed with and declared
effective by the SEC.  Information about our agreements with Aspire Capital is contained in Part I, Item 2, which is incorporated in this Part II, Item 5, by this
reference.

 
ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

 
 (a) Exhibits

 
 4.1 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of November 8, 2013, by and between the Company and Aspire Capital Fund, LLC. 
 10.1 Ownership Program Agreement dated September 1, 2013 between the National Reference Laboratory for Breast Health, Inc. and Affymetrix,

Inc.
 10.2 Common Stock Purchase  Agreement, dated as of November 8, 2013, by and between the Company and Aspire Capital Fund, LLC.
 31.1 Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 of Steven C. Quay
 31.2 Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 of Kyle Guse
 32.1 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 of Steven C. Quay
 32.2 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 of Kyle Guse
 101* Interactive Data Files pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T
 

* Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, these interactive data files are deemed not filed or part of a registration statement or prospectus for
purposes of Section 11 or 12 of the Securities Act, are deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, and otherwise are not
subject to liability under these sections.
 
 

60



 
SIGNATURES

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the

undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
 

Date: November 12, 2013
 
/s/ Steven C. Quay  
  
President and Chief Executive Officer  
(On behalf of the Registrant)  
 
/s/ Kyle Guse  
Kyle Guse  
Chief Financial Officer, General Counsel and Secretary  
(As Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)  
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Exhibit 4.1

 
REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT

 
REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of November 8, 2013, by and between ATOSSA GENETICS, INC., a

Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and ASPIRE CAPITAL FUND, LLC, an Illinois limited liability company (together with its permitted assigns, the
“Buyer”). Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the respective meanings set forth in the Common Stock Purchase
Agreement by and between the parties hereto, dated as of the date hereof (as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the
“Purchase Agreement”).
 

WHEREAS:
 

A. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Purchase Agreement, the Company has agreed to issue to the Buyer, and the Buyer has agreed
to purchase, (i) up to Twenty-Five Million Dollars ($25,000,000) of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.001 per share (the “Common Stock”) (the
“Purchase Shares”), and (ii) such number of shares of Common Stock as is required pursuant to Section 4(e) of the Purchase Agreement (the “Commitment
Shares”), in an at the market offering; and
 

B. To induce the Buyer to enter into the Purchase Agreement, the Company has agreed to provide certain registration rights under the Securities Act
of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations thereunder, or any similar successor statute (collectively, the “1933 Act”), and applicable state securities
laws.
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and the mutual covenants contained herein and other good and valuable consideration, the
receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Company and the Buyer hereby agree as follows:
 

1. DEFINITIONS.
 

As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings:
 

a. “Person” means any person or entity including any corporation, a limited liability company, an association, a partnership, an
organization, a business, an individual, a governmental or political subdivision thereof or a governmental agency.

 
b. “Register,” “registered,” and “registration” refer to a registration effected by preparing and filing one or more registration statements of

the Company in compliance with the 1933 Act and pursuant to Rule 415 under the 1933 Act or any successor rule providing for offering securities on a
continuous basis (“Rule 415”), and the declaration or ordering of effectiveness of such registration statement(s) by the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “SEC”).

c. “Registrable Securities” means (i) all of the Commitment Shares and (ii) such number of Purchase Shares as reasonably determined by
the Company, which may from time to time be, issued or issuable to the Buyer upon purchases of the Available Amount under the Purchase Agreement, and
any shares of capital stock issued or issuable with respect to the Purchase Shares, the Commitment Shares or the Purchase Agreement as a result of any stock
split, stock dividend, recapitalization, exchange or similar event, without regard to any limitation on purchases under the Purchase Agreement.
 

 



 

 
d. “Registration Statement” means a registration statement of the Company covering only the sale of the Registrable Securities.
 

2. REGISTRATION.
 

a. Mandatory Registration. The Company shall within Ten (10) Business Days from the date hereof file with the SEC the Registration
Statement. The Registration Statement shall register the Registrable Securities. The Buyer and its counsel shall have a reasonable opportunity to review and
comment upon such Registration Statement or any amendment to such Registration Statement and any related prospectus prior to its filing with the SEC.
Buyer shall furnish all information reasonably requested by the Company for inclusion therein. The Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to
have the Registration Statement or any amendment declared effective by the SEC as soon as practicable. Subject to Section 3(e), the Company shall use
commercially reasonable efforts to keep the Registration Statement effective pursuant to Rule 415 promulgated under the 1933 Act and available for sales of
all of the Registrable Securities at all times until the earlier of (i) the date as of which the Buyer may sell all of the Registrable Securities without restriction
pursuant to Rule 144 promulgated under the 1933 Act (or successor thereto) or (ii) the date on which the Buyer shall have sold all the Registrable Securities
and no Available Amount remains under the Purchase Agreement (the “Registration Period”). The Registration Statement (including any amendments or
supplements thereto and prospectuses contained therein) shall not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be
stated therein, or necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.
 

b. Rule 424 Prospectus. The Company shall, as required by applicable securities regulations, from time to time file with the SEC, pursuant
to Rule 424 promulgated under the 1933 Act, a prospectus and prospectus supplements, if any, to be used in connection with sales of the Registrable
Securities under the Registration Statement. The Buyer and its counsel shall have two (2) Business Days to review and comment upon such prospectus prior
to its filing with the SEC. The Buyer shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to comment upon such prospectus within one (1) Business Day from the
date the Buyer receives the final version of such prospectus.
 

c. Sufficient Number of Shares Registered. In the event the number of shares available under the Registration Statement is insufficient to
cover the Registrable Securities, the Company shall, to the extent necessary and permissible, amend the Registration Statement or file a new registration
statement (a “New Registration Statement”), so as to cover all of such Registrable Securities as soon as practicable, but in any event not later than ten (10)
Business Days after the necessity therefor arises. The Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to have such amendment and/or New
Registration Statement become effective as soon as reasonably practicable following the filing thereof.
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3. RELATED OBLIGATIONS.

 
With respect to the Registration Statement and whenever any Registrable Securities are to be registered pursuant to Sections 2(a) and (c), including

on any New Registration Statement, the Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to effect the registration of the Registrable Securities in
accordance with the intended method of disposition thereof and, pursuant thereto, the Company shall have the following obligations:
 

a. The Company shall prepare and file with the SEC such amendments (including post-effective amendments) and supplements to any
Registration Statement and the prospectus used in connection with such Registration Statement, as may be necessary to keep the Registration Statement or
any New Registration Statement effective at all times during the Registration Period, subject to Section 3(e) hereof and, during such period, comply with the
provisions of the 1933 Act with respect to the disposition of all Registrable Securities of the Company covered by the Registration Statement or any New
Registration Statement until such time as all of such Registrable Securities shall have been disposed of in accordance with the intended methods of
disposition by the seller or sellers thereof as set forth in such Registration Statement. Should the Company file a post-effective amendment to the Registration
Statement or a New Registration Statement, the Company will use its commercially reasonable efforts to have such filing declared effective by the SEC
within Twenty (20) consecutive Business Days as of the date of filing, which such period shall be extended for an additional Thirty (30) Business Days if the
Company receives a comment letter from the SEC in connection therewith.
 

b. The Company shall submit to the Buyer for review and comment any disclosure in the Registration Statement or any New Registration
Statement and all amendments and supplements thereto (other than prospectus supplements that consist only of a copy of a filed Form 10-Q or a Current
Report on Form 8-K) containing information provided by the Buyer for inclusion in such document and any descriptions or disclosure regarding the Buyer,
the Purchase Agreement, including the transaction contemplated thereby, or this Agreement at least two (2) Business Days prior to their filing with the SEC,
and not file any document in a form to which Buyer reasonably and timely objects. Upon request of the Buyer, the Company shall provide to the Buyer all
disclosure in the Registration Statement or any New Registration Statement and all amendments and supplements thereto (other than prospectus supplements
that consist only of a copy of a filed Form 10-Q or Current Report on Form 8-K) at least two (2) Business Days prior to their filing with the SEC, and not file
any document in a form to which Buyer reasonably and timely objects, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. The Buyer
shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to comment upon the Registration Statement or any New Registration Statement and any amendments or
supplements thereto within one (1) Business Day from the date the Buyer receives the final version thereof. The Company shall furnish to the Buyer, without
charge, any correspondence from the SEC or the staff of the SEC to the Company or its representatives relating to the Registration Statement or any New
Registration Statement.
 

c. Upon request of the Buyer, the Company shall furnish to the Buyer, (i) promptly after the same is prepared and filed with the SEC, at
least one copy of the Registration Statement and any amendment(s) thereto, including financial statements and schedules, all documents incorporated therein
by reference and all exhibits, (ii) upon the effectiveness of a Registration Statement, a copy of the prospectus included in such Registration Statement and all
amendments and supplements thereto (or such other number of copies as the Buyer may reasonably request) and (iii) such other documents, including copies
of any preliminary or final prospectus, as the Buyer may reasonably request from time to time in order to facilitate the disposition of the Registrable
Securities owned by the Buyer.
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d. The Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to (i) register and qualify, unless an exemption from registration and

qualification is available, the Registrable Securities covered by a Registration Statement under such other securities or “blue sky” laws of such jurisdictions in
the United States as the Buyer reasonably requests, (ii) prepare and file in those jurisdictions, such amendments (including post-effective amendments) and
supplements to such registrations and qualifications as may be necessary to maintain the effectiveness thereof during the Registration Period, (iii) take such
other actions as may be necessary to maintain such registrations and qualifications in effect at all times during the Registration Period, and (iv) take all other
actions reasonably necessary or advisable to qualify the Registrable Securities for sale in such jurisdictions; provided, however, that the Company shall not be
required in connection therewith or as a condition thereto to (x) qualify to do business in any jurisdiction where it would not otherwise be required to qualify
but for this Section 3(d), (y) subject itself to general taxation in any such jurisdiction, or (z) file a general consent to service of process in any such
jurisdiction. The Company shall promptly notify the Buyer who holds Registrable Securities of the receipt by the Company of any notification with respect to
the suspension of the registration or qualification of any of the Registrable Securities for sale under the securities or “blue sky” laws of any jurisdiction in the
United States or its receipt of actual notice of the initiation or threat of any proceeding for such purpose.
 

e. As promptly as practicable after becoming aware of such event or facts, the Company shall notify the Buyer in writing if the Company
has determined that the prospectus included in any Registration Statement, as then in effect, includes an untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state a
material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading, and promptly prepare a prospectus supplement or amendment to such Registration Statement to correct such untrue statement or omission, and,
upon the Buyer’s request, deliver a copy of such prospectus supplement or amendment to the Buyer. In providing this notice to the Buyer, the Company shall
not include any other information about the facts underlying the Company’s determination and shall not in any way communicate any material nonpublic
information about the Company or the Common Stock to the Buyer. The Company shall also promptly notify the Buyer in writing (i) when a prospectus or
any prospectus supplement or post-effective amendment has been filed, and when a Registration Statement or any post-effective amendment has become
effective (notification of such effectiveness shall be delivered to the Buyer by facsimile or e-mail on the same day of such effectiveness), (ii) of any request by
the SEC for amendments or supplements to any Registration Statement or related prospectus or related information, and (iii) of the Company’s reasonable
determination that a post-effective amendment to a Registration Statement would be appropriate.
 

f. The Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to prevent the issuance of any stop order or other suspension of effectiveness
of any Registration Statement, or the suspension of the qualification of any Registrable Securities for sale in any jurisdiction and, if such an order or
suspension is issued, to obtain the withdrawal of such order or suspension at the earliest practical time and to notify the Buyer of the issuance of such order
and the resolution thereof or its receipt of actual notice of the initiation or threat of any proceeding for such purpose.

 
g. The Company shall (i) cause all the Registrable Securities to be listed on each securities exchange on which securities of the same class

or series issued by the Company are then listed, if any, if the listing of such Registrable Securities is then permitted under the rules of such exchange, or (ii)
secure designation and quotation of all the Registrable Securities if the Principal Market (as such term is defined in the Purchase Agreement) is an automated
quotation system. The Company shall pay all fees and expenses in connection with satisfying its obligation under this Section.
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h. The Company shall cooperate with the Buyer to facilitate the timely preparation and delivery of certificates (not bearing any restrictive

legend) representing the Registrable Securities to be offered pursuant to any Registration Statement and enable such certificates to be in such denominations
or amounts as the Buyer may reasonably request and registered in such names as the Buyer may request.
 

i. The Company shall at all times provide a transfer agent and registrar with respect to its Common Stock.
 

j. If reasonably requested by the Buyer, the Company shall (i) promptly incorporate in a prospectus supplement or post-effective
amendment to the Registration Statement such information as the Buyer believes should be included therein relating to the sale and distribution of Registrable
Securities, including, without limitation, information with respect to the number of Registrable Securities being sold, the purchase price being paid therefor
and any other terms of the offering of the Registrable Securities; (ii) make all required filings of such prospectus supplement or post-effective amendment
promptly after being notified of the matters to be incorporated in such prospectus supplement or post-effective amendment; and (iii) supplement or make
amendments to any Registration Statement.
 

k. The Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Registrable Securities covered by any Registration Statement to
be registered with or approved by such other governmental agencies or authorities in the United States as may be necessary to consummate the disposition of
such Registrable Securities.

l. Within one (1) Business Day after any Registration Statement is ordered effective by the SEC, either the Company or Company counsel
shall deliver to the Transfer Agent for such Registrable Securities (with copies to the Buyer) confirmation that such Registration Statement has been declared
effective by the SEC in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A. Thereafter, if reasonably requested by the Buyer at any time, the Company shall deliver to the
Buyer a written confirmation of whether or not the effectiveness of such Registration Statement has lapsed at any time for any reason (including, without
limitation, the issuance of a stop order) and whether or not the Registration Statement is currently effective and available to the Buyer for sale of all of the
Registrable Securities.
 

m. The Company agrees to take all other reasonable actions as necessary and requested by the Buyer to expedite and facilitate disposition
by the Buyer of Registrable Securities pursuant to any Registration Statement.
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4. OBLIGATIONS OF THE BUYER.

 
a. The Buyer has furnished to the Company in Exhibit B hereto such information regarding itself, the Registrable Securities held by it and

the intended method of disposition of the Registrable Securities held by it as required to effect the registration of such Registrable Securities and shall execute
such documents in connection with such registration as the Company may reasonably request. The Company shall notify the Buyer in writing of any other
information the Company reasonably requires from the Buyer in connection with any Registration Statement hereunder. The Buyer will as promptly as
practicable notify the Company of any material change in the information set forth in Exhibit B, other than changes in its ownership of the Common Stock.
 

b. The Buyer agrees to cooperate with the Company as reasonably requested by the Company in connection with the preparation and filing
of any amendments and supplements to any Registration Statement hereunder.
 

c. The Buyer agrees that, upon receipt of any notice from the Company of the happening of any event or existence of facts of the kind
described in Section 3(f) or any notice of the kind described in the first sentence of 3(e), the Buyer will immediately discontinue disposition of Registrable
Securities pursuant to any registration statement(s) covering such Registrable Securities until the Buyer’s receipt (which may be accomplished through
electronic delivery) of the copies of the filed supplemented or amended prospectus contemplated by Section 3(f) or the first sentence of 3(e). In addition, upon
receipt of any notice from the Company of the kind described in the first sentence of Section 3(e), the Buyer will immediately discontinue purchases or sales
of any securities of the Company unless such purchases or sales are in compliance with applicable U.S. securities laws. Notwithstanding anything to the
contrary, the Company shall cause its Transfer Agent to deliver as promptly as practicable shares of Common Stock without any restrictive legend in
accordance with the terms of the Purchase Agreement in connection with any sale of Registrable Securities with respect to which the Buyer has received a
Purchase Notice or VWAP Purchase Notice (both as defined in the Purchase Agreement) prior to the Buyer’s receipt of a notice from the Company of the
happening of any event of the kind described in Section 3(f) or the first sentence of 3(e) and for which the Buyer has not yet settled.

 
5. EXPENSES OF REGISTRATION.

 
All reasonable expenses of the Company, other than sales or brokerage commissions, incurred in connection with registrations, filings or

qualifications pursuant to Sections 2 and 3, including, without limitation, all registration, listing and qualifications fees, printers and accounting fees, and fees
and disbursements of counsel for the Company, shall be paid by the Company.
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6. INDEMNIFICATION.

 
a. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Company will, and hereby does, indemnify, hold harmless and defend the Buyer, each Person,

if any, who controls the Buyer, the members, the directors, officers, partners, employees, agents, representatives of the Buyer and each Person, if any, who
controls the Buyer within the meaning of the 1933 Act or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “1934 Act”) (each, an “Indemnified
Person”), against any losses, claims, damages, liabilities, judgments, fines, penalties, charges, costs, reasonable attorneys’ fees, amounts paid in settlement
(with the consent of the Company, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld) or reasonable expenses, (collectively, “Claims”) reasonably incurred in
investigating, preparing or defending any action, claim, suit, inquiry, proceeding, investigation or appeal taken from the foregoing by or before any court or
governmental, administrative or other regulatory agency or body or the SEC, whether pending or threatened, whether or not an indemnified party is or may be
a party thereto (“Indemnified Damages”), to which any of them may become subject insofar as such Claims (or actions or proceedings, whether commenced
or threatened, in respect thereof) arise out of or are based upon: (i) any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact in the Registration
Statement, any New Registration Statement or any post-effective amendment thereto or in any filing made in connection with the qualification of the offering
under the securities or other “blue sky” laws of any jurisdiction in which Registrable Securities are offered (“Blue Sky Filing”), or the omission or alleged
omission to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading, (ii) any untrue statement or alleged
untrue statement of a material fact contained in the final prospectus (as amended or supplemented, if the Company files any amendment thereof or
supplement thereto with the SEC) or the omission or alleged omission to state therein any material fact necessary to make the statements made therein, in
light of the circumstances under which the statements therein were made, not misleading, or (iii) any violation or alleged violation by the Company of the
1933 Act, the 1934 Act, any other law, including, without limitation, any state securities law, or any rule or regulation thereunder relating to the offer or sale
of the Registrable Securities pursuant to the Registration Statement or any New Registration Statement (the matters in the foregoing clauses (i) through (iii)
being, collectively, “Violations”). The Company shall reimburse each Indemnified Person promptly as such expenses are incurred and are due and payable,
for any reasonable legal fees or other reasonable expenses incurred by them in connection with investigating or defending any such Claim. Notwithstanding
anything to the contrary contained herein, the indemnification agreement contained in this Section 6(a): (A) shall not apply to a Claim by an Indemnified
Person arising out of or based upon a Violation which occurs in reliance upon and in conformity with information furnished in writing to the Company by
such Indemnified Person expressly for use in connection with the preparation of the Registration Statement, any New Registration Statement or any such
amendment thereof or supplement thereto, if such prospectus was timely made available by the Company; (B) with respect to any superseded prospectus,
shall not inure to the benefit of any such person from whom the person asserting any such Claim purchased the Registrable Securities that are the subject
thereof (or to the benefit of any other Indemnified Person) if the untrue statement or omission of material fact contained in the superseded prospectus was
corrected in the revised prospectus, as then amended or supplemented, if such revised prospectus was timely made available by the Company pursuant to
Section 3(c) or Section 3(e), and the Buyer was promptly advised in writing not to use the incorrect prospectus prior to the use giving rise to a violation; (C)
shall not be available to the extent such Claim is based on a failure of the Buyer to deliver, or to cause to be delivered, the prospectus made available by the
Company, if such prospectus was theretofore made available by the Company pursuant to Section 3(c) or Section 3(e); and (D) shall not apply to amounts
paid in settlement of any Claim if such settlement is effected without the prior written consent of the Company, which consent shall not be unreasonably
withheld. Such indemnity shall remain in full force and effect and shall survive the transfer of the Registrable Securities by the Buyer pursuant to Section 9.
 

b. In connection with the Registration Statement or any New Registration Statement, the Buyer agrees to indemnify, hold harmless and
defend, to the same extent and in the same manner as is set forth in Section 6(a), the Company, each of its directors, each of its officers who signs the
Registration Statement or any New Registration Statement, each Person, if any, who controls the Company within the meaning of the 1933 Act or the 1934
Act (collectively and together with an Indemnified Person, an “Indemnified Party”), against any Claim or Indemnified Damages to which any of them may
become subject, under the 1933 Act, the 1934 Act or otherwise, insofar as such Claim or Indemnified Damages arise out of or are based upon any Violation,
in each case to the extent, and only to the extent, that such Violation occurs in reliance upon and in conformity with written information about the Buyer set
forth on Exhibit B attached hereto or updated from time to time in writing by the Buyer and furnished to the Company by the Buyer expressly for use in in the
Registration Statement or any New Registration Statement or from the failure of the Buyer to deliver or to cause to be delivered the prospectus made available
by the Company, if such prospectus was timely made available by the Company pursuant to Section 3(c) or Section 3(e); and, subject to Section 6(d), the
Buyer will reimburse any legal or other expenses reasonably incurred by them in connection with investigating or defending any such Claim; provided,
however, that the indemnity agreement contained in this Section 6(b) and the agreement with respect to contribution contained in Section 7 shall not apply to
amounts paid in settlement of any Claim if such settlement is effected without the prior written consent of the Buyer, which consent shall not be unreasonably
withheld; provided, further, however, that the Buyer shall be liable under this Section 6(b) for only that amount of a Claim or Indemnified Damages as does
not exceed the net proceeds to the Buyer as a result of the sale of Registrable Securities pursuant to such registration statement. Such indemnity shall remain
in full force and effect and shall survive the transfer of the Registrable Securities by the Buyer pursuant to Section 9.
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c. Promptly after receipt by an Indemnified Person or Indemnified Party under this Section 6 of notice of the commencement of any action

or proceeding (including any governmental action or proceeding) involving a Claim, such Indemnified Person or Indemnified Party shall, if a Claim in respect
thereof is to be made against any indemnifying party under this Section 6, deliver to the indemnifying party a written notice of the commencement thereof,
and the indemnifying party shall have the right to participate in, and, to the extent the indemnifying party so desires, jointly with any other indemnifying party
similarly noticed, to assume control of the defense thereof with counsel mutually satisfactory to the indemnifying party and the Indemnified Person or the
Indemnified Party, as the case may be, and upon such notice, the indemnifying party shall not be liable to the Indemnified Person or Indemnified Party for any
legal or other expenses subsequently incurred by the Indemnified Person or Party in connection with the defense thereof; provided, however, that an
Indemnified Person or Indemnified Party shall have the right to retain its own counsel with the fees and expenses to be paid by the indemnifying party, if, in
the reasonable opinion of counsel retained by the indemnifying party, the representation by such counsel of the Indemnified Person or Indemnified Party and
the indemnifying party would be inappropriate due to actual or potential differing interests between such Indemnified Person or Indemnified Party and any
other party represented by such counsel in such proceeding. The Indemnified Party or Indemnified Person shall cooperate with the indemnifying party in
connection with any negotiation or defense of any such action or claim by the indemnifying party and shall furnish to the indemnifying party all information
reasonably available to the Indemnified Party or Indemnified Person which relates to such action or claim. The indemnifying party shall keep the Indemnified
Party or Indemnified Person fully apprised as to the status of the defense or any settlement negotiations with respect thereto. No indemnifying party shall be
liable for any settlement of any action, claim or proceeding effected without its written consent, provided, however, that the indemnifying party shall not
unreasonably withhold, delay or condition its consent. No indemnifying party shall, without the consent of the Indemnified Party or Indemnified Person,
consent to entry of any judgment or enter into any settlement or other compromise which does not include as an unconditional term thereof the giving by the
claimant or plaintiff to such Indemnified Party or Indemnified Person of a release from all liability in respect to such claim or litigation. Following
indemnification as provided for hereunder, the indemnifying party shall be subrogated to all rights of the Indemnified Party or Indemnified Person with
respect to all third parties, firms or corporations relating to the matter for which indemnification has been made. The failure to deliver written notice to the
indemnifying party within a reasonable time of the commencement of any such action shall not relieve such indemnifying party of any liability to the
Indemnified Person or Indemnified Party under this Section 6, except to the extent that the indemnifying party is prejudiced in its ability to defend such
action.
 

d. The indemnification required by this Section 6 shall be made by periodic payments of the amount thereof during the course of the
investigation or defense, as and when bills are received or Indemnified Damages are incurred.
 

e. The indemnity agreements contained herein shall be in addition to (i) any cause of action or similar right of the Indemnified Party or
Indemnified Person against the indemnifying party or others, and (ii) any liabilities the indemnifying party may be subject to pursuant to the law.
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7. CONTRIBUTION.

 
To the extent any indemnification by an indemnifying party is prohibited or limited by law, the indemnifying party agrees to make the

maximum contribution with respect to any amounts for which it would otherwise be liable under Section 6 to the fullest extent permitted by law; provided,
however, that: (i) no seller of Registrable Securities guilty of fraudulent misrepresentation (within the meaning of Section 11(f) of the 1933 Act) shall be
entitled to contribution from any seller of Registrable Securities who was not guilty of fraudulent misrepresentation; and (ii) contribution by any seller of
Registrable Securities shall be limited in amount to the net amount of proceeds received by such seller from the sale of such Registrable Securities.
 

8. REPORTS AND DISCLOSURE UNDER THE SECURITIES ACTS.
 

With a view to making available to the Buyer the benefits of Rule 144 promulgated under the 1933 Act or any other similar rule or
regulation of the SEC that may at any time permit the Buyer to sell securities of the Company to the public without registration (“Rule 144”), the Company
agrees, at the Company’s sole expense, to:
 

a. make and keep public information available, as those terms are understood and defined in Rule 144;
 

b. file with the SEC in a timely manner all reports and other documents required of the Company under the 1933 Act and the 1934 Act so
long as the Company remains subject to such requirements and the filing of such reports and other documents is required to satisfy the current public
information requirements of Rule 144; and
 

c. furnish to the Buyer so long as the Buyer owns Registrable Securities, as promptly as practicable at Buyer’s request, (i) a written
statement by the Company that it has complied in all material respects with the requirements of Rule 144(c)(1)(i) and (ii), and (ii) such other information, if
any, as may be reasonably requested to permit the Buyer to sell such securities pursuant to Rule 144 without registration.
 

d. take such additional action as is requested by the Buyer to enable the Buyer to sell the Registrable Securities pursuant to Rule 144,
including, without limitation, delivering all such legal opinions, consents, certificates, resolutions and instructions to the Company’s Transfer Agent as may
be reasonably requested from time to time by the Buyer and otherwise fully cooperate with the Buyer and the Buyer’s broker to effect such sale of securities
pursuant to Rule 144.
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The Company agrees that damages may be an inadequate remedy for any breach of the terms and provisions of this Section 8 and that Investor shall,

whether or not it is pursuing any remedies at law, be entitled to seek, at its sole cost and expense, equitable relief in the form of a preliminary or permanent
injunctions, upon any breach or threatened breach of any such terms or provisions.
 

9. ASSIGNMENT OF REGISTRATION RIGHTS.
 

The Company shall not assign this Agreement or any rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of the Buyer. The
Buyer may not assign its rights under this Agreement without the written consent of the Company.
 

10. AMENDMENT OF REGISTRATION RIGHTS.
 

Provisions of this Agreement may be amended and the observance thereof may be waived (either generally or in a particular instance and
either retroactively or prospectively) only with the written consent of the Company and the Buyer.
 

11. MISCELLANEOUS.
 

a. Any notices, consents, waivers or other communications required or permitted to be given under the terms of this Agreement must be in
writing and will be deemed to have been delivered: (i) upon receipt, when delivered personally; (ii) upon receipt, when sent by facsimile (provided
confirmation of transmission is mechanically or electronically generated and kept on file by the sending party); or (iii) one (1) Business Day after deposit with
a nationally recognized overnight delivery service, in each case properly addressed to the party to receive the same. The addresses and facsimile numbers for
such communications shall be:
 

If to the Company:
 

Atossa Genetics, Inc.
1616 Eastlake Ave. East, Suite 510
Seattle, Washington 98102
Telephone: 800 351-3902
Facsimile: 206 430-1288
Attention: Kyle Guse
Chief Financial Officer and General Counsel

 
 
 
With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
 

Ropes & Gray LLP
Three Embarcadero Center, 3rd Floor
San Francisco, CA 94111
Telephone: (415) 315-6395
Facsimile: (415) 315-6026
Attention: Ryan A. Murr, Esq.
 

10



 

 
If to the Buyer:
 

Aspire Capital Fund, LLC
155 North Wacker Drive, Suite 1600
Chicago, IL 60606
Telephone: 312-658-0400
Facsimile: 312-658-4005
Attention: Steven G. Martin
 

With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
 

O’Melveny & Myers LLP
1625 Eye Street, NW
Washington, DC 20006
Telephone: 202-383-5418
Facsimile: 202-383-5414
Attention: Martin P. Dunn, Esq.
 

or at such other address and/or facsimile number and/or to the attention of such other person as the recipient party has specified by written notice given to
each other party. Written confirmation of receipt (A) given by the recipient of such notice, consent, waiver or other communication, (B) mechanically or
electronically generated by the sender’s facsimile machine containing the time, date, recipient facsimile number and an image of the first page of such
transmission or (C) provided by a nationally recognized overnight delivery service, shall be rebuttable evidence of personal service, receipt by facsimile or
receipt from a nationally recognized overnight delivery service in accordance with clause (i), (ii) or (iii) above, respectively. Any party to this Agreement may
give any notice or other communication hereunder using any other means (including messenger service, ordinary mail or electronic mail), but no such notice
or other communication shall be deemed to have been duly given unless it actually is received by the party for whom it is intended.
 

b. No failure or delay in the exercise of any power, right or privilege hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or
partial exercise of any such power, right or privilege preclude other or further exercise thereof or of any other right, power or privilege.
 

c. The corporate laws of the State of Delaware shall govern all issues concerning the relative rights of the Company and its stockholders.
All other questions concerning the construction, validity, enforcement and interpretation of this Agreement shall be governed by the internal laws of the State
of Illinois, without giving effect to any choice of law or conflict of law provision or rule (whether of the State of Illinois or any other jurisdictions) that would
cause the application of the laws of any jurisdictions other than the State of Illinois. Each party hereby irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the
state and federal courts sitting in the City of Chicago for the adjudication of any dispute hereunder or in connection herewith or with any transaction
contemplated hereby or discussed herein, and hereby irrevocably waives, and agrees not to assert in any suit, action or proceeding, any claim that it is not
personally subject to the jurisdiction of any such court, that such suit, action or proceeding is brought in an inconvenient forum or that the venue of such suit,
action or proceeding is improper. Each party hereby irrevocably waives personal service of process and consents to process being served in any such suit,
action or proceeding by mailing a copy thereof to such party at the address for such notices to it under this Agreement and agrees that such service shall
constitute good and sufficient service of process and notice thereof. Nothing contained herein shall be deemed to limit in any way any right to serve process in
any manner permitted by law. If any provision of this Agreement shall be invalid or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, such invalidity or unenforceability shall
not affect the validity or enforceability of the remainder of this Agreement in that jurisdiction or the validity or enforceability of any provision of this
Agreement in any other jurisdiction. EACH PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE, AND AGREES NOT TO
REQUEST, A JURY TRIAL FOR THE ADJUDICATION OF ANY DISPUTE HEREUNDER OR IN CONNECTION HEREWITH OR ARISING
OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY TRANSACTION CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.
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d. This Agreement, the Purchase Agreement and the other Transaction Documents constitute the entire understanding among the parties

hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof. There are no restrictions, promises, warranties or undertakings, other than those set forth or
referred to herein and therein. This Agreement, the Purchase Agreement and the other Transaction Documents supersede all other prior oral or written
agreements between the Buyer, the Company, their affiliates and persons acting on their behalf with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof.
 

e. Subject to the requirements of Section 9, this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the permitted successors and
assigns of each of the parties hereto.
 

f. The headings in this Agreement are for convenience of reference and shall not form part of, or affect the interpretation of, this Agreement.
 

g. This Agreement may be executed in two or more identical counterparts, all of which shall be considered one and the same agreement and
shall become effective when counterparts have been signed by each party and delivered to the other party; provided that a facsimile or pdf (or other electronic
reproduction of a) signature shall be considered due execution and shall be binding upon the signatory thereto with the same force and effect as if the
signature were an original, not a facsimile or PDF (or other electronic reproduction of a) signature.
 

h. Each party shall do and perform, or cause to be done and performed, all such further acts and things, and shall execute and deliver all
such other agreements, certificates, instruments and documents as the other party may reasonably request in order to carry out the intent and accomplish the
purposes of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.
 

i. The language used in this Agreement will be deemed to be the language chosen by the parties to express their mutual intent and no rules
of strict construction will be applied against any party.
 

j. This Agreement is intended for the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective permitted successors and assigns, and is not for the
benefit of, nor may any provision hereof be enforced by, any other Person.
 

* * * * *
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Registration Rights Agreement to be duly executed as of day and year first above written.

 
 
 THE COMPANY:  
    
 ATOSSA GENETICS, INC.  
    
 By: /s/ Steven C. Quay  
 Name:  Steven C. Quay  
 Title: Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President  
 
  BUYER:
   
  ASPIRE CAPITAL FUND, LLC
  BY: ASPIRE CAPITAL PARTNERS, LLC
  BY: SGM Holdings Corp
 
 By: /s/ Steve Martin  
 Name:   Steve Martin  
 Title:  President  
  

 

 

 



 

Ownerchip Program Agreement
 
This OwnerChip Program Agreement (“Agreement”) is entered into as of September 1, 2013 (“Effective Date”) by and between Affymetrix, Inc., having its
principal place of business at 3420 Central Expressway, Santa Clara, CA 95051 (“Affymetrix”) and The National Reference Laboratory for Breast Health,
Inc. (“Customer”), with a place of business at 1616 Eastlake Avenue East, Suite 510, Seattle, WA 98102 (“Customer’s Site”), each a “Party” and together as
“Parties”.
 
WHEREAS, Affymetrix is the manufacturer of the GeneChip® System 3000Dx v.2 (“Instrument”); and
 
WHEREAS, Customer wishes to acquire such Instrument; and
 
WHEREAS, Affymetrix agrees to distribute such Instrument to Customer.
 
NOW, therefore, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, Affymetrix has agreed to loan the Instrument to Customer based on the following
terms and conditions:
 
1. Customer shall fulfill all of the following obligations in order to receive title to the Instrument:
 

a. Purchase and take delivery of a minimum of thirty (30) GeneChip Human Genome U133 Plus 2.0 (30-pack) arrays (PN 900467) (“U133 arrays”) at
US$21,590 per 30-pack within three (3) years from the Effective Date (“Purchase Commitment”) with a minimum purchase of ten (10) U133 arrays
per Contract Year (“Annual Commitment”). “Contract Year” means the 12-month period from the Effective Date and the subsequent anniversary
dates.

 
b. Customer must place the first purchase order for at least four (4) U133 arrays along with this signed agreement to Affymetrix Customer Service by

September 13, 2013 (“Initial Order”) in order to receive the following products:
 

TABLE 1          
          
Product  Part #   Quantity   Sales Price  
          
3’ IVT Express Training (Dx2) Training Labor (2 days)   000831    1   $ 0.00 
             
GCS 3000Dx v.2 Instrument System   00-0334    1   $ 0.00 
             
GCS 3000Dx Installation Install Labor   901825    1   $ 0.00 
             
Gene Expression Application Training   000112    1   $ 0.00 
             
Sensation Plus FFPE Amplification & 3’ IVT Labeling Kit (sufficient for 12
reactions)   902039    1   $ 0.00 
             
Sensation Plus FFPE Amplification & 3’ IVT Labeling Kit (sufficient for 24
reactions)   902028    1   $ 0.00 
             
GeneChip Hybridization, Wash and Stain Kit (sufficient for 30 reactions)   900720    1   $ 0.00 
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2.  The Instrument will be on loan to Customer until the Purchase Commitment is fulfilled (the “Loan Term”). During the Loan Term, use of the Instrument
shall be governed by this Agreement and any Exhibits attached are hereby incorporated into the Agreement by reference. For the first twelve (12) months of
the Loan Term, the Affymetrix standard Limited Warranty provision as stated in Section 6 of the Terms and Conditions shall apply. Thereafter, Customer
must purchase from Affymetrix a service contract for maintenance and support of the Instrument for the remainder of the Term. The cost of the service
contract is $25,800 per year. If title transfers to the Customer prior to the end of the Term, Customer will true up on the cost of the service contract.
Affymetrix will be responsible for installing the Instrument upon delivery, and Customer shall provide Affymetrix reasonable access to Customer’s Site
necessary for such installation.
 
3.  Title to the Instrument shall remain with Affymetrix until the title is transferred to Customer in return for the fulfillment of the Purchase Commitment.
During the Loan Term, Customer agrees not to sell, mortgage, pledge or encumber the Instrument, or provide the Instrument to any third party. Affymetrix
may elect to affix an asset identification tag indicating that the Instrument is property of Affymetrix. Such identification tag, if any, will not to be removed or
altered in any way by Customer. Customer understands that there will be no additional warranty protection once the title is transferred.
 
4.  At the end of each 12-month period, Affymetrix and Customer shall review Customer’s purchases pursuant to this Agreement (“Annual Review”). If
Customer fails to fulfill its obligation under Section 1a during the Loan Term, Customer shall true-up on the Purchase Commitment to that point either by
paying Affymetrix for the total money owed for the number of outstanding arrays or purchase the required products immediately.
 
5.  The use of the Affymetrix Products purchased by Customer and any other Affymetrix products distributed to Customer pursuant to this Agreement shall be
subject to the Affymetrix. Inc. Terms and Conditions of Sale attached hereto as Exhibit A (“Terms and Conditions”).
 
6.  This Agreement and any dispute arising from its construction, performance or breach is governed by the laws of the state of California and the patent and
copyright laws of the United States, without reference to conflicts of laws principles.
 
7.  This Agreement shall be effective as of the Effective Date and terminate three (3) years thereafter (“Term”). This Agreement may be executed in any
number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. This Agreement
constitutes the entire agreement between Customer and Affymetrix with respect to the subject matter hereof and is the final, complete, and exclusive
statement of the terms of the Agreement, superseding all prior written and oral agreements, understandings and undertakings, as well as the terms of any
current future purchase orders or similar forms. Once signed, please return a copy to Affymetrix Contracts Group at 3420 Central Expressway, Santa Clara,
CA 95051 or by email to gigi chapman@affymetrix.com.
 
AGREED AND ACKNOWLEDGED:   
   
Affymetrix, Inc.  Customer
   
By: /s/ Mike Demayo  By: /s/ Kyle Guse
     
Name: Mike Demayo  Name: Kyle Guse
     
Title: VP, NA Commercial ops  Title: CFO
     
Date: 9-4-13  Date: 8/23/13
 

 



 

  
Exhibit A

Affymetrix Terms and Conditions of Sale
 

1. General. These Terns and Conditions of Sale (“Terms and Conditions”) shall govern the sale and license to the original purchaser (“Buyer”) of probe
arrays, assays, reagents, instruments, software, and other products and related services (“Products") from Affymetrix, one of its subsidiaries or authorized
sellers named on the invoice or acknowledgement (Affymetrix, Inc. or any of its subsidiaries named on the invoice is referred to here as "Affymetrix”). These
Terms and Conditions shall replace and supersede any current or future purchase orders or similar forms that are not mutually signed by Affymetrix and
Buyer. Purchase orders, once accepted by Affymetrix, are not subject to cancellation or modification by Buyer without Affymetrix1 written consent.
 
2. Price.
 
(a) For Deliveries Outside Europe: Prices exclude all insurance, freight taxes, fees, duties and levies, which shall be payable by Buyer.
 
(b) For Deliveries Within Europe: Prices include all insurance, duties and levies, unless stated otherwise on the quotation or invoice. Freight and handling fees
will be prepaid by Affymetrix and added to the invoice for reimbursement by Buyer.
 
3. Delivery. Products will be packed in Affymetrix’ standard shipping packages. Affymetrix may make partial deliveries. Affymetrix will ship via carrier
selected by Affymetrix. Delivery dates set forth on a purchase order accepted by Affymetrix are subject to change and are predicated on conditions existing at
that time. Affymetrix does not guarantee any delivery dates and shall not be responsible for any loss or damage of any kind or nature whatsoever caused by
any delay in delivery irrespective of the cause of such delay.
 
(a) For Deliveries Outside Europe: Tender will be FCA shipping point. Title (except for software, in which case Affymetrix shall retain title) and risk of loss
or damage will pass to Buyer upon delivery of the Products to the carrier.
 
(b) For Deliveries Within Europe: Products shall be Delivered Duty Paid Excluding VAT (DDP Ex VAT) to the Buyer’s site and the Buyer will be the
importer for the Products and be responsible for paying VAT or similar taxes within the Buyer’s country. Title (except for software, in which case Affymetrix
shall retain title) and risk of loss or damage will pass to Buyer upon delivery of the Products to the carrier.
 
4. Rejection. Any claims for- damaged, missing or defective Product must be reported in writing to Affymetrix by Buyer within five (5) days from the date of
receipt of Product For any valid claim made, Affymetrix shall repair or replace the Product The foregoing shall be Buyer’s sole and exclusive remedy for
damaged or missing Products, and, except for express warranty rights, for defective Products.
 
5. Payment Buyer will be invoiced at the time of shipment of each Product. Buyer shall make payment in full within thirty (30) days of the date of the
invoice. Late payments may incur a charge at the rate of one and one-half percent (1.5%) percent per month, or the maximum allowed by law, whichever is
less. Further shipment of Products may be declined without advance notice if Buyer fails to make any payment when due, or if the financial condition of
Buyer becomes unsatisfactory to Affymetrix. Affymetrix may ellect to retain a security interest in all Products sold to Buyer to secure all of Buyer’s
obligations to Affymetrix under these Terms and Conditions, and Buyer will execute any documents necessary to create and perfect this interest. Sales by
Affymetrix shipped outside the U.S. may require payment on an irrevocable letter of credit reasonably acceptable to Affymetrix.
 
6. Limited Warranty.
 

· For new Instruments, Affymetrix warrants only to Buyer for the period that is the shortest of (i) thirteen (13) months from the date of shipping; (ii)
one (1) year from the date of installation; or (iii) the shortest period specified in the Affymetrix sales quote for limited-life parts, that the operating
software and instruments are free from defects in material and workmanship and conform to Affymetrix' published specifications in all material
respects.

 
· For refurbished instruments, Affymetrix warrants only to Buyer for a period that is the shortest of (i) one-hundred twenty (120) days from

shipment ;(ii) ninety (90) days from the date of installation; or (iii) the shortest period specified in the Affymetrix sales quote for limited-life parts,
that the operating software and instruments are free from defects in material and workmanship and conform to Affymetrix' published specifications
in all material respects.

 
· For used Instruments, Affymetrix warrants only to Buyer for the period that is the shortest of (i) thirty (30) days from date of shipment; (ii) twenty

(20) days from the date of installation or (iii) the shortest period specified in the Aflymetrix sales quote to limited-life parts, that the instruments and
operating software are free from defects in material and workmanship and conform to Affymetrix' published specifications in all material respects.

 
· For all instruments, warranty service will be provided pursuant to Affymetrix' standard service terms and conditions enumerated therein.

Affymetrix' sole and exclusive liability (and Buyer’s sole and exclusive remedy) under the foregoing warranty shall be the repair or replacement of
instruments, as solely determined by Affymetrix. Nonconforming instruments will be serviced at Buyer’s facility or, at Afflymetrix’ option,
Affymetrix' facility.

 
· For probe arrays or reagents reasonably determined by Affymetrix to be defective, independent of user error, shall be replaced by Affymetrix on a

1:1, like-kind basis at no cost to Buyer or at Afflymetrix’ discretion, as a credit for future purchases, provided that such defective probe arrays or
reagents were used by Buyer prior to their expiration date, or if there is no expiration date, the Products were used within six (6) months of receipt.
The defect must be reported within thirty (30) days of discovery with appropriate detail to Affymetrix' Technical Support team. If the cause of the
failure was due to an Affymetrix instrument malfunction, a replacement will be granted only during the instrument warranty period or if the
instrument is under an instrument service contract, pursuant to the terms and conditions then in effect. Third party reagents or consumables not
purchased from or provided by Affymetrix are not covered under Affymetrix warranty,

 

 



 

 
· For Affymetrix Methods for Automated Target Preparation for GeneTitan®, subject to the conditions and limitations of liability stated herein,

Affymetrix warrants, for one (1) year from the date of installation (“Warranty Period”) of the GeneTitan®, for the Buyer's benefit that the Affymetrix
methods for automated target preparation for the GeneTitan® family of instruments (the “Method") shall operate substantially in accordance with the
accompanying documentation provided that; (i) the Method is installed by a qualified Affymetrix representative, (ii) the automated target preparation
instrument is installed by a qualified engineer and maintained under a valid service contract or warranty with the third party vendor, (iii) the Method
is operated in accordance with the supplied technical instruction from Affymetrix ,(iv) that the associated storage media on which the Method resides
is free from defects in material and workmanship. The foregoing warranty shall not apply to (i) Methods that are modified; (ii) Methods that are not
the then-current version; (fii) problems caused by Buyer's negligence or error, a hardware malfunction or other causes beyond the control of
Affymetrix; or (iv) Methods installed in an operating environment or in a hardware environment not strictly complying with the Affymetrix
specifications required for the Method set forth in the documentation. The warranty stated herein for the Methods do not cover damage to the
automated target preparation instrument nor associated consumables and reagents not supplied by Affymetrix.

 
· Technical Assistance: Affymetrix, may, but is not obligated to, furnish technical assistance and information with respect to the Products. Any

suggestions by Affymetrix regarding use, selection, application or suitability of the Products shall not be construed as a warranty.
 
Except as provided above, any warranty provided herein does not apply to any consumables, including third party reagents, or to any defect caused by Buyer's
failure to provide a suitable storage, use, or operating environment, use of non-recommended reagents, spills, or the use of the Products for a purpose or in a
manner other than that for which they were designed, modifications or repairs done by Buyer, or any other abuse, misuse, or neglect of the Products.
Affymetrix is not responsible for any costs or expenses incurred by the Buyer due to downtime. Affymetrix may at any time stop providing and supporting the
Products (“End of Life”) and will use commercially reasonable efforts to communicate such End of Life events in advance. This warranty applies only to
Buyer, and not third parties. Furthermore, this Warranty stated herein shall not apply to product performance failures that are caused by users of the
Affymetrix Products who were not trained on and qualified to use the Affymetrix Products and assays by an Affymetrix field service engineer, Affymetrix
application specialist, or an authorized Affymetrix seller. The foregoing is not intended to limit any warranty extended to Buyer by a third party original
equipment manufacturer of a Product or component thereof, provided that any remedy received by Buyer under any such warranty shall relieve Affymetrix of
its obligations with respect to the subject of such remedy. TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, AFFYMETRIX AND ITS
SUPPLIERS DISCLAIM ALL OTHER REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, WITH RESPECT TO PRODUCTS AND
SERVICES, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO, ANY IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY, SATISFACTORY QUALITY, NON-
INFRINGEMENT OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE.
 
7. Pre-release Products (Not Applicable to Products Marketed for IVD Usel. If any Product is a beta, technology access, early access, or other pre-commercial
release version ("Pre-release Product"), then this Section applies. To the extent that any provision in this Section is in conflict with any other term or condition
in these Terms and Conditions, this Section shall supersede such other term(s) and condition(s) with respect to the Pre-release Product, but only to the extent
necessary to resolve the conflict. Buyer acknowledges that the Pre-release Product is a pre-release version, does not represent final product from Affymetrix,
and may contain defects, bugs, errors and other problems that could cause system or other failures, sample loss and data loss. CONSEQUENTLY, THE
PRERELEASE PRODUCT IS PROVIDED TO YOU "AS IS" AND AFFYMETRIX DISCLAIMS ALL WARRANTIES (INCLUDING THE LIMITED
WARRANTY SET FORTH ABOVE) AND ALL LIABILITY OBLIGATIONS TO BUYER OF ANY KIND. Buyer acknowledges that Affymetrix has not
promised or guaranteed to Buyer that Pre-release Product will be announced or made available to anyone in the future, that Affymetrix has no express or
implied obligation to Buyer to announce or introduce the Pre-release Product and that Affymetrix may elect not to introduce a product similar to or
compatible with the Pre-release Product. Accordingly, Buyer acknowledges that any research or development that Buyer performs using the Pre-release
Product or any product associated with the Pre-release Product is done entirely at Buyer's own risk.
 
8. Limited License. Subject to these Terms and Conditions, and to the terms and conditions of any license provided by Affymetrix that is specific to a
particular Product (which shall govern with respect to such Product in the event of conflict with these Terms and Conditions), Affymetrix hereby grants to
Buyer a non-exclusive, non-transferable, non-sublicensable license to use the Product(s) provided to Buyer by Affymetrix only in accordance with the
manuals and written instructions provided by Affymetrix. Buyer understands and agrees that except as expressly set forth in these Terms and Conditions (or in
the Affymetrix-provided license specific to a particular Product), no right or license to any patent or other intellectual property owned or licensable by
Affymetrix is conveyed or implied by these Terms and Conditions or any Product. In particular, no right or license is conveyed or implied to use any Product
provided hereunder in combination with a product not provided, licensed or specifically recommended by Affymetrix for such use.
 

 



 

 
9. Product Uses. Products of Afflymetrix which are or may be drugs, food additives or diagnostic reagents, as described in the federal food, drug and cosmetic
act, are for investigational use only in laboratory research animals or testing in vitro, and are not for drug, new drug, veterinary drug, food, food additive or
human use. Unless otherwise indicated, all products are distributed and sold for chemical purposes only, not for drug use or for application to or ingestion by
humans or for commercial horticulture use, for pesticide use, for application to or ingestion by animals or for veterinary drug use. All products sold by
Affymetrix to Buyer shall be used by qualified professionals only. The burden for safe use and handling of all products sold by Affymetrix to Buyer is
entirely the responsibility of Buyer and anyone who purchases the goods from Buyer and uses them. Absence of hazardous warnings does not imply non-
toxicity.
 
10. Products Marketed for Research Use Only.
 

(a) Products marketed by Affymetrix for research use only do not have the approval or clearance of the U.S. Food and Drug Administration ("FDA”) or
other regulatory approval, clearance or registration for in vitro diagnostic (“IVD") use. No license is conveyed or implied for Buyer to use, and
Buyer agrees not to use, such Products in any manner requiring FDA or other regulatory approval, clearance or registration relating to IVD use.

 
(b) Affymetrix’ goods that are intended for research purposes may not be on the Toxic Substances Control Act (“TSCA”) inventory. Buyer assumes

responsibility to ensure that the goods purchased from Affymetrix are approved under TSCA, if applicable. Consistent with Buyer’s agreement to
comply with all TSCA and Research and Development substance exemption (the “R&D exemption”) requirements applicable to the purchase, Buyer
agrees and warrants that Buyer will comply with all the requirements necessary to maintain the R&D exemption, including using the R&D substance
under the supervision of a technically qualified individual, maintaining all necessary labeling, and providing all necessary notifications. Buyer also
agrees and warrants that Buyer will use or sell (if so authorized) the R&D substance exclusively for R&D purposes or specified exempt commercial
purposes. Buyer specifically agrees and warrants that Buyer will not sell or distribute the R&D substance to consumers.

 
11. Products Marketed for In Vitro Diagnostic Use. Products marketed by Affymetrix for IVD use have been cleared by the FDA, and CE marked in the
European Union, for IVD use. No license is conveyed or implied for Buyer to use, and Buyer agrees not to use, such Products in any manner requiring other
regulatory approval, clearance or registration relating to IVD use. The Affymetrix GeneChip® Array Instrumentation System for IVD use requires calibration
and maintenance twice a year by authorized Affymetrix personnel to ensure system performance. Failure to maintain the system as recommended may result
in the failure of the system to perform in accordance with specifications published by Affymetrix.
 
12. Use Restrictions. Buyer is not licensed to, and agrees not to: (a) resell any Affymetrix-supplied probe array or reagent, unless otherwise authorized by
Affymetrix in writing (b) transfer, or distribute any Affymetrix-supplied probe array or reagent, directly or indirectly, to any third party for any purpose or
use, except as otherwise approved by Affymetrix in writing; (c) use or allow anyone to use any Affymetrix-supplied probe array or reagent more than once, or
dilute any Affymetrix-supplied reagent; or (d) provide a fee-for- service or other non-collaborative sample processing service to third parties using an
Affymetrix-supplied probe array or reagent (e.g., wherein the service provider offers standardized services for standardized fees to multiple third parties, the
customer does not contribute scientifically to the services performed, and all rights to the results and discoveries derived therefrom are transferred to the
customer).
 
13. Product Improvements. Except to the extent prohibited by applicable law, Buyer hereby grants to Affymetrix a non-exclusive, worldwide, fully
sublicensable, fully paid-up, royalty-free, irrevocable, perpetual license to all Product Improvements. Buyer need not disclose any Product Improvements to
Affymetrix except as may be reasonably required to comply with the foregoing license. For purposes of this Section, a “Product Improvement" shall mean
any invention conceived or reduced to practice using a Product that relates to (a) design, manufacturing, layout or packaging of nucleic acid probes or probe
arrays; (b) manual or automated assay techniques that may be used in connection with probe arrays or similar products (including techniques related to
nucleic acid extraction, amplification, labeling, dilution and other processes); or (c) software analysis techniques relating to the extraction or storage of data
generated using probe arrays. “Product Improvements” shall not include data generated using Products or discoveries derived therefrom (except as expressly
set forth in (a) - (c) above).
 
14. Target Sequence Confidentiality for Custom Products. If Buyer discloses to Affymetrix a confidential set of nucleic acid or peptide target sequences
(“Target Sequences”) for which Buyer desires Affymetrix to design and manufacture custom probe arrays or custom protein assay or custom nucleic acid
assay pursuant to these Terms and Conditions, upon Buyer’s written request, Affymetrix agrees to use reasonable efforts not to disclose or use such
confidential information disclosed to it by Buyer for any purpose other than designing and manufacturing such Products, supplying them to Buyer and/or
other parties designated by Buyer, otherwise performing its obligations to Buyer (and any obligations Affymetrix may have to such other parties), and for
other purposes authorized by Buyer. The provisions of this Section shall not apply to any information which (a) is known or used by Affymetrix prior to
Buyer’s disclosure to Affymetrix; (b) is disclosed to Affymetrix by a third party under no obligation of confidentiality to Buyer; (c) is or becomes published
or generally known to the public through no fault of Affymetrix; or (d) is independently developed without reference to such confidential information
disclosed to Affymetrix by Buyer. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Affymetrix shall be permitted to disclose such information in order to comply with
applicable laws, a court order, or governmental regulations, provided that Affymetrix has provided Buyer with prior notice of such disclosure, to the extent
reasonably practicable. Afflymetrix’ obligations under this Section shall terminate three (3) years following the date of disclosure.
 

 



 

 
15. Target Sequence Responsibility. Buyer shall be fully responsible for the Target Sequences, including the obtaining of all required consents, and Buyer
agrees to indemnify Affymetrix and its employees, officers, directors, representatives, contractors, suppliers and any affiliate of the foregoing (the
“Affymetrix Group”) and hold each of them harmless from and against any losses, liabilities, demands, damages, costs and expenses, including without
limitation reasonable legal fees and expenses, arising from or relating to the Target Sequences or their use. Buyer agrees to fully cooperate with the
Affymetrix Group and its counsel in its defense and preparation for any such action or proceeding.
 
16. Liability Limitation. EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT CAUSED BY AFFYMETRIX’ GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT, OR
REQUIRED BY APPLICABLE LAW, AFFYMETRIX SHALL HAVE NO LIABILITY FOR ANY LOSS OF USE OR PROFITS, PROCUREMENT OF
SUBSTITUTE GOODS OR ANY INDIRECT, CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL, OR SPECIAL DAMAGES OF ANY KIND, HOWEVER CAUSED
AND REGARDLESS OF FORM OF ACTION WHETHER IN CONTRACT, TORT (INCLUDING NEGLIGENCE), STRICT PRODUCT LIABILITY OR
OTHERWISE, EVEN IF AFFYMETRIX HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES; AS TO ANY AFFYMETRIX
LIABILITY NOT LEGALLY SUBJECT TO THE FOREGOING, AFFYMETRIX’ LIABILITY SHALL NOT EXCEED THE AMOUNT PAID BY BUYER
TO AFFYMETRIX IN THE PRIOR TWELVE (12) MONTHS. BUYER UNDERSTANDS THAT THE RISKS OF LOSS HEREUNDER ARE
REFLECTED IN THE PRICE OF THE PRODUCTS AND THAT THESE TERMS WOULD HAVE BEEN DIFFERENT IF THERE HAD BEEN A
DIFFERENT ALLOCATION OF RISK.
 
17. Export Controls. Buyer acknowledges that the Products and related materials may be subject to export controls under the U.S. Export Administration
Regulations and related U.S. laws. Buyer will (a) comply strictly with all legal requirements established under these controls, (b) cooperate fully with
Affymetrix in any official or unofficial audit or inspection that relates to these controls and (c) not export, re-export, divert, transfer or disclose, directly or
indirectly, any Product or related technical documents or materials or any direct product thereof to any country (or to any national or resident thereof) which
the U.S. Government determines from time to time is a country (or end-user) to which such export, re-export, diversion, transfer or disclosure is restricted,
without obtaining the prior written authorization of Affymetrix and the applicable U.S. Government agency.
 
18. Unforeseen Events. Affymetrix shall not be liable for delay or failure in performance of any obligations hereunder if performance is rendered
impracticable by the occurrence of any condition beyond the reasonable control of Affymetrix. In the event of any such delay or failure in performance,
Affymetrix shall have such additional time within which to perform its obligations hereunder as may reasonably be necessary under the circumstances.
 
19. Miscellaneous. These Terms and Conditions constitute the entire agreement between Buyer and Affymetrix with respect to the subject matter hereof and is
the final, complete, and exclusive statement of the terms of the agreement, superseding all prior written and oral agreements, understandings and undertakings
with respect to the subject matter hereof. The waiver of any provision or any breach thereof shall not affect any other provision of these Terms and
Conditions. The U.N. Convention on Contracts for the International Sale of Goods shall not apply to these Terms and Conditions. In the event that any
provision of this Agreement or portion thereof is found to be illegal or unenforceable, the Agreement shall be construed without the unenforceable provision
or portion thereof.
 
20. Governing Law.
 
(a) For Deliveries Outside Europe: To the extent permitted by applicable law, these Terms and Conditions shall be governed by and construed according to
the laws of California, without regard to conflict of law provisions.
 
(a) For Deliveries Within Europe: To the extent permitted by applicable law, these Terms and Conditions shall be governed by and construed according to
the laws of England, without regard to conflict of law provisions. 
 

 AFFYMETRIX
  
 By: 
  

[Insert Title]
 

Date:  [Insert Date]

 
 
 
 

 

 



 
Exhibit 10.2

 
COMMON STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT

 
COMMON STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”), dated as of November 8, 2013 by and between ATOSSA GENETICS,

INC., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and ASPIRE CAPITAL FUND, LLC, an Illinois limited liability company (the “Buyer”). Capitalized
terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein are defined in Section 10 hereof.
 

WHEREAS:
 

Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, the Company wishes to sell to the Buyer, and the Buyer wishes to buy from the
Company, up to Twenty-Five Million Dollars ($25,000,000) of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.001 per share (the “Common Stock”). The shares
of Common Stock to be purchased hereunder are referred to herein as the “Purchase Shares.”
 

NOW THEREFORE, the Company and the Buyer hereby agree as follows:
 

1. PURCHASE OF COMMON STOCK.
 

Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, the Company has the right to sell to the Buyer, and the Buyer has the obligation to
purchase from the Company, Purchase Shares as follows:
 

(a) Commencement of Purchases of Common Stock; Milestone Purchases. The purchase and sale of Purchase Shares hereunder shall occur from
time to time upon written notices by the Company to the Buyer on the terms and conditions as set forth herein following the satisfaction of the conditions (the
“Commencement”) as set forth in Sections 6 and 7 below (the date of satisfaction of such conditions, the “Commencement Date”). Subject to the terms and
conditions of this Agreement, on any given Business Day after the Commencement Date, the Company shall be obligated to sell and the Buyer shall be
obligated to purchase $2,000,000 worth of common shares in two separate purchases of $1,000,000 per purchase (each such purchase a “Milestone
Purchase”) directly from the Company as follows. The first Milestone Purchase shall be on the date of the submission by the Company of a new premarket
notification (a “510(k) Application”) to the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (the “FDA”) that covers the collection, preparation, and processing of nipple
aspirate fluid specimens in regard to the ForeCYTE Breast Health Test (the “ForeCYTE Test”) and the Mammary Aspiration Specimen Cytology Test device
(the “MASCT Device”). The purchase price for this first Milestone Purchase shall be equal to the lower of $2.00 per share or the Purchase Price on the FDA
submission date. The Company and the Buyer shall also complete a second Milestone Purchase of an additional $1,000,000 of Purchase Shares on the date of
clearance by the FDA of the 510(k) Application that covers the collection, preparation, and processing of nipple aspirate fluid specimens in regard to the
ForeCYTE Test and the MASCT Device. The purchase price for this second Milestone Purchase shall be equal to the lower of $4.00 per share or the Purchase
Price on the date of clearance by the FDA of the 510(k) Application.
 

 



 

 
(b) The Company’s Right to Require Regular Purchases. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, on any given Business Day after the

Commencement Date, the Company shall have the right but not the obligation to direct the Buyer by its delivery to the Buyer of a Purchase Notice from time
to time, and the Buyer thereupon shall have the obligation, to buy the number of Purchase Shares specified in such notice, up to a maximum of 150,000
Purchase Shares, on such Business Day (as long as such notice is delivered on or before 5:00 p.m. Eastern time on such Business Day) (each such purchase, a
“Regular Purchase”) at the Purchase Price on the Purchase Date; however, in no event shall the Purchase Amount of a Regular Purchase exceed Five
Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000) per Business Day. The Company may deliver additional Purchase Notices to the Buyer from time to time so long as
the most recent purchase has been completed. The share amounts in the first sentence of this Section 1(b) shall be appropriately adjusted for any
reorganization, recapitalization, non-cash dividend, stock split, reverse stock split, or other similar transaction.
 

(c) VWAP Purchases. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, in addition to purchases of Purchase Shares as described in Section 1(b)
above, with one Business Day’s prior written notice (as long as such notice is delivered on or before 5:00 p.m. Eastern time on the Business Day immediately
preceding the VWAP Purchase Date), the Company shall also have the right but not the obligation to direct Buyer by the Company’s delivery to Buyer of a
VWAP Purchase Notice from time to time, and Buyer thereupon shall have the obligation, to buy the VWAP Purchase Share Percentage of the trading volume
of the Common Stock on the VWAP Purchase Date up to the VWAP Purchase Share Volume Maximum on the VWAP Purchase Date (each such purchase, a
“VWAP Purchase”) at the VWAP Purchase Price. The Company may deliver a VWAP Purchase Notice to the Buyer on or before 5:00 p.m. Eastern time on a
date on which (i) the Company also submitted a Purchase Notice for a Regular Purchase of 150,000 Purchase Shares to the Buyer and (ii) the Closing Sale
Price is higher than $0.50. A VWAP Purchase shall automatically be deemed completed at such time on the VWAP Purchase Date that the Sale Price falls
below the VWAP Minimum Price Threshold; in such circumstance, the VWAP Purchase Amount shall be calculated using (i) the VWAP Purchase Share
Percentage of the aggregate shares traded on the Principal Market for such portion of the VWAP Purchase Date prior to the time that the Sale Price fell below
the VWAP Minimum Price Threshold and (ii) a VWAP Purchase Price calculated using the volume weighted average price of Common Stock sold during
such portion of the VWAP Purchase Date prior to the time that the Sale Price fell below the VWAP Minimum Price Threshold. Each VWAP Purchase Notice
must be accompanied by instructions to the Company’s Transfer Agent to immediately issue to the Buyer an amount of Common Stock equal to the VWAP
Purchase Share Estimate, a good faith estimate by the Company of the number of Purchase Shares that the Buyer shall have the obligation to buy pursuant to
the VWAP Purchase Notice. In no event shall the Buyer, pursuant to any VWAP Purchase, purchase a number of Purchase Shares that exceeds the VWAP
Purchase Share Estimate issued on the VWAP Purchase Date in connection with such VWAP Purchase Notice; however, the Buyer will immediately return to
the Company any amount of Common Stock issued pursuant to the VWAP Purchase Share Estimate that exceeds the number of Purchase Shares the Buyer
actually purchases in connection with such VWAP Purchase. Upon completion of each VWAP Purchase Date, the Buyer shall submit to the Company a
confirmation of the VWAP Purchase in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Company. The Company may deliver additional VWAP Purchase
Notices to the Buyer from time to time so long as the most recent purchase has been completed. The Company may, by written notice to the Buyer, in its sole
discretion at any time after the date of this Agreement, irrevocably terminate this Section 1(c) and its right to direct the Buyer to make VWAP Purchases.

 
(d) Payment for Purchase Shares. For each Regular Purchase, the Buyer shall pay to the Company an amount equal to the Purchase Amount as full

payment for such Purchase Shares via wire transfer of immediately available funds on the same Business Day that the Buyer receives such Purchase Shares.
For each VWAP Purchase, the Buyer shall pay to the Company an amount equal to the VWAP Purchase Amount as full payment for such Purchase Shares via
wire transfer of immediately available funds on the third Business Day following the VWAP Purchase Date. All payments made under this Agreement shall
be made in lawful money of the United States of America via wire transfer of immediately available funds to such account as the Company may from time to
time designate by written notice in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. Whenever any amount expressed to be due by the terms of this
Agreement is due on any day that is not a Business Day, the same shall instead be due on the next succeeding day that is a Business Day.
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(e) Purchase Price Floor. The Company and the Buyer shall not effect any sales under this Agreement on any Purchase Date where the Closing Sale

Price is less than the Floor Price. “Floor Price” means $0.25 per share of Common Stock, which shall be appropriately adjusted for any reorganization,
recapitalization, non-cash dividend, stock split, reverse stock split or other similar transaction.
 

(f) Records of Purchases. The Buyer and the Company shall each maintain records showing the remaining Available Amount at any given time and
the dates and purchase amounts for each purchase, or shall use such other method reasonably satisfactory to the Buyer and the Company to reconcile the
remaining Available Amount.
 

(g) Taxes. The Company shall pay any and all transfer, stamp or similar taxes that may be payable with respect to the issuance and delivery of any
shares of Common Stock to the Buyer made under this Agreement.

 
(h) Compliance with Principal Market Rules. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, and in addition to the limitations set forth

in Section 1(e), the total number of shares of Common Stock that may be issued under this Agreement, including the Commitment Shares (as defined in
Section 4(e) hereof), shall be limited to 3,528,199 shares of Common Stock (the “Exchange Cap”), which equals 19.99% of the Company’s outstanding
shares of Common Stock as of the date hereof, unless stockholder approval is obtained to issue more than such 19.99%. The foregoing limitation shall not
apply if stockholder approval has not been obtained and at any time the Exchange Cap is reached and at all times thereafter the average price paid for all
shares issued under this Agreement is equal to or greater than $1.98 (the “Minimum Price”), a price equal to the Closing Sale Price on the Business Day
prior to the date hereof (in such circumstance, for purposes of the Principal Market, the transaction contemplated hereby would not be “below market” and the
Exchange Cap would not apply). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company shall not be required or permitted to issue, and the Buyer shall not be required
to purchase, any shares of Common Stock under this Agreement if such issuance would violate the rules or regulations of the Principal Market.

 
(i) Beneficial Ownership Limitation. The Company shall not issue, and the Buyer shall not purchase any shares of Common Stock under this

Agreement, if such shares proposed to be issued and sold, when aggregated with all other shares of Common Stock then owned beneficially (as calculated
pursuant to Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act and Rule 13d-3 promulgated thereunder) by the Buyer and its affiliates would result in the beneficial
ownership by the Buyer and its affiliates of more than 19.99% of the then issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock of the Company.

 
2. BUYER’S REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES.

 
The Buyer represents and warrants to the Company that as of the date hereof and as of the Commencement Date:
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(a) Investment Purpose. The Buyer is entering into this Agreement and acquiring the Commitment Shares and the Purchase Shares (the Purchase

Shares and the Commitment Shares are collectively referred to herein as the “Securities”), for its own account for investment only and not with a view
towards, or for resale in connection with, the public sale or distribution thereof; provided however, by making the representations herein, the Buyer does not
agree to hold any of the Securities for any minimum or other specific term.

 
(b) Accredited Investor Status. The Buyer is an “accredited investor” as that term is defined in Rule 501(a)(3) of Regulation D of the 1933 Act.

 
(c) Reliance on Exemptions. The Buyer understands that the Securities are being offered and sold to it in reliance on specific exemptions from the

registration requirements of United States federal and state securities laws and that the Company is relying in part upon the truth and accuracy of, and the
Buyer's compliance with, the representations, warranties, agreements, acknowledgments and understandings of the Buyer set forth herein in order to
determine the availability of such exemptions and the eligibility of the Buyer to acquire the Securities.
 

(d) Information. The Buyer has been furnished with all materials relating to the business, finances and operations of the Company and materials
relating to the offer and sale of the Securities that have been reasonably requested by the Buyer, including, without limitation, the SEC Documents (as defined
in Section 3(f) hereof). The Buyer understands that its investment in the Securities involves a high degree of risk. The Buyer (i) is able to bear the economic
risk of an investment in the Securities including a total loss, (ii) has such knowledge and experience in financial and business matters that it is capable of
evaluating the merits and risks of the proposed investment in the Securities and (iii) has had an opportunity to ask questions of and receive answers from the
officers of the Company concerning the financial condition and business of the Company and other matters related to an investment in the Securities. Neither
such inquiries nor any other due diligence investigations conducted by the Buyer or its representatives shall modify, amend or affect the Buyer’s right to rely
on the Company’s representations and warranties contained in Section 3 below. The Buyer has sought such accounting, legal and tax advice as it has
considered necessary to make an informed investment decision with respect to its acquisition of the Securities.
 

(e) No Governmental Review. The Buyer understands that no United States federal or state agency or any other government or governmental agency
has passed on or made any recommendation or endorsement of the Securities or the fairness or suitability of the investment in the Securities nor have such
authorities passed upon or endorsed the merits of the offering of the Securities.
 

(f) Transfer or Sale. The Buyer understands that except as provided in the Registration Rights Agreement (as defined in Section 4(a) hereof): (i) the
Securities have not been and are not being registered under the 1933 Act or any state securities laws, and may not be offered for sale, sold, assigned or
transferred unless (A) subsequently registered thereunder or (B) an exemption exists permitting such Securities to be sold, assigned or transferred without
such registration; (ii) any sale of the Securities made in reliance on Rule 144 may be made only in accordance with the terms of Rule 144 and further, if Rule
144 is not applicable, any resale of the Securities under circumstances in which the seller (or the person through whom the sale is made) may be deemed to be
an underwriter (as that term is defined in the 1933 Act) may require compliance with some other exemption under the 1933 Act or the rules and regulations of
the SEC thereunder; and (iii) neither the Company nor any other person is under any obligation to register the Securities under the 1933 Act or any state
securities laws or to comply with the terms and conditions of any exemption thereunder.
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(g) Organization. The Buyer is a limited liability company duly organized and validly existing in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction in

which it is organized, and has the requisite organizational power and authority to own its properties and to carry on its business as now being conducted.
 
(h) Validity; Enforcement. This Agreement has been duly and validly authorized, executed and delivered on behalf of the Buyer and is a valid and

binding agreement of the Buyer enforceable against the Buyer in accordance with its terms, subject as to enforceability to (i) general principles of equity and
to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, liquidation and other similar laws relating to, or affecting generally, the enforcement of
applicable creditors’ rights and remedies and (ii) public policy underlying any law, rule or regulation (including any federal or state securities law, rule or
regulation) with regards to indemnification, contribution or exculpation. The execution and delivery of the Transaction Documents by the Buyer and the
consummation by it of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby do not conflict with the Buyer’s certificate of organization or operating agreement or
similar documents, and do not require further consent or authorization by the Buyer, its managers or its members.
 

(i) Residency. The Buyer is a resident of the State of Illinois.
 

(j) No Prior Short Selling. The Buyer represents and warrants to the Company that at no time prior to the date of this Agreement has any of the
Buyer, its agents, representatives or affiliates engaged in or effected, in any manner whatsoever, directly or indirectly, any (i) “short sale” (as such term is
defined in Section 242.200 of Regulation SHO of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “1934 Act”)) of the Common Stock or (ii) hedging
transaction, which establishes a net short position with respect to the Common Stock.

 
3. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY.

 
The Company represents and warrants to the Buyer that as of the date hereof and as of the Commencement Date:

 
(a) Organization and Qualification. The Company and its “Subsidiaries” (which for purposes of this Agreement means any entity in which the

Company, directly or indirectly, owns more than 50% of the voting stock or capital stock or other similar equity interests) are corporations or limited liability
companies duly organized and validly existing in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction in which they are incorporated or organized, and have the
requisite corporate or organizational power and authority to own their properties and to carry on their business as now being conducted. Each of the Company
and its Subsidiaries is duly qualified as a foreign corporation or limited liability company to do business and is in good standing in every jurisdiction in which
its ownership of property or the nature of the business conducted by it makes such qualification necessary, except to the extent that the failure to be so
qualified or be in good standing could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. As used in this Agreement, “Material Adverse Effect”
means any material adverse effect on any of: (i) the business, properties, assets, operations, results of operations or financial condition of the Company and its
Subsidiaries, if any, taken as a whole, or (ii) the authority or ability of the Company to perform its obligations under the Transaction Documents (as defined in
Section 3(b) hereof). The Company has no material Subsidiaries except as set forth on Schedule 3(a).
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(b) Authorization; Enforcement; Validity. (i) The Company has the requisite corporate power and authority to enter into and perform its obligations

under this Agreement, the Registration Rights Agreement and each of the other agreements entered into by the parties on the Commencement Date and
attached hereto as exhibits to this Agreement (collectively, the “Transaction Documents”), and to issue the Securities in accordance with the terms hereof
and thereof, (ii) the execution and delivery of the Transaction Documents by the Company and the consummation by it of the transactions contemplated
hereby and thereby, including without limitation, the issuance of the Commitment Shares and the reservation for issuance and the issuance of the Purchase
Shares issuable under this Agreement, have been duly authorized by the Company’s Board of Directors or duly authorized committee thereof, do not conflict
with the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws, and do not require further consent or authorization by the Company, its Board of Directors or its
stockholders, (iii) this Agreement has been, and each other Transaction Document shall be on the Commencement Date, duly executed and delivered by the
Company and (iv) this Agreement constitutes, and each other Transaction Document upon its execution on behalf of the Company, shall constitute, the valid
and binding obligations of the Company enforceable against the Company in accordance with their terms, except as such enforceability may be limited by (y)
general principles of equity or applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, liquidation or similar laws relating to, or affecting generally,
the enforcement of creditors' rights and remedies and (z) public policy underlying any law, rule or regulation (including any federal or states securities law,
rule or regulation) with regards to indemnification, contribution or exculpation. The Board of Directors of the Company or duly authorized committee thereof
has approved the resolutions (the “Signing Resolutions”) substantially in the form as set forth as Exhibit B-1 attached hereto to authorize this Agreement
and the transactions contemplated hereby. The Signing Resolutions are valid, in full force and effect and have not been modified or supplemented in any
material respect other than by the resolutions set forth in Exhibit B-2 attached hereto regarding the registration statement referred to in Section 4 hereof. The
Company has delivered to the Buyer a true and correct copy of the Signing Resolutions as approved by the Board of Directors of the Company.
 

(c) Capitalization. As of the date hereof, the authorized capital stock of the Company consists of (i) 75,000,000 shares of Common Stock, of which
as of the date hereof 17,649,824shares are issued and outstanding, zero shares are held as treasury shares, 2,246,651 shares are reserved for future issuance
pursuant to the Company’s equity incentive plan(s) and pursuant to options grants outside the Company’s equity incentive plan(s), of which approximately
250,912 shares remain available for future option grants or stock awards, and 4,775,550 shares are issuable and reserved for issuance pursuant to securities
(other than stock options or equity based awards issued pursuant to the Company’s stock incentive plans) exercisable or exchangeable for, or convertible into,
shares of Common Stock pursuant to warrants outstanding, and (ii) 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share, of which as of the date
hereof no shares are designated, issued or outstanding. All of such outstanding shares have been, or upon issuance will be, validly issued and are fully paid
and non-assessable. Except as disclosed in this Section 3(c) or Schedule 3(c), (i) no shares of the Company’s capital stock are subject to preemptive rights or
any other similar rights or any liens or encumbrances suffered or permitted by the Company, (ii) there are no outstanding debt securities of the Company or
any of its Subsidiaries, (iii) there are no outstanding options, warrants, scrip, rights to subscribe to, calls or commitments of any character whatsoever relating
to, or securities or rights convertible into, any shares of capital stock of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or contracts, commitments, understandings or
arrangements by which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is or may become bound to issue additional shares of capital stock of the Company or any of
its Subsidiaries or options, warrants, scrip, rights to subscribe to, calls or commitments of any character whatsoever relating to, or securities or rights
convertible into, any shares of capital stock of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (iv) there are no material agreements or arrangements under which the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries is obligated to register the sale of any of their securities under the 1933 Act (except the Registration Rights Agreement
and except such rights that have been satisfied), (v) there are no outstanding securities or instruments of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries which contain
any redemption or similar provisions, and there are no contracts, commitments, understandings or arrangements by which the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries is or may become bound to redeem a security of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (vi) there are no securities or instruments containing
anti-dilution or similar provisions that will be triggered by the issuance of the Securities as described in this Agreement and (vii) the Company does not have
any stock appreciation rights or “phantom stock” plans or agreements or any similar plan or agreement. The Company has furnished or made available to the
Buyer true and correct copies of the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation, as amended and as in effect on the date hereof (the “Certificate of
Incorporation”), and the Company’s Bylaws, as amended and as in effect on the date hereof (the “Bylaws”).
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(d) Issuance of Securities. The Commitment Shares have been duly authorized and, upon issuance in accordance with the terms hereof, shall be (i)

validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable and (ii) free from all taxes, liens and charges with respect to the issuance thereof, 4,200,000 shares of Common
Stock have been duly authorized and reserved for issuance upon future purchase under this Agreement. Upon issuance and payment therefore in accordance
with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Purchase Shares shall be validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable and free from all taxes, liens and
charges with respect to the issue thereof, with the holders being entitled to all rights accorded to a holder of Common Stock.
 

(e) No Conflicts. Except as disclosed in Schedule 3(e), the execution, delivery and performance of the Transaction Documents by the Company and
the consummation by the Company of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby (including, without limitation, the reservation for issuance and
issuance of the Purchase Shares) will not (i) result in a violation of the Certificate of Incorporation, any Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of
any outstanding series of preferred stock of the Company or the Bylaws or (ii) constitute a default (or an event which with notice or lapse of time or both
would become a default) under, or give to others any rights of termination, amendment, acceleration or cancellation of, any agreement, indenture or
instrument to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party, or result, to the Company’s knowledge, in a violation of any law, rule, regulation, order,
judgment or decree (including federal and state securities laws and regulations and the rules and regulations of the Principal Market applicable to the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries) or by which any property or asset of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is bound or affected, except in the case of
defaults, terminations, amendments, accelerations, cancellations and violations under clause (ii), which could not reasonably be expected to result in a
Material Adverse Effect. Except as disclosed in Schedule 3(e), neither the Company nor its Subsidiaries is in violation of any term of or in default under its
Certificate of Incorporation, any Certificate of Designation, Preferences and Rights of any outstanding series of preferred stock of the Company or Bylaws or
their organizational charter or bylaws, respectively. Except as disclosed in Schedule 3(e), neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is in violation of
any term of or is in default under any material contract, agreement, mortgage, indebtedness, indenture, instrument, judgment, decree or order or any statute,
rule or regulation applicable to the Company or its Subsidiaries, except for possible violations, defaults, terminations or amendments that could not
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. The business of the Company and its Subsidiaries is not being conducted, and shall not be
conducted, in violation of any law, ordinance, or regulation of any governmental entity, except for possible violations, the sanctions for which either
individually or in the aggregate could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. Except as specifically contemplated by this Agreement,
reporting obligations under the 1934 Act or as required under the 1933 Act or applicable state securities laws or the filing of a Listing of Additional Shares
Notification Form with the Principal Market, the Company is not required to obtain any consent, authorization or order of, or make any filing or registration
with, any court or governmental agency or any regulatory or self-regulatory agency in order for it to execute, deliver or perform any of its obligations under
or contemplated by the Transaction Documents in accordance with the terms hereof or thereof. Except for reporting obligations under the 1934 Act, all
consents, authorizations, orders, filings and registrations which the Company is required to obtain pursuant to the preceding sentence shall be obtained or
effected on or prior to the Commencement Date. The Company is not subject to any notices or actions from or to the Principal Market, other than routine
matters incident to listing on the Principal Market and not involving a violation of the rules of the Principal Market. To the Company’s knowledge, the
Principal Market has not commenced any delisting proceedings against the Company.
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(f) SEC Documents; Financial Statements. Except as disclosed in Schedule 3(f), since November 7, 2012, the Company has filed all reports,

schedules, forms, statements and other documents required to be filed by it with the SEC pursuant to the reporting requirements of the 1934 Act (all of the
foregoing filed prior to the date hereof and all exhibits included therein and financial statements and schedules thereto and documents incorporated by
reference therein being hereinafter referred to as the “SEC Documents”). As of their respective dates (except as they have been correctly amended), the SEC
Documents complied in all material respects with the requirements of the 1934 Act and the rules and regulations of the SEC promulgated thereunder
applicable to the SEC Documents, and none of the SEC Documents, at the time they were filed with the SEC (except as they may have been properly
amended), contained any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the
statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. As of their respective dates (except as they have been properly
amended), the financial statements of the Company included in the SEC Documents complied as to form in all material respects with applicable accounting
requirements and the published rules and regulations of the SEC with respect thereto. Such financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, consistently applied, during the periods involved (except (i) as may be otherwise indicated in such financial
statements or the notes thereto or (ii) in the case of unaudited interim statements, to the extent they may exclude footnotes or may be condensed or summary
statements) and fairly present in all material respects the financial position of the Company as of the dates thereof and the results of its operations and cash
flows for the periods then ended (subject, in the case of unaudited statements, to normal year-end audit adjustments). Except for routine correspondence, such
as comment letters and notices of effectiveness in connection with previously filed registration statements or periodic reports publicly available on EDGAR,
to the Company’s knowledge, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries are not presently the subject of any inquiry, investigation or action by the SEC.
 

(g) Absence of Certain Changes. Except as disclosed in Schedule 3(g), since October 31, 2013, there has been no material adverse change in the
business, properties, operations, financial condition or results of operations of the Company or its Subsidiaries taken as a whole. For purposes of this
Agreement, neither a decrease in cash or cash equivalents nor losses incurred in the ordinary course of the Company’s business shall be deemed or considered
a material adverse change. The Company has not taken any steps, and does not currently expect to take any steps, to seek protection pursuant to any
Bankruptcy Law nor does the Company or any of its Subsidiaries have any knowledge or reason to believe that its creditors intend to initiate involuntary
bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings. The Company is financially solvent and is generally able to pay its debts as they become due.
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(h) Absence of Litigation. To the Company’s knowledge, there is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation before or by any court, public

board, government agency, self-regulatory organization or body pending or, to the knowledge of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, threatened against
the Company, the Common Stock or any of the Company’s Subsidiaries or any of the Company’s or the Company’s Subsidiaries’ officers or directors in their
capacities as such, which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect (each, an “Action”). A description of each such Action, if any, is
set forth in Schedule 3(h).
 

(i) Acknowledgment Regarding Buyer’s Status. The Company acknowledges and agrees that the Buyer is acting solely in the capacity of arm’s
length purchaser with respect to the Transaction Documents and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. The Company further acknowledges that
the Buyer is not acting as a financial advisor or fiduciary of the Company (or in any similar capacity) with respect to the Transaction Documents and the
transactions contemplated hereby and thereby and any advice given by the Buyer or any of its representatives or agents in connection with the Transaction
Documents and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby is merely incidental to the Buyer’s purchase of the Securities. The Company further
represents to the Buyer that the Company’s decision to enter into the Transaction Documents has been based solely on the independent evaluation by the
Company and its representatives and advisors.
 

(j) Intellectual Property Rights. To the Company’s knowledge, the Company and its Subsidiaries own or possess adequate rights or licenses to use all
material trademarks, trade names, service marks, service mark registrations, service names, patents, patent rights, copyrights, inventions, licenses, approvals,
governmental authorizations, trade secrets and other intellectual property rights (collectively, “Intellectual Property”) necessary to conduct their respective
businesses as now conducted, except as set forth in Schedule 3(j) or to the extent that the failure to own, possess, license or otherwise hold adequate rights to
use Intellectual Property would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect. Except as disclosed in Schedule 3(j), to the Company’s
knowledge, none of the Company’s active and registered Intellectual Property have expired or terminated, or, by the terms and conditions thereof, will expire
or terminate within two years from the date of this Agreement. The Company and its Subsidiaries do not have any knowledge of any infringement by the
Company or its Subsidiaries of any Intellectual Property of others, or of any such development of similar or identical trade secrets or technical information by
others with respect to the Company’s or its Subsidiaries’ Intellectual Property and, except as set forth on Schedule 3(j), there is no claim, action or proceeding
being made or brought against, or to the Company’s knowledge, being threatened against, the Company or its Subsidiaries regarding Intellectual Property,
which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
 

(k) Environmental Laws. To the Company’s knowledge, the Company and its Subsidiaries (i) are in material compliance with any and all applicable
foreign, federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to the protection of the environment or human health and safety and with respect to hazardous or
toxic substances or wastes, pollutants or contaminants (“Environmental Laws”), (ii) have received all material permits, licenses or other approvals required
of them under applicable Environmental Laws to conduct their respective businesses and (iii) are in material compliance with all terms and conditions of any
such permit, license or approval, except where, in each of the three foregoing clauses, the failure to so comply or receive such approvals could not reasonably
be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect.
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(l) Title. The Company and its Subsidiaries have good and marketable title to all personal property owned by them that is material to the business of

the Company and its Subsidiaries, free and clear of all liens, encumbrances and defects except such as are described in Schedule 3(l) or such as do not
materially affect the value of such property and do not interfere with the use made and proposed to be made of such property by the Company and any of its
Subsidiaries or could not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect. Any real property and facilities held
under lease by the Company and any of its Subsidiaries, to the Company’s knowledge, are held by them under valid, subsisting and enforceable leases with
such exceptions as are not material and do not interfere with the use made and proposed to be made of such property and buildings by the Company and its
Subsidiaries.
 

(m) Insurance. The Company and each of its Subsidiaries are insured by insurers of recognized financial responsibility against such losses and risks
and in such amounts as management of the Company believes to be reasonable and customary in the businesses in which the Company and its Subsidiaries
are engaged. To the Company’s knowledge, since September 30, 2011, neither the Company nor any such Subsidiary has been refused any insurance coverage
sought or applied for and neither the Company nor any such Subsidiary, to the Company’s knowledge, will be unable to renew its existing insurance coverage
as and when such coverage expires or to obtain similar coverage from similar insurers as may be necessary to continue its business at a cost that would not
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
 

(n) Regulatory Permits. Except as disclosed in the SEC Documents, the Company and its Subsidiaries possess all material certificates, authorizations
and permits issued by the appropriate federal, state or foreign regulatory authorities necessary to conduct their respective businesses as currently conducted,
and neither the Company nor any such Subsidiary has received any written notice of proceedings relating to the revocation or modification of any such
material certificate, authorization or permit.
 

(o) Tax Status. The Company and each of its Subsidiaries has made or filed all federal and state income and all other material tax returns, reports and
declarations required by any jurisdiction to which it is subject (unless and only to the extent that the Company and each of its Subsidiaries has set aside on its
books reserves reasonably adequate for the payment of all unpaid and unreported taxes or filed valid extensions) and has paid all taxes and other
governmental assessments and charges that are material in amount, shown or determined to be due on such returns, reports and declarations, except those
being contested in good faith and has set aside on its books reserves reasonably adequate for the payment of all taxes for periods subsequent to the periods to
which such returns, reports or declarations apply. To the Company’s knowledge, there are no unpaid taxes in any material amount claimed to be due by the
taxing authority of any jurisdiction.
 

(p) Transactions With Affiliates. Except as set forth on Schedule 3(p), and other than the grant or exercise of stock options or any other equity
securities offered pursuant to duly adopted stock or incentive compensation plans as disclosed on Schedule 3(c), none of the officers, directors or employees
of the Company is presently a party to any transaction with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (other than for services as employees, officers and
directors and reimbursement for expenses incurred on behalf of the Company), including any contract, agreement or other arrangement providing for the
furnishing of services to or by, providing for rental of real or personal property to or from, or otherwise requiring payments to or from any officer, director or
such employee or, to the knowledge of the Company, any corporation, partnership, trust or other entity in which any officer, director, or any such employee
has a material interest or is an officer, director, trustee or general partner.
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(q) Application of Takeover Protections. The Company and its board of directors have taken or will take prior to the Commencement Date all

necessary action, if any, in order to render inapplicable any control share acquisition, business combination, poison pill (including any distribution under a
rights agreement) or other similar anti-takeover provision under the Certificate of Incorporation or the laws of the state of its incorporation which is or could
become applicable to the Buyer as a result of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including, without limitation, the Company’s issuance of the
Securities and the Buyer’s ownership of the Securities.

 
4. COVENANTS.

 
(a) Filing of Form 8-K and Registration Statement. The Company agrees that it shall, within the time required under the 1934 Act, file a Current

Report on Form 8-K (or provide substantially equivalent disclosure in the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q to be filed within that time period)
disclosing this Agreement and the transaction contemplated hereby. The Company shall also file within ten (10) Business Days from the date hereof a new
registration statement covering the sale of the Securities by the Buyer in accordance with the terms of the Registration Rights Agreement between the
Company and the Buyer, dated as of the date hereof (“Registration Rights Agreement”).
 

(b) Blue Sky. The Company shall take such action, if any, as is reasonably necessary in order to obtain an exemption for or to qualify (i) the initial
sale of the Securities to the Buyer under this Agreement and (ii) any subsequent sale of the Securities by the Buyer, in each case, under applicable securities
or “Blue Sky” laws of the states of the United States in such states as is reasonably requested by the Buyer from time to time, and shall provide evidence of
any such action so taken to the Buyer at its written request.
 

(c) Listing. The Company shall promptly secure the listing of all of the Securities upon each national securities exchange and automated quotation
system that requires an application by the Company for listing, if any, upon which shares of Common Stock are then listed (subject to official notice of
issuance) and shall maintain such listing, so long as any other shares of Common Stock shall be so listed. The Company shall use its commercially reasonable
efforts to maintain the Common Stock’s listing on the Principal Market in accordance with the requirements of the Registration Rights Agreement. Neither
the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries shall take any action that would be reasonably expected to result in the delisting or suspension of the Common Stock
on the Principal Market, unless the Common Stock is immediately thereafter traded on the New York Stock Exchange, the NYSE MKT, the Nasdaq Global
Select Market, the Nasdaq Global Market, the Nasdaq Capital Market, the OTC Bulletin Board, or the OTCQB or OTCQX market places of the OTC
Markets. The Company shall pay all fees and expenses in connection with satisfying its obligations under this Section.
 

(d) Limitation on Short Sales and Hedging Transactions. The Buyer agrees that beginning on the date of this Agreement and ending on the date of
termination of this Agreement as provided in Section 11(k), the Buyer and its agents, representatives and affiliates shall not in any manner whatsoever enter
into or effect, directly or indirectly, any (i) “short sale” (as such term is defined in Section 242.200 of Regulation SHO of the 1934 Act) of the Common Stock
or (ii) hedging transaction, which establishes a net short position with respect to the Common Stock.
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(e) Issuance of Commitment Shares. Immediately upon the execution of this Agreement, the Company shall issue to the Buyer as consideration for

the Buyer entering into this Agreement 375,000 shares of Common Stock (the “Commitment Shares”). The Commitment Shares shall be issued in
certificated form and (subject to Section 5 hereof) shall bear the following restrictive legend:

 
THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, OR APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS. THE SECURITIES HAVE
BEEN ACQUIRED FOR INVESTMENT AND MAY NOT BE OFFERED FOR SALE, SOLD, TRANSFERRED OR
ASSIGNED IN THE ABSENCE OF AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT FOR THE SECURITIES UNDER THE
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, OR APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS, UNLESS SOLD PURSUANT
TO: (1) RULE 144 UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, OR (2) AN OPINION OF HOLDER’S
COUNSEL, IN A CUSTOMARY FORM, THAT REGISTRATION IS NOT REQUIRED UNDER SAID ACT OR
APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS.
 
(f) Due Diligence. The Buyer shall have the right, from time to time as the Buyer may reasonably deem appropriate, to perform reasonable due

diligence on the Company during normal business hours and subject to reasonable prior notice to the Company. The Company and its officers and employees
shall provide information and reasonably cooperate with the Buyer in connection with any reasonable request by the Buyer related to the Buyer’s due
diligence of the Company, including, but not limited to, any such request made by the Buyer in connection with (i) the filing of the registration statement
described in Section 4(a) hereof and (ii) the Commencement; provided, however, that at no time is the Company required to disclose material nonpublic
information to the Buyer or breach any obligation of confidentiality or non-disclosure to a third party or make any disclosure that could cause a waiver of
attorney-client privilege. Each party hereto agrees not to disclose any Confidential Information of the other party to any third party and shall not use the
Confidential Information of such other party for any purpose other than in connection with, or in furtherance of, the transactions contemplated hereby. Each
party hereto acknowledges that the Confidential Information shall remain the property of the disclosing party and agrees that it shall take all reasonable
measures to protect the secrecy of any Confidential Information disclosed by the other party. All disclosures of Confidential Information shall be subject to
the terms and conditions of the Non-Disclosure Agreement dated March 25, 2013 between the Company and the Buyer.

 
5. TRANSFER AGENT INSTRUCTIONS.

 
Immediately upon the execution of this Agreement, the Company shall deliver to the Transfer Agent a letter in the form as set forth as Exhibit D

attached hereto with respect to the issuance of the Commitment Shares. On the Commencement Date, the Company shall cause any restrictive legend on the
Commitment Shares to be removed upon surrender of the originally issued certificate(s) for such shares. All of the Purchase Shares to be issued under this
Agreement shall be issued without any restrictive legend unless the Buyer expressly consents otherwise. The Company shall issue irrevocable instructions to
the Transfer Agent, and any subsequent transfer agent, to issue Common Stock in the name of the Buyer for the Purchase Shares (the “Irrevocable Transfer
Agent Instructions”). The Company warrants to the Buyer that no instruction other than the Irrevocable Transfer Agent Instructions referred to in this
Section 5, will be given by the Company to the Transfer Agent with respect to the Purchase Shares and that the Commitment Shares and the Purchase Shares
shall otherwise be freely transferable on the books and records of the Company as and to the extent provided in this Agreement and the Registration Rights
Agreement, subject to the provisions of Section 4(e) in the case of the Commitment Shares.
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6. CONDITIONS TO THE COMPANY’S RIGHT TO COMMENCE

SALES OF SHARES OF COMMON STOCK UNDER THIS AGREEMENT.
 
The right of the Company hereunder to commence sales of the Purchase Shares is subject to the satisfaction of each of the following conditions on or

before the Commencement Date (the date that the Company may begin sales of Purchase Shares):
 
(a) The Buyer shall have executed each of the Transaction Documents and delivered the same to the Company;
 
(b) The representations and warranties of the Buyer shall be true and correct as of the Commencement Date as though made at that time (except

for representations and warranties that speak as of a specific date, which shall be true and correct in all material respects as of such specific
date) and the Buyer shall have performed, satisfied and complied in all material respects with the covenants and agreements required by this
Agreement to be performed, satisfied or complied with by the Buyer at or prior to the Commencement Date; and

 
(c) A registration statement covering the sale of the Securities shall have been declared effective under the 1933 Act by the SEC and no stop

order with respect to the registration statement shall be pending or threatened by the SEC.
 

7. CONDITIONS TO THE BUYER’S OBLIGATION TO MAKE PURCHASES OF SHARES OF COMMON STOCK.
 

The obligation of the Buyer to buy Purchase Shares under this Agreement is subject to the satisfaction of each of the following conditions on or
before the Commencement Date (the date that the Company may begin sales of Purchase Shares) and once such conditions have been initially satisfied, there
shall not be any ongoing obligation to satisfy such conditions after the Commencement has occurred:
 

(a) The Company shall have executed each of the Transaction Documents and delivered the same to the Buyer;
 

(b) The Company shall have issued to the Buyer the Commitment Shares and, in the event that the Buyer shall have surrendered the originally issued
certificate(s), shall have removed the restrictive transfer legend from the certificate representing the Commitment Shares;
 

(c) The Common Stock shall be authorized for quotation on the Principal Market, trading in the Common Stock shall not have been within the last
365 days suspended by the SEC or the Principal Market and the Securities shall be approved for listing upon the Principal Market;
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(d) The Buyer shall have received the opinion of the Company’s legal counsel dated as of the Commencement Date in customary form and

substance;
 

(e) The representations and warranties of the Company shall be true and correct in all material respects (except to the extent that any of such
representations and warranties is already qualified as to materiality in Section 3 above, in which case, such representations and warranties shall be true and
correct without further qualification) as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Commencement Date as though made at that time (except for
representations and warranties that speak as of a specific date, which shall be true and correct in all material respects as of such specific date) and the
Company shall have performed, satisfied and complied in all material respects with the covenants, agreements and conditions required by the Transaction
Documents to be performed, satisfied or complied with by the Company at or prior to the Commencement Date. The Buyer shall have received a certificate,
executed by the CEO, President or CFO of the Company, dated as of the Commencement Date, to the foregoing effect in the form attached hereto as Exhibit
A;
 

(f) The Board of Directors of the Company or a duly authorized committee thereof shall have adopted resolutions substantially in the form attached
hereto as Exhibit B-1 which shall be in full force and effect without any amendment or supplement thereto as of the Commencement Date;
 

(g) As of the Commencement Date, the Company shall have reserved out of its authorized and unissued Common Stock, solely for the purpose of
effecting purchases of Purchase Shares hereunder, 4,200,000 shares of Common Stock;
 

(h) The Irrevocable Transfer Agent Instructions, in form acceptable to the Buyer shall have been signed by the Company and the Buyer and have
been delivered to the Transfer Agent;
 

(i) The Company shall have delivered to the Buyer a certificate evidencing the incorporation and good standing of the Company in the State of
Delaware issued by the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware as of a date within ten (10) Business Days of the Commencement Date;
 

(j) The Company shall have delivered to the Buyer a certified copy of the Certificate of Incorporation, as certified by the Secretary of State of the
State of Delaware within ten (10) Business Days of the Commencement Date;
 

(k) The Company shall have delivered to the Buyer a secretary’s certificate executed by the Secretary of the Company, dated as of the
Commencement Date, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C;
 

(l) A registration statement covering the sale of (i) all of the Commitment Shares and (ii) such number of Purchase Shares as reasonably determined
by the Company shall have been declared effective under the 1933 Act by the SEC and no stop order with respect thereto shall be pending or threatened by
the SEC. The Company shall have prepared and delivered to the Buyer a final and complete form of prospectus, dated and current as of the Commencement
Date, to be used by the Buyer in connection with any sales of any Securities, and to be filed by the Company one (1) Business Day after the Commencement
Date pursuant to Rule 424(b). The Company shall have made all filings under all applicable federal and state securities laws necessary to consummate the
issuance of the Commitment Shares and the Purchase Shares pursuant to this Agreement in compliance with such laws;
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(m) No Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, or any event which, after notice and/or lapse of time, would become an Event of Default has

occurred;
 

(n) On or prior to the Commencement Date, the Company shall take all necessary action, if any, and such actions as reasonably requested by the
Buyer, in order to render inapplicable any control share acquisition, business combination, stockholder rights plan or poison pill (including any distribution
under a rights agreement) or other similar anti-takeover provision under the Certificate of Incorporation or the laws of the state of its incorporation, other than
Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, that is or could become applicable to the Buyer as a result of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement, including, without limitation, the Company's issuance of the Securities and the Buyer's ownership of the Securities; and

 
(o) The Company shall have provided the Buyer with the information reasonably requested by the Buyer in connection with its due diligence

requests made prior to, or in connection with, the Commencement, in accordance with the terms of Section 4(f) hereof.
 

8. INDEMNIFICATION.
 

In consideration of the Buyer’s execution and delivery of the Transaction Documents and acquiring the Securities hereunder and in addition to all of
the Company’s other obligations under the Transaction Documents, the Company shall defend, protect, indemnify and hold harmless the Buyer and all of its
affiliates, members, officers, directors, and employees, and any of the foregoing person’s agents or other representatives (including, without limitation, those
retained in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement) (collectively, the “Indemnitees”) from and against any and all actions, causes
of action, suits, claims, losses, costs, penalties, fees, liabilities and damages, and expenses in connection therewith (irrespective of whether any such
Indemnitee is a party to the action for which indemnification hereunder is sought), and including reasonable attorneys’ fees and disbursements (the
“Indemnified Liabilities”), incurred by any Indemnitee as a result of, or arising out of, or relating to (a) any misrepresentation or breach of any
representation or warranty made by the Company in the Transaction Documents or any other certificate, instrument or document contemplated hereby or
thereby, (b) any breach of any covenant, agreement or obligation of the Company contained in the Transaction Documents or any other certificate, instrument
or document contemplated hereby or thereby, or (c) any cause of action, suit or claim brought or made against such Indemnitee and arising out of or resulting
from the execution, delivery, performance or enforcement of the Transaction Documents or any other certificate, instrument or document contemplated
hereby or thereby, other than with respect to Indemnified Liabilities which directly and primarily result from (A) a breach of any of the Buyer’s
representations and warranties, covenants or agreements contained in this Agreement, or (B) the gross negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct of the
Buyer or any other Indemnitee. To the extent that the foregoing undertaking by the Company may be unenforceable for any reason, the Company shall make
the maximum contribution to the payment and satisfaction of each of the Indemnified Liabilities which is permissible under applicable law.
 

9. EVENTS OF DEFAULT.
 

An “Event of Default” shall be deemed to have occurred at any time as any of the following events occurs:
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(a) during any period in which the effectiveness of any registration statement is required to be maintained pursuant to the terms of the Registration

Rights Agreement, the effectiveness of such registration statement lapses for any reason (including, without limitation, the issuance of a stop order) or is
unavailable to the Buyer for the sale of all of the Registrable Securities (as defined in the Registration Rights Agreement), and such lapse or unavailability
continues for a period of ten (10) consecutive Business Days or for more than an aggregate of thirty (30) Business Days in any 365-day period, which is not in
connection with a post-effective amendment to any such registration statement or the filing of a new registration statement; provided, however, that in
connection with any post-effective amendment to such registration statement or filing of a new registration statement that is required to be declared effective
by the SEC, such lapse or unavailability may continue for a period of no more than Twenty (20) consecutive Business Days, which such period shall be
extended for up to an additional Thirty (30) Business Days if the Company receives a comment letter from the SEC in connection therewith;
 

(b) the suspension from trading or failure of the Common Stock to be listed on a Principal Market for a period of three (3) consecutive Business
Days;
 

(c) the delisting of the Common Stock from the Principal Market, and the Common Stock is not immediately thereafter trading on the New York
Stock Exchange, the NYSE MKT, the Nasdaq Global Select Market, the Nasdaq Global Market, the Nasdaq Capital Market, the OTC Bulletin Board, or the
OTCQB or OTCQX market places of the OTC Markets;
 

(d) the failure for any reason by the Transfer Agent to issue Purchase Shares to the Buyer within five (5) Business Days after the applicable Purchase
Date that the Buyer is entitled to receive;
 

(e) the breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or other term or condition under any Transaction Document if such breach could reasonably
be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect and except, in the case of a breach of a covenant which is reasonably curable, only if such breach continues
uncured for a period of at least five (5) Business Days;
 

(f) if any Person commences a proceeding against the Company pursuant to or within the meaning of any Bankruptcy Law;
 

(g) if the Company pursuant to or within the meaning of any Bankruptcy Law; (A) commences a voluntary case, (B) consents to the entry of an order
for relief against it in an involuntary case, (C) consents to the appointment of a Custodian of it or for all or substantially all of its property, (D) makes a
general assignment for the benefit of its creditors or (E) becomes insolvent; or
 

(h) a court of competent jurisdiction enters an order or decree under any Bankruptcy Law that (A) is for relief against the Company in an involuntary
case, (B) appoints a Custodian of the Company or for all or substantially all of its property, or (C) orders the liquidation of the Company or any Subsidiary.

 
(i) if at any time after the Commencement Date, the Exchange Cap is reached unless and until stockholder approval is obtained pursuant to Section

1(h) hereof. The Exchange Cap shall be deemed to be reached at such time if, upon submission of a Purchase Notice or VWAP Purchase Notice under this
Agreement, the issuance of such shares of Common Stock would exceed that number of shares of Common Stock which the Company may issue under this
Agreement without breaching the Company’s obligations under the rules or regulations of the Principal Market.
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In addition to any other rights and remedies under applicable law and this Agreement, including the Buyer termination rights under Section 11(k) hereof, so
long as an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, or if any event which, after notice and/or lapse of time, would become an Event of Default, has
occurred and is continuing, or so long as the Closing Sale Price is below the Floor Price, the Company may not require and the Buyer shall not be obligated or
permitted to purchase any shares of Common Stock under this Agreement. If pursuant to or within the meaning of any Bankruptcy Law, the Company
commences a voluntary case or any Person commences a proceeding against the Company, a Custodian is appointed for the Company or for all or
substantially all of its property, or the Company makes a general assignment for the benefit of its creditors, (any of which would be an Event of Default as
described in Sections 9(f), 9(g) and 9(h) hereof) this Agreement shall automatically terminate without any liability or payment to the Company without
further action or notice by any Person. No such termination of this Agreement under Section 11(k)(i) shall affect the Company’s or the Buyer’s obligations
under this Agreement with respect to pending purchases and the Company and the Buyer shall complete their respective obligations with respect to any
pending purchases under this Agreement.
 

10. CERTAIN DEFINED TERMS.
 

For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings:
 

(a) “1933 Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
 

(b) “Available Amount” means initially Twenty-Five Million Dollars ($25,000,000) in the aggregate which amount shall be reduced by the Purchase
Amount each time the Buyer purchases shares of Common Stock pursuant to Section 1 hereof.
 

(c) “Bankruptcy Law” means Title 11, U.S. Code, or any similar federal or state law for the relief of debtors.
 

(d) “Business Day” means any day on which the Principal Market is open for trading during normal trading hours (i.e., 9:30 a.m. to 4:00 p.m.
Eastern Time), including any day on which the Principal Market is open for trading for a period of time less than the customary time.

 
(e) “Closing Sale Price” means the last closing trade price for the Common Stock on the Principal Market as reported by the Principal Market.

 
(f) “Confidential Information” means any information disclosed by either party to the other party, either directly or indirectly, in writing, orally or

by inspection of tangible objects (including, without limitation, documents, protocols, development plans, commercialization plans, samples, compounds and
clinical and pre-clinical trial results). Confidential Information may also include information disclosed to a disclosing party by third parties. Confidential
Information shall not, however, include any information which (i) was publicly known and made generally available in the public domain prior to the time of
disclosure by the disclosing party; (ii) becomes publicly known and made generally available after disclosure by the disclosing party to the receiving party
through no action or inaction of the receiving party; (iii) is already in the possession of the receiving party at the time of disclosure by the disclosing party as
shown by the receiving party’s files and records immediately prior to the time of disclosure; (iv) is obtained by the receiving party from a third party without a
breach of such third party’s obligations of confidentiality; (v) is independently developed by the receiving party without use of or reference to the disclosing
party’s Confidential Information, as shown by documents and other competent evidence in the receiving party’s possession; or (vi) is required by law to be
disclosed by the receiving party, provided that the receiving party gives the disclosing party prompt written notice of such requirement prior to such
disclosure and assistance in obtaining an order protecting the information from public disclosure.
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(g) “Custodian” means any receiver, trustee, assignee, liquidator or similar official under any Bankruptcy Law.

 
(h) “Maturity Date” means the date that is thirty (30) months from the Commencement Date.
 
(i) “Milestone Purchase Notice” shall mean an irrevocable written notice from the Company to the Buyer (i) certifying achievement of the

applicable milestone and (ii) directing the Buyer to buy Purchase Shares pursuant to Section 1(a) hereof at the applicable purchase price as of the applicable
Purchase Date as a Milestone Purchase required under Section 1(a) hereof.
 

(i) “Person” means an individual or entity including any limited liability company, a partnership, a joint venture, a corporation, a trust, an
unincorporated organization and a government or any department or agency thereof.
 

(j) “Principal Market” means the Nasdaq Capital Market; provided however, that in the event the Company’s Common Stock is ever listed or
traded on the New York Stock Exchange, the NYSE MKT, the Nasdaq Global Select Market, the Nasdaq Global Market, the OTC Bulletin Board, or either
one of the OTCQB or the OTCQX market places of the OTC Markets, then the “Principal Market” shall mean such other market or exchange on which the
Company’s Common Stock is then listed or traded.
 

(k) “Purchase Amount” means, with respect to any particular purchase made hereunder, the portion of the Available Amount to be purchased by the
Buyer pursuant to Section 1 hereof as set forth in a valid Milestone Purchase Notice, Purchase Notice, or VWAP Purchase Notice which the Company
delivers to the Buyer.
 

(l) “Purchase Date” means with respect to any Regular Purchase made hereunder, the Business Day of receipt by the Buyer of a valid Purchase
Notice that the Buyer is to buy Purchase Shares pursuant to Section 1(b) hereof. “Purchase Date” means with respect to the first Milestone Purchase to be
made under Section 1(a) hereof, the date of the submission by the Company of the 510(k) Application. “Purchase Date” means with respect to the second
Milestone Purchase to be made under Section 1(a) hereof, the date of the FDA clearance of the 510(k) Application. In either case, if such date is not on a
Business Day, it shall mean the Business Day immediately following such date.
 

(m) “Purchase Notice” shall mean an irrevocable written notice from the Company to the Buyer directing the Buyer to buy Purchase Shares
pursuant to Section 1(b) hereof as specified by the Company therein at the applicable Purchase Price on the Purchase Date.
 

(n) “Purchase Price” means the lesser of (i) the lowest Sale Price of the Common Stock on the Purchase Date or (ii) the arithmetic average of the
three (3) lowest Closing Sale Prices for the Common Stock during the twelve (12) consecutive Business Days ending on the Business Day immediately
preceding such Purchase Date (to be appropriately adjusted for any reorganization, recapitalization, non-cash dividend, stock split, reverse stock split or other
similar transaction).
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(o) “Sale Price” means any trade price for the shares of Common Stock on the Principal Market during normal trading hours, as reported by the

Principal Market.
 

(p) “SEC” means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.
 

(q) “Transfer Agent” means the transfer agent of the Company as set forth in Section 11(f) hereof or such other person who is then serving as the
transfer agent for the Company in respect of the Common Stock.

 
(r) “VWAP Minimum Price Threshold” means, with respect to any particular VWAP Purchase Notice, the Sale Price on the VWAP Purchase Date

equal to the greater of (i) 90% of the Closing Sale Price on the Business Day immediately preceding the VWAP Purchase Date or (ii) such higher price as set
forth by the Company in the VWAP Purchase Notice.

 
(s) “VWAP Purchase Amount” means, with respect to any particular VWAP Purchase Notice, the portion of the Available Amount to be purchased

by the Buyer pursuant to Section 1(c) hereof as set forth in a valid VWAP Purchase Notice which requires the Buyer to buy the VWAP Purchase Share
Percentage of the aggregate shares traded on the Principal Market during normal trading hours on the VWAP Purchase Date up to the VWAP Purchase Share
Volume Maximum, subject to the VWAP Minimum Price Threshold.

 
(t) “VWAP Purchase Date” means, with respect to any VWAP Purchase made hereunder, the Business Day following the receipt by the Buyer of a

valid VWAP Purchase Notice that the Buyer is to buy Purchase Shares pursuant to Section 1(c) hereof.
 
(u) “VWAP Purchase Notice” shall mean an irrevocable written notice from the Company to the Buyer directing the Buyer to buy Purchase Shares

on the VWAP Purchase Date pursuant to Section 1(c) hereof as specified by the Company therein at the applicable VWAP Purchase Price with the applicable
VWAP Purchase Share Percentage specified therein.

 
(v) “VWAP Purchase Share Percentage” means, with respect to any particular VWAP Purchase Notice pursuant to Section 1(c) hereof, the

percentage set forth in the VWAP Purchase Notice which the Buyer will be required to buy as a specified percentage of the aggregate shares traded on the
Principal Market during normal trading hours up to the VWAP Purchase Share Volume Maximum on the VWAP Purchase Date subject to Section 1(c) hereof
but in no event shall this percentage exceed thirty percent (30%) of such VWAP Purchase Date’s share trading volume of the Common Stock on the Principal
Market during normal trading hours.
 

(w) “VWAP Purchase Price” means the lesser of (i) the Closing Sale Price on the VWAP Purchase Date; or (ii) ninety-five percent (95%) of
volume weighted average price for the Common Stock traded on the Principal Market during normal trading hours on (A) the VWAP Purchase Date if the
aggregate shares traded on the Principal Market on the VWAP Purchase Date have not exceeded the VWAP Purchase Share Volume Maximum, or (B) the
portion of the VWAP Purchase Date until such time as the sooner to occur of (1) the time at which the aggregate shares traded on the Principal Market has
exceeded the VWAP Purchase Share Volume Maximum, or (2) the time at which the sale price of Common Stock falls below the VWAP Minimum Price
Threshold (to be appropriately adjusted for any reorganization, recapitalization, non-cash dividend, stock split, reverse stock split or other similar transaction).
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(x) “VWAP Purchase Share Estimate” means the number of shares of Common Stock that the Company has in its sole discretion irrevocably

instructed its Transfer Agent to issue to the Buyer via the Depository Trust Company (“DTC”) Fast Automated Securities Transfer Program in connection
with a VWAP Purchase Notice pursuant to Section 1(c) hereof and issued to the Buyer’s or its designee’s balance account with DTC through its Deposit
Withdrawal At Custodian (DWAC) system on the VWAP Purchase Date (to be appropriately adjusted for any reorganization, recapitalization, non-cash
dividend, stock split, reverse stock split or other similar transaction).

 
(y) “VWAP Purchase Share Volume Maximum” means a number of shares of Common Stock traded on the Principal Market during normal

trading hours on the VWAP Purchase Date equal to: (i) the VWAP Purchase Share Estimate, divided by (ii) the VWAP Purchase Share Percentage (to be
appropriately adjusted for any reorganization, recapitalization, non-cash dividend, stock split, reverse stock split or other similar transaction).

 
11. MISCELLANEOUS.

 
(a) Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Jury Trial. The laws of the State of Delaware shall govern all issues concerning the relative rights of the Company

and its stockholders. All other questions concerning the construction, validity, enforcement and interpretation of this Agreement and the other Transaction
Documents shall be governed by the internal laws of the State of Illinois, without giving effect to any choice of law or conflict of law provision or rule
(whether of the State of Illinois or any other jurisdictions) that would cause the application of the laws of any jurisdictions other than the State of Illinois.
Each party hereby irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the state and federal courts sitting in the City of Chicago, for the adjudication of any
dispute hereunder or under the other Transaction Documents or in connection herewith or therewith, or with any transaction contemplated hereby or discussed
herein, and hereby irrevocably waives, and agrees not to assert in any suit, action or proceeding, any claim that it is not personally subject to the jurisdiction
of any such court, that such suit, action or proceeding is brought in an inconvenient forum or that the venue of such suit, action or proceeding is improper.
Each party hereby irrevocably waives personal service of process and consents to process being served in any such suit, action or proceeding by mailing a
copy thereof to such party at the address for such notices to it under this Agreement and agrees that such service shall constitute good and sufficient service of
process and notice thereof. Nothing contained herein shall be deemed to limit in any way any right to serve process in any manner permitted by law. EACH
PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE, AND AGREES NOT TO REQUEST, A JURY TRIAL FOR THE
ADJUDICATION OF ANY DISPUTE HEREUNDER OR IN CONNECTION HEREWITH OR ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY
TRANSACTION CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.
 

(b) Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two or more identical counterparts, all of which shall be considered one and the same
agreement and shall become effective when counterparts have been signed by each party and delivered to the other party; provided that a facsimile or pdf (or
other electronic reproduction) signature shall be considered due execution and shall be binding upon the signatory thereto with the same force and effect as if
the signature were an original, not a facsimile or pdf (or other electronic reproduction) signature.
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(c) Headings. The headings of this Agreement are for convenience of reference and shall not form part of, or affect the interpretation of, this

Agreement.
 

(d) Severability. If any provision of this Agreement shall be invalid or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, such invalidity or unenforceability shall not
affect the validity or enforceability of the remainder of this Agreement in that jurisdiction or the validity or enforceability of any provision of this Agreement
in any other jurisdiction.
 

(e) Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the Registration Rights Agreement supersede all other prior oral or written agreements between the
Buyer, the Company, their affiliates and persons acting on their behalf with respect to the matters discussed herein, and this Agreement, the other Transaction
Documents and the instruments referenced herein contain the entire understanding of the parties with respect to the matters covered herein and therein and,
except as specifically set forth herein or therein, neither the Company nor the Buyer makes any representation, warranty, covenant or undertaking with respect
to such matters. The Company acknowledges and agrees that is has not relied on, in any manner whatsoever, any representations or statements, written or
oral, other than as expressly set forth in this Agreement. The Buyer and the Company agree that that certain Common Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of
March 27, 2013, by and between the Company and the Buyer is hereby terminated as of the date hereof.

 
(f) Notices. Any notices, consents or other communications required or permitted to be given under the terms of this Agreement must be in writing

and will be deemed to have been delivered: (i) upon receipt when delivered personally; (ii) upon receipt when sent by facsimile (provided confirmation of
transmission is mechanically or electronically generated and kept on file by the sending party); or (iii) one (1) Business Day after timely deposit with a
nationally recognized overnight delivery service, in each case properly addressed to the party to receive the same. The addresses and facsimile numbers for
such communications shall be:

 
If to the Company:

Atossa Genetics, Inc.
1616 Eastlake Ave., East, Suite 510
Seattle, Washington 98102
Telephone: 800 351-3902
Facsimile: 206 430-1288
Attention: Kyle Guse
Chief Financial Officer and General Counsel

 
With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Ropes & Gray LLP
Three Embarcadero Center, 3rd Floor
San Francisco, CA 94111
Telephone: (415) 315-6395
Facsimile: (415) 315-6026
Attention: Ryan A. Murr, Esq.
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If to the Buyer:

Aspire Capital Fund, LLC
155 North Wacker Drive, Suite 1600
Chicago, IL 60606
Telephone: 312-658-0400
Facsimile: 312-658-4005
Attention: Steven G. Martin
 

With a copy to (which shall not constitute delivery to the Buyer):
O’Melveny & Myers LLP
1625 Eye Street, NW
Washington, DC 20006
Telephone: 202-383-5418
Facsimile: 202-383-5414
Attention: Martin P. Dunn, Esq.

 
If to the Transfer Agent:

VStock Transfer
77 Spruce Street , Suite 201
Cedarhurst, New York
Telephone: 212 828-8436
Facsimile: 646 536-3179
Attention: Chief Executive Officer

 
or at such other address and/or facsimile number and/or to the attention of such other person as the recipient party has specified by written notice given to
each other party one (1) Business Day prior to the effectiveness of such change. Written confirmation of receipt (A) given by the recipient of such notice,
consent or other communication, (B) mechanically or electronically generated by the sender’s facsimile machine containing the time, date, and recipient
facsimile number or (C) provided by a nationally recognized overnight delivery service, shall be rebuttable evidence of receipt in accordance with clause (i),
(ii) or (iii) above, respectively.
 

(g) Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties and their respective successors and assigns.
The Company shall not assign this Agreement or any rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of the Buyer, including by merger or
consolidation. The Buyer may not assign its rights or obligations under this Agreement.
 

(h) No Third Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement is intended for the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective permitted successors and
assigns, and is not for the benefit of, nor may any provision hereof be enforced by, any other person.
 

(i) Publicity. The Buyer shall have the right to approve before issuance any press release, SEC filing or any other public disclosure made by or on
behalf of the Company whatsoever with respect to, in any manner, the Buyer, its purchases hereunder or any aspect of this Agreement or the transactions
contemplated hereby; provided, however, that the Company shall be entitled, without the prior approval of the Buyer, to make any press release or other
public disclosure (including any filings with the SEC) with respect to such transactions as is required by applicable law and regulations so long as the
Company and its counsel consult with the Buyer in connection with any such press release or other public disclosure at least one (1) Business Day prior to its
release. The Buyer must be provided with a copy thereof at least one (1) Business Day prior to any release or use by the Company thereof.
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(j) Further Assurances. Each party shall do and perform, or cause to be done and performed, all such further acts and things, and shall execute and

deliver all such other agreements, certificates, instruments and documents, as the other party may reasonably request in order to carry out the intent and
accomplish the purposes of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.
 

(k) Termination. This Agreement may be terminated only as follows:
 

(i) By the Buyer any time an Event of Default exists without any liability or payment to the Company. However, if pursuant to or within the
meaning of any Bankruptcy Law, the Company commences a voluntary case or any Person commences a proceeding against the Company, a
Custodian is appointed for the Company or for all or substantially all of its property, or the Company makes a general assignment for the benefit of
its creditors, (any of which would be an Event of Default as described in Sections 9(f), 9(g) and 9(h) hereof) this Agreement shall automatically
terminate without any liability or payment to the Company without further action or notice by any Person. No such termination of this Agreement
under this Section 11(k)(i) shall affect the Company’s or the Buyer’s obligations under this Agreement with respect to pending purchases and the
Company and the Buyer shall complete their respective obligations with respect to any pending purchases under this Agreement.

 
(ii) [Intentionally Omitted.].

 
(iii) In the event that the Commencement shall not have occurred on or before April 1, 2014, due to the failure to satisfy any of the

conditions set forth in Sections 6 and 7 above with respect to the Commencement, the Buyer shall have the option to terminate this Agreement at the
close of business on such date or thereafter without liability of either party to any other party; provided, however, that the right to terminate this
Agreement under this Section 11(k)(iii) shall not be available to the Buyer if such failure to satisfy any of the conditions set forth in Sections 6 and 7
is the result of a breach of this Agreement by the Buyer or the failure of any representation or warranty of the Buyer included in this Agreement to be
true and correctin all material respects.

 
(iv) At any time after the Commencement Date and after the completion of both Milestone Purchases, the Company shall have the option to

terminate this Agreement for any reason or for no reason by delivering notice (a “Company Termination Notice”) to the Buyer electing to
terminate this Agreement without any liability whatsoever of either party to the other party under this Agreement except as set forth in Section 11(k)
(viii) hereof. The Company Termination Notice shall not be effective until one (1) Business Day after it has been received by the Buyer.

 
(v) This Agreement shall automatically terminate on the date that the Company sells and the Buyer purchases the full Available Amount as

provided herein, without any action or notice on the part of any party and without any liability whatsoever of any party to any other party under this
Agreement except as set forth in Section 11(k)(viii) hereof.
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(vi) If by the Maturity Date for any reason or for no reason the full Available Amount under this Agreement has not been purchased as

provided for in Section 1 of this Agreement, this Agreement shall automatically terminate on the Maturity Date, without any action or notice on the
part of any party and without any liability whatsoever of any party to any other party under this Agreement except as set forth in Section 11(k)(viii)
hereof.

 
(vii) Except as set forth in Sections 11(k)(i) (in respect of an Event of Default under Sections 9(f), 9(g) and 9(h)), 11(k)(v) and 11(k)(vi),

any termination of this Agreement pursuant to this Section 11(k) shall be effected by written notice from the Company to the Buyer, or the Buyer to
the Company, as the case may be, setting forth the basis for the termination hereof.

 
(viii) The representations and warranties of the Company and the Buyer contained in Sections 2, 3 and 5 hereof, the indemnification

provisions set forth in Section 8 hereof and the agreements and covenants set forth in Sections 4(e) and 11, shall survive the Commencement and any
termination of this Agreement. No termination of this Agreement shall affect the Company’s or the Buyer’s rights or obligations (A) under the
Registration Rights Agreement which shall survive any such termination in accordance with its terms or (B) under this Agreement with respect to
pending purchases and the Company and the Buyer shall complete their respective obligations with respect to any pending purchases under this
Agreement.

 
(l) No Financial Advisor, Placement Agent, Broker or Finder. The Company represents and warrants to the Buyer that it has not engaged any

financial advisor, placement agent, broker or finder in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby. The Buyer represents and warrants to the
Company that it has not engaged any financial advisor, placement agent, broker or finder in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby. Each party
shall be responsible for the payment of any fees or commissions, if any, of any financial advisor, placement agent, broker or finder engaged by such party
relating to or arising out of the transactions contemplated hereby. Each party shall pay, and hold the other party harmless against, any liability, loss or expense
(including, without limitation, attorneys' fees and out of pocket expenses) arising in connection with any such claim.
 

(m) No Strict Construction. The language used in this Agreement will be deemed to be the language chosen by the parties to express their mutual
intent, and no rules of strict construction will be applied against any party.
 

(n) Failure or Indulgence Not Waiver. No failure or delay in the exercise of any power, right or privilege hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof,
nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such power, right or privilege preclude other or further exercise thereof or of any other right, power or privilege.
 
 

* * * * *
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Buyer and the Company have caused this Common Stock Purchase Agreement to be duly executed as of the date

first written above.
 
 THE COMPANY:  
    
 ATOSSA GENETICS, INC.  
    
 By: /s/ Steven C. Quay  
 Name:  Steven C. Quay  
 Title: Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President  

 
  BUYER:
   
  ASPIRE CAPITAL FUND, LLC
  BY: ASPIRE CAPITAL PARTNERS, LLC
  BY: SGM Holdings Corp.

 
 By: /s/ Steve Martin  
 Name:   Steve Martin  
 Title:  President  
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Exhibit 31.1
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
I, Steven C. Quay, certify that:
 

1.     I have reviewed this Report of Atossa Genetics Inc.;
 
2.     Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary

to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 
3.     Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material

respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4.     The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 

(a)   designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
(b)   designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed

under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
(c)   evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions

about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
(d)   disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the

registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5.     The registrant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial

reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):
 

(a)   all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
(b)   any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the

registrant's internal control over financial reporting.
 
 Date: November 12, 2013
  
 /s/ Steven C. Quay
 Steven C. Quay
 Chief Executive Officer and President
 (Principal executive officer)
 
 
 



Exhibit 31.2
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
I, Kyle Guse, certify that:
 

1.     I have reviewed this Report of Atossa Genetics Inc.;
 
2.     Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary

to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 
3.     Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material

respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4.     The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 

(a)   designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
(b)   designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed

under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
(c)   evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions

about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
(d)   disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the

registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5.     The registrant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial

reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):
 

(a)   all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
(b)   any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the

registrant's internal control over financial reporting.
 
 Date: November 12, 2013
  
 /s/ Kyle Guse
 Kyle Guse
 Chief Financial Officer, General Counsel and Secretary
 (Principal financial and accounting officer)
 
 
 



Exhibit 32.1
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Atossa Genetics Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the period ending September 30,, 2013

as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Steven C. Quay, Chief Executive Officer and President of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 

(1)   The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

(2)   The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

 
 Date: November 12, 2013
  
 /s/ Steven C. Quay
 Steven C. Quay
 Chief Executive Officer and President
 (Principal executive officer)
 
 
 
 



Exhibit 32.2
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Atossa Genetics Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the period ending September   30, 2013

as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Kyle Guse, Chief Financial Officer, General Counsel and
Secretary of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 

(1)   The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
(2)   The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of

operations of the Company.
 
 Date: November 12, 2013
  
 /s/ Kyle Guse
 Kyle Guse
 Chief Financial Officer, General Counsel and Secretary
 (Principal financial and accounting officer)
 
 
 


